# Energy, capability, and justice

A foundation for a normative account of energy systems

Nathan Adam Wood

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Leeds

Sustainability Research Institute

School of Earth and Environment

September 2020

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own, except where work which has formed part of jointly-authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

Chapter two of this thesis has appeared in the following publication:

# WOOD, N. & ROELICH, K. 2019. Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil fuels. Energy Research & Social Science, 52, 114-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.02.014

This paper was led and conceived by Nathan Wood. Dr Katy Roelich provided guidance, conceptual, and editorial feedback throughout. Dr Katy Roelich contributed to the conceptual framework and gave crucial feedback regarding the structure and articulation of key issues in section two and five.

Chapter three of this thesis appeared in the following publication:

WOOD, N. & ROELICH, K. 2020. Substantiating Energy Justice: Creating a Space to Understand Energy Dilemmas. Sustainability, 12, 1917. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12051917</u>

This paper was led and conceived by Nathan Wood. Dr Katy Roelich provided key conceptual and editorial input and contributed to the conceptual framing in section 3.7 of the paper.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Nathan Adam Wood to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

© 2020 The University of Leeds and Nathan Adam Wood

## Acknowledgements

I am incredibly grateful to my supervisors. Katy Roelich, thank you for taking the time to help me make sense of my own thoughts, for the invaluable attention, guidance, and conversations you have provided throughout my time in Leeds and for consistent encouragement in pursuing and exploring the ideas in this thesis (as well as everything else in my head). This thesis would not be what it is without your input and time. Rob Lawlor, thank you for setting off my initial escapade into ethics, for helping me set the foundations of moral thought that now forms an indispensable component of this thesis, and for illustrating the fun which can be derived from argument. John Barrett, thank you for the initial support early on in this thesis and for ensuring I had the supervisory team necessary to explore my ideas.

Special thanks to Lina Brand-Correa for the many meaningful conversations, support, and feedback throughout my time in Leeds. These conversations and your work have shaped my own outlook and the contents of this thesis substantially.

Joe Saunders, my plan was to say something funny here, but on reflection our many conversations, especially early on, have helped me grow both intellectually and as a person. I am particularly grateful that we found healthy counterbalances to all this personal growth. Tadhg Ó Laoghaire, I have thoroughly enjoyed working alongside you during our time in Leeds. Christina Nick, thank you for welcoming me to Leeds and helping me find my feet. Michael Cannon, thank you for being such a warm presence and for the many wandering walks and conversations.

Thank you to the many other people who made this time what is was: Augustin Frandon, Alex Aylward, Niamh Gordon, Janet Peifer, Vishnu Radhakrishnan, Nick Marsh, Kevin Jones, Miriam Bowen, Jyl Schacher, Sophie Goddard, Simon Newey, Jack Simpson, Imogen Rattle, Paola Velasco-Herrejon, Kurtis Yorke, Will Gamester - whose own thesis acknowledgements showed me early on I could include a sizable list of names in my acknowledgements, James Collins and Cillian Berragan - for the long distance distractions throughout lockdown, and everyone else in the IDEA centre and SRI who made Leeds a great place to be.

A big thank you to Heather and Matthew Wood, for enduring a range of over-the-phone and in person lectures on a wide variety of topics over the past four years. Thank you for your undeviating love and support. I look forward to seeing you, Joe, Amy, and Sam soon.

Finally, I am especially grateful to Alice Murphy who has made Leeds such a special place to be and feel like a home. Thank you, I am sure that feeling will follow us in our adventures to come.

# Abstract

Energy impacts our lives in a multitude of ways. Some of these impacts can drastically improve our lives, others can be detrimental to the things we value in life. In this thesis, I develop a space through which to connect energy to the things we value to better understand and articulate the impacts of energy systems.

To develop this space, I explored the ways through which we have commonly connected energy systems to the things we value and investigated the efficacy of more recent attempts to understand these connections through ideas of energy justice. To assess the efficacy of these approaches, I outlined the role moral and political philosophy can plausibly play in describing the things we value and their relations to energy systems. I found a substantial divergence between my own account of the role of moral and political theory in describing the impacts of energy systems and the uses of moral and political theory in existing approaches to energy justice. I argued this divergence limits the capacity of energy justice approaches to draw on moral and political philosophy to articulate and analyse the impacts of energy system in a meaningful way.

I produced a series of outputs which form a foundation for a viable account of energy justice. I developed a capabilities-based framework to articulate the impacts of energy consumption and production and the tensions between them. I outlined a pluralistic approach of testing the ability of different moral theories to reflect the dynamics underpinning energy dilemmas. I presented arguments detailing how trivalent conceptions of justice, which pre-date energy justice discourse, can form a viable basis for an account of energy justice. In concluding, I point towards future avenues of research, conceptual and procedural, through which to develop this foundation into a reflexive account of energy justice.

## Contents

1	Cha	pter 1 Energy and the things we value	1
	1.1	Understanding energy	2
	1.2	Contextualising energy: from production to consumption	4
	1.2.	1 Consumption and Access	4
	1.2.2	2 Extraction and production	6
	1.2.	3 "Whole systems"	7
	1.2.4	4 Introducing the energy dilemma	7
	1.2.:	5 Energy Dilemmas and Moral Dilemmas	8
	1.2.0	6 An exercise in framing energy dilemmas through 'the ultimate end'	9
	1.3	Energy and justice: emerging research	11
	1.3.	1 Energy justice: decoupling discourses and approaches	12
	1.3.2	2 Approaches to Energy Justice:	13
	1.4	Understanding moral theory	16
	1.4.	1 Transcendental institutionalism	17
	1.4.2	2 Realised-focused comparison	17
	1.4.	3 Capabilities	18
	1.5	Energy, moral theory, and the ultimate end: aims and research questions	20
	1.5.	1 Existing approaches: what are they doing?	21
	1.5.2	2 Capability, moral theory, and energy dilemmas	22
	1.6	Methods: Applying and synthesising philosophy	24
	1.7	Methods, chapters, and structure	27
	1.8	References	28
2 Chapter 2 Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fe		pter 2 Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil fuels	34
	Abstra		34
	2.1	Introduction	34
	2.2	The tension triangle	37
	2.2.	1 FFDE use and well-being	37
	2.2.2	2 Climate change mitigation and well-being	39
	2.2.	3 FFDE use and climate change mitigation	40
	2.3	Introducing capabilities	41
	2.4	Conceptual building blocks: linking FFDE, CCM, and capabilities	43
	2.4.	1 Ecological meta-Capabilities and capability conflicts	43
2.4.2		2 Capability from energy services	45
	2.4.	3 Capability from transport	47
	2.5	Expanding the tension triangle: creating a well-being lens	47

	2.5.	l Incorporating transport	48
	2.5.	2 Meta-capacities and capability conflicts	48
	2.6	Discussion	50
	2.7	Conclusion	52
	2.8	References	52
3	Cha	pter 3 Substantiating Energy Justice: creating a space to understand energy dilemmas	56
	3.1	Introduction	56
	3.2	The world through an energy justice lens	59
	3.2.	1 The triumvirate conception: foundation and theory	59
	3.2.	2 The Principled Approach; foundation and theory	63
	3.2.	3 Summarising both approaches	66
	3.3	Moral theory and a space for understanding energy justice	67
	3.4	Justice: different theories, different answers	68
	3.4.	l Bentham's Utilitarianism	69
	3.4.	2 Martha Nussbaum's central human capabilities	70
	3.5	A case of hydro power: applying theory to produce a socio-political framing	71
	3.6	Lessons for energy justice	74
	3.7	A framework for the pluralistic use of moral theory	75
	3.8	Implications for TCEJ and the principled approach	77
	3.9	Conclusion	79
	3.10	References:	79
4	Cha	pter 4 Redefining energy justice: integrating capabilities and trivalent justice	82
	4.1	Introduction	82
	4.2	TCEJ: the "three-pronged approach" a case study review	85
	4.3	Revisiting the trivalent space	89
	4.4	Capabilities	95
	4.5	Capabilities and energy systems	96
	4.6	Capability, energy, and trivalent conceptions of justice	97
	4.7	Conclusions:	100
	4.8	References	101
5	Cha	pter 5 Conclusion and discussion:	106
	5.1	Summary:	107
	5.1.	1 Chapter 2 Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil 107	fuels
	5.1.2 dile	2 Chapter 3: Substantiating Energy Justice: creating a space to understand energy mmas 108	
	5.1.	Chapter 4: Redefining energy justice: integrating capabilities and trivalent justice.	109
	5.2	Key findings: shortcomings in energy justice	110

3	Key contributions of this thesis	112
4	Limitations	114
5	Energy justice: developing the conceptual and procedural research agendas	117
5.5.1	1 Towards a viable account of energy justice	117
5.5.2	2 Developing the procedural realm	
5.5.3	3 Energy justice and procedural spaces	
6	Concluding thoughts: the future of energy justice discourse	
7	References	126
App	endix	
	3 4 5 5.5. 5.5. 5.5. 6 7 App	<ul> <li>Key contributions of this thesis</li> <li>Limitations</li> <li>Energy justice: developing the conceptual and procedural research agendas</li> <li>5.5.1 Towards a viable account of energy justice</li></ul>

## List of tables

6
4
7
8
9
-

# List of figures

Figure 1-1 Arriving at conceptions of energy which enable the articulation and relation to human	
lives. Source: Own illustration produced using draw.io	3
Figure 1-2 Healy et al.'s, (2019) illustration of energy issues associated with the coal supply chains	
from extraction through to waste disposal	6
Figure 1-3 a visualisation exploring the ultimate ends of energy services. Source: own illustration	
produced on draw.io10	C
Figure 1-4 Framing the energy dilemma of climate change using the ultimate end. Source own	
illustration produced using draw.io10	C
Figure 1-5 Thesis structure and thematic connections. Source: own illustration2	7
Figure 2-1 'The Tension Triangle' illustrating how FFDE use, well-being attainment, and climate	
change mitigation sit in tension to one another	7
Figure 2-2 Day et al., 2016 conceptualising the relationship between energy, services and outcomes	
with interventions in areas which aid in avoiding fuel poverty	6
Figure 3-1 A framework for framing energy dilemmas in relation to moral theory, yielding normative	
framing and guidance whilst embeding the energy dilemas within a broader socio-political back drop.	
	5

# List of abbreviations (LOA)

CC	Climate change
CCM	Climate change mitigation
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
EJ	Energy justice
FAO	Food and agricultural organisation
FFDE	Fossil fuel derived energy use
HDI	Human development index
IEA	International energy agency
IPCC	Intergovernmental panel on climate change
NIMBY	Not in my back yard
TCEJ	Triumvirate conception of energy justice

## Chapter 1 Energy and the things we value

This thesis focuses on the relationships between energy systems and justice; how we should discuss these and how we can best capture them. Early on, this thesis points to a collection of literature which illustrates how both the production and consumption of energy can significantly impact on attaining or being deprived of the things we hold valuable in life. Describing the aspects of energy systems that impact the things we value is only one side of understanding these relationships. Understanding and articulating what it is in life which we hold valuable and how we might meaningfully connect these values to energy systems is another substantial pursuit. It is this latter pursuit on which this thesis primarily focuses.

A central facet of this thesis is that to understand the relationships between energy systems and the things we value requires an effective means of articulating the things we hold valuable, connecting them, and understanding how energy systems impact these valuable things. Disciplines which study the production and consumption of energy are not always best situated to conceptualise or capture these complex relationships. The introduction of this thesis outlines why this is and sets out a framework which reaches the necessary level of abstraction for both the things we value and different aspects of energy systems to allow us to discuss them in relation to one another, enabling the illustration of the important relationships between them.

The first section of this chapter moves briefly through ways in which energy systems have been connected to our lives through the dichotomy of production and consumption. Developments in this thinking are drawn on to illustrate how the production and consumption of energy stem from interconnected systems which impact the things we hold valuable in both positive and negative ways.

The following sections focus on understanding how the production and consumption of energy in relation to things we value can help to explicate the role of energy in our lives and the importance of such values in shaping the systems that produce the energy we use. Section 1.1 elaborates on the need to discuss energy at a level of abstraction which connects to our lives. Section 1.2.1 - 1.2.3 outlines the ways in which this level of abstractions has been achieved and the developments which have produced more nuanced understandings of energy systems. Section 1.2.4 introduces the concept of the "energy dilemma" and outlines how we might understand the connections between energy systems and our lives as pertaining to moral issues. Section 1.3 covers existing work, namely approaches to energy justice, which attempts to explicate and respond to energy dilemmas using ideas of justice from moral and political philosophy. Section 1.4 outlines several moral and political distinctions and concepts which offer a preliminary understanding of justice and which help to justify the selection and use of moral

concepts used throughout the rest of the thesis. Section 1.5 illustrates how these distinctions and concepts can be used to question the efficacy of existing approaches to energy justice, and how these concepts might be used to further develop our understanding of the relationship between energy systems and the things we value and the importance of understanding this. Sections 1.6 and 1.7 outline the methods employed in this thesis and breakdown where these methods are employed throughout this thesis.

## 1.1 Understanding energy

'Why does energy exist? One does not see or feel energy. You can detect directly and sensorially certain parameters that are related to the quantity called energy: mass, temperature, velocity, shape, phase, position, chemical composition, electric charge, separation, *etc.* But none of these is energy' (Lehrman, 1973 p.15)

Despite ambiguity over its definition, energy is a measurable property and its transformations and subsequent effects can be observed and accounted for with relative confidence. Lancor (2014) describes energy as 'rich in lexical and conceptual complexity that makes it fertile ground for misunderstandings'. It is a broad idea that arises in and embodies numerous disciplines, discourses and abstractions (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). Different fields provide their own working definition that is useful in their own context, but these definitions are not always uniform (Lancor, 2014). The first law of thermodynamics states that energy can neither be created nor destroyed. The quantity of energy in the universe is fixed, only transforming from one form to another, never decreasing nor increasing. All events require the transfer of energy from one system to another – if an object is to be moved or heated it must have some force transferred to it to do so – natural scientists refer to this as performing 'work' on an object. However, this concept of work is seemingly detached from the lives we live and does not readily help us articulate the relationship between energy and the things we value.<sup>1</sup>

Instead of energy transformations, the relationship between energy and the things we value might be better articulated through discussing energy in terms of trophic levels – the different stages through which energy is transferred in ecosystems. Biological sciences describe life as a continuous input of energy. Light produced as a product of fusion occurring in the centre of our sun, is converted into chemical energy via photosynthesising cells, which is in turn used to produce biomass. Biomass is consumed by animals (including us humans), the chemical energy locked in this biomass enables us to move, work, think, and reproduce – things we might reasonably value. However, these transfers of energy focus exclusively on the energy we ingest and absorb. We are surrounded by and embedded in a range of systems which enable us to attain different ends by harnessing energy in varying forms to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Shove et al. (2014) make a similar point regarding the concept of work when connecting energy and social practices.

achieve valuable outcomes. Trophic levels do not incorporate the energy in these systems or provide means to connecting these systems to things we value.

Neither the language of transformations, nor trophic levels can adequately describe the relationships between our use and production of energy and the things we value. When thought of in these ways, energy seems almost entirely removed from the areas of our lives which we might have reason to value.

This thesis is not so much concerned with explaining energy transformations or trophic level energy transfers, but rather in how energy, our capture and use of it, overlaps with what we value about our own lives and the lives of others, and how we might better come to understand and articulate this. Releasing the chemical energy stored in biomass to heat food or between hydrocarbons to push the pistons which power a motor car, or converting the potential energy of water stored in a dam into electric charge to power a street light, are all examples that we can begin to relate to the lives of humans. However, to meaningfully discuss these issues requires terminology and concepts that can capture both the complexity of energy systems and the quality of human lives. This requires discussing energy at an abstraction beyond that of a property that is transferred between objects or through trophic levels. The following sections explore two ways in which literature has articulated the relationship between energy and our lives: through consumption and through production.



#### Relation to human lives

Figure 1-1 Arriving at conceptions of energy which enable the articulation and relation to human lives. Source: Own illustration produced using draw.io

## 1.2 Contextualising energy: from production to consumption

## 1.2.1 Consumption and Access

The ability of a society to capture and consume energy has been and remains seen as fundamental to development (White and Carneiro, 1949, United Nations, 2018). Development is often viewed normatively as *progress*, although ideas of development and the means to achieve these are being increasingly contested (Steinberger et al., 2012, Raworth, 2017, Raworth, 2012, O'Neill et al., 2018, Steffen et al., 2015). For example, Steinberger and Roberts (2010) found that increasing energy use beyond a certain level did not necessarily result increases in a range of human development indicators.

Aside from arguments contesting the extent to which energy use contributes to development, the indicators on which development is measured may not be the most effective means of articulating why energy access is important in our daily pursuits. For example, the human development index is a composite of life expectancy, gross national income per capita, and level of education, but these concepts alone do not provide the explanatory link between energy access and the other areas of our lives which we value, such as participating in society. Therefore, although development and associated ideas of progress are linked to energy access, it does not necessarily help us to understand the importance of energy access in our lives. Rather, it might be more appropriate to see development and energy access as aiming towards the same ends - as opposed to framing energy access as a *means* to development. To better understand these ends it helps to visit literature on energy access.

Discussion of energy relating to human lives has often been framed in terms of *access* (Bickerstaff et al., 2013, Walker and Day, 2012, Gillard et al., 2017). Access has often been articulated in terms of the ability to use a range of energy services (lighting, heating, refrigeration etc.), which are frequently embedded within a domestic setting (Bouzarovski and Petrova, 2015). These services all depend on the delivery of energy in various forms to certain locations. This energy will likely have been embodied in natural resources such as coal, oil, gas, moving water, wind, and sunlight – energy in this form is often described as 'primary energy' or 'energy carriers' (Pachauri et al., 2004). The primary energy which is delivered to humans in the form of services is referred to as 'end-use energy' (Sovacool, 2011). 'Energy services' subsequently acts as a term which enables the relation of energy, held and carried in various forms, to services which improve a human life (Sovacool, 2011, Fell, 2017).

Discussing our relationships with energy in these terms creates a space for the articulation of the benefits of energy access for humans. For example, the delivery of primary energy in the form of gas, enables us to heat our homes and prepare food, whilst being connected to electrical grids enables us to illuminate these spaces. These services in turn yield numerous benefits to our mental and physical health (Liddell and Morris, 2010, Marmot et al., 2011). Living in a warm, well-lit home for example, helps people to avoid and recover from illness, but can also produce a suitable environment for a child to study and complete their homework (Liddell, 2009). Of course, the converse is true of these relationships. Living

in a cold, poorly lit home, may exacerbate an illness and make it difficult for a child to study at home. As such discourses which focus on energy access are primarily motivated by the problems stemming from its absence (Boardman, 1991, Boardman, 2013).

Discourses focusing on the deprivation of adequate energy services have sought to conceptualise these issues under terms such 'fuel-poverty', 'energy-poverty' and 'domestic energy deprivation' (Bouzarovski and Petrova, 2015). Li et al. (2014) note that there has been significant confusion as to what each term aims to captures, with certain authors taking them to be synonyms, whilst other pointing out key differences and functions in the individual concepts. Bouzarovski and Petrova (2015) outline 'energy poverty' as a term used to describe low levels of networked energy provision due to economic under-development, and 'fuel poverty' as a term to describe rising energy costs and issues of access within developed countries. Regardless, each term embodies or relates to a concern regarding the impacts of inadequate access to a set of energy services (although this concern might not always be articulated in relation to "services").

Both energy and fuel poverty have traditionally focused on energy within the home, and subsequently often end up focusing on thermal energy and lighting (Buzar, 2016, Li et al., 2014, Sovacool et al., 2012). Energy services, however, improve our lives in other ways external to the domestic setting. In order to capture these interactions some scholars have proposed expanding the scope of these concepts. Sovacool et al. (2012) put forward arguments to broaden the scope of energy poverty, arguing that mechanical power and mobility are essential energy services in reducing poverty (also see Lucas et al. (2016) and Mattioli et al. (2017)). Such additions to these concepts help us recognise the breadth of impacts energy access (or lack of) has on human lives.

As we introduce more variables, discussing energy in terms of access becomes ever more complex. Inequalities between demographics and different personal situations mean that a set of energy services or level of access to end-use energy for one person will not result in the same outcomes for another. Walker and Day (2012) for example, outline how fuel poverty strongly reflects several social inequalities, illustrating that factors such as income, age, health, and disabilities all affect how vulnerable a person is to fuel poverty.

Further questions then arise as to what level of deprivation of these services requires action to be taken (Walker and Day, 2012). Judging which services, and to what levels, we should prioritise ultimately entails judging which activities and states we value and which spatial, social, economic, and political features impede or facilitate the attainment of these (Bouzarovski and Simcock, 2017). The goal of these discourses is not the provision of specific services, but to deliver certain outcomes for people and societies. These judgements often ultimately rely on normative beliefs, intuition, and reasoning. An outcome like good health seems to be an intuitive and objective goal that the provision of energy services can aim to contribute to. However, once we again ask why good health is important, our

answers lead us back to normative reasoning; good health is pertinent to maintaining healthy social relations, being able to participate in society, being able to reason. But there is no way to objectively prove that to do, be, and have certain things is right or good. Ways of exploring, articulating, and reasoning which outcomes we should aim for and which things in life we should value are explored shortly. However, first it is important to explore the other ways in which energy and the systems that extract, transport, and produce it relate to human lives.

### 1.2.2 Extraction and production

The extraction and production of energy impacts the lives of humans across a range of scales. Primary energy sources, such as coal can help illustrate this point. The extraction of coal is associated with a range of issues that relate to the quality of people's lives. For example, figure 1-2 taken from Healy et al. (2019) illustrates a range of issues stemming from coal supply-chains which impact on the quality of people's lives, including forcible displacement, hazardous waste and environmental contamination. Later the combustion of this coal, to produce heat and electricity, will emit greenhouse gases, contributing to on-going climate change (IPCC, 2018).



+ The injustices listed can occur anywhere along the supply-chain but typically are most prevalent around sites of extraction. ++ Sacrifice zones are areas poisoned or destroyed for the supposed greater good of economic progress.

Figure 1-2 Healy et al.'s, (2019) illustration of energy issues associated with the coal supply chains from extraction through to waste disposal.

Climate change itself underpins and contributes to a multitude of issues such as famine, dislocation and separation, droughts, and heat-waves, and these events and situations contribute to many forms of human suffering (Adger, 2006, Shue, 2014, Kinney et al., 2008, Greenough et al., 2001, Rosenzweig et al., 2001). Evidently a single energy source can produce a range of issues and hazards throughout its extraction, production, and use. Many such examples exist. Air pollution, a cause of respiratory

diseases, is linked both to industrial energy use and the combustion of fossil fuels for freight, public and private transport (Gallagher, 2005, Derwent et al., 2005, Gulliver and Briggs, 2004, Harrison et al., 2015). Wind turbines can spoil the visual and audio landscape for those who live in proximity to them (Petrova, 2016, Wolsink, 2000). Nuclear energy and its accompanying waste poses security risks and disposal problems for present and future generations (Berkovitz, 1992). The use of hydroelectric technology is a source of displacement and can disrupt ecological and agricultural systems and thus local food security (Xie, 2003, Zhouri and Oliveira, 2006).

Evidently the production of energy can negatively impact a range of things we value. In noting this, we can therefore see that both energy production and consumption are connected to the attainment and deprivation of many things we might have reason to value. The following sections outline how we might connect and discuss these issues in tandem.

## 1.2.3 "Whole systems"

So far, I have established that issues surrounding energy systems have been conventionally viewed as either pertaining to consumption or production. However, within recent energy scholarship there has been a push to recognise the interconnectedness of issues of consumption and production (Winskel, 2018, Sovacool et al., 2015, Bouzarovski and Simcock, 2017). I specify recent energy scholarship because work exists external to this sphere has articulated similar dynamic in relation to issues of environmental justice, which often begin with, or relate to, the production or consumption of energy (see Holifield et al., 2009, Walker, 2009). Within energy justice, a discourse and set of approaches explored in later sections, this push has manifested as a "whole systems" approach (Jenkins et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2014).

Bouzarovski and Simcock (2017) offer an apt description of this as a call to "transcend the productionconsumption binary". Bouzarovski and Simcock (2017) describe how energy poverty, an issue typically described as occurring at the end-use stage of energy systems can be influenced by factors such as local climates, the quality of housing stock, and the quality of energy transmission infrastructure. The logic underpinning "whole systems" therefore is that focusing on specific points at which energy related problems manifest may not reveal the underlying causes of the issue.

## 1.2.4 Introducing the energy dilemma

The range of energy related issues discussed so far can be described using the term 'energy dilemma' (Sovacool, 2008, Bradshaw, 2010, Qing and Sullivan, 1999). This term is often used loosely, and I have been unable to find a definition for it. Authors tend to draw on the term when describing a specific issue or set of issues which result from an energy system. For example, a country's need to transition to renewable energy whilst meeting growing energy demand might be termed an energy dilemma, but so might the public opposition to a small scale wind development, or any of the issues revolving around energy access discussed above. Fuel or energy poverty and their underpinning social and material

deprivations might also be summarised using the term. In this way 'energy dilemma' can act as a useful catch all for any issue pertaining to energy systems, not just describing a problem that exists in a singular instance or space, but one that is connected to and exists in tension with other phenomena and dynamics in broader society.

Authors tend to discuss energy dilemmas from a normative standpoint. They are described as normative because they deviate from how a person believes the world *ought* to be. This view of the world is often informed by implicit assumptions about the types of lives, goods, and states people or societies are entitled to live, have, and be. We can objectively measure how many households have poor insulation or how many populations are displaced by large scale energy projects, but we have to draw on reason and intuition to justify why the consequences of these situations are worthy of discussion or concern. Often, we assume which situations and events are problematic because they conflict with something we hold valuable, whether that is freedom, fairness, equality, democracy, autonomy, or some other value. Moral values like these are inherent in fully realising and understanding the range of issues energy systems present us with today (Hall, 2013, Sovacool et al., 2013, Jones et al., 2015). The following section outlines a simple exercise to illustrate how we might arrive at connecting certain values to the benefits and burdens which arise from and in relation to energy systems.

## 1.2.5 Energy Dilemmas and Moral Dilemmas

Because of its broad range of uses, describing an energy related situation or event as 'energy dilemma' has a limited capacity to convey seriousness or severity; little information is expressed regarding the urgency and extent to which an energy dilemma impacts the things we value. This disconnect between energy dilemmas and their apparent ethical implications has prompted a number authors to reassess how we discuss and view energy systems (Sovacool et al., 2016, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014, Jones et al., 2015). Within the past decade many energy scholars have attempted to broaden their focus to incorporate these issues into energy scholarship and policy (Bickerstaff et al., 2013, Walker and Day, 2012, Healy et al., 2019, McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016, Sovacool et al., 2013, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014, Hall, 2013). These approaches will be explored in greater detail shortly. However, I find it useful to outline a simple exercise concerning the use of moral theory to outline and frame an energy dilemma.

This particular exercise draws on the work of Aristotle to arrive at a goal or value to which our actions should aim, once we discover this value, we can then use it to assess how access to energy and the issues which spawn from energy systems aid or hinder our pursuit of this goal. This method is just one example as to how we might reason what is important in our lives and the lives of others. The literature on morality and justice is vast and contains a multitude of approaches to reasoning and justifying what is morally important. I chose to draw on Aristotle's approach here because of its simplicity and

approachability - it seems a good place to start the ball rolling when introducing more complex and detailed understandings of morality and justice later.

## 1.2.6 An exercise in framing energy dilemmas through 'the ultimate end'

In Nicomachean Ethics Aristotle asks 'what is the ultimate purpose of human existence?' In asking this Aristotle is pursuing the ultimate end of all our actions (Ross et al., 2009). Aristotle reasons 'to be an ultimate end, an act must be self-sufficient and final, that which is always desirable in itself and never for the sake of something else'. To answer his question Aristotle assesses whether the ends of certain actions are actually in the pursuit of something else. Essentially asking why we want a particular good or outcome from a pursuit. Aristotle concludes 'it is easy enough to see that we desire money, pleasure, and honour only because we believe that these goods will make us happy. It seems that all other goods are a means towards obtaining happiness, while happiness is always an end in itself.'

By happiness Aristotle is referring to the concept of *eudaimonia*. Eudaimonia differs from traditional conceptions of happiness as an emotion or state that can be brought on in a pleasant situation. Instead edaimonia is a richer concept which embodies ideas of flourishing and well-being, which might consist of numerous components e.g. health, education, friendships, participation, autonomy etc. Importantly this conception of 'happiness' or Eudaimonia is not a means to anything else. And Aristotle argues it is this good to which all other activities ultimately aim.

Combined, the exercises illustrated in figures 1-3 and 1-4 below, illustrate how pursuing the "ultimate end" of energy use offers a means, albeit a simple one, of providing a level of abstraction to meaningfully articulate how energy systems relate to human lives – their impact on the attainment of "the good". Here we don't have to subscribe to the idea of Eudaimonia, many contemporary theories of morality and justice make space for pluralistic conceptions of the good – the idea that different groups and people will have overlapping but differing ideas about what is valuable in life. These ideas are explored further in later sections (chapters three and four) on capabilities and justice, but I raise this here because we can follow a similar line of enquiry when trying to capture why particular aspects of energy dilemmas are important.

Using an example of accessing energy services (see figure 1-3), we can ask 'why is it important we have access to adequate lighting?' This question has multiple answers, for example we might answer, so we can study at home, prepare food when it is dark outside, have guests in our home, and move around safely in the night. Each of these answers seems reasonable. But we can follow our line of questioning and ask why each of the outcomes is important; having guests enables the fostering and maintenance of relationships, preparing food in a safe environment contributes to our health, studying at home can improve our employment prospects. The further we follow this line of reasoning the more abstract our answer will become.

An answer which seems to meet the criteria of 'self-sufficient and final', the ultimate reason for measuring, conceptualising, and responding to these issues might be to improve the lives of people are able to lead. Accurately capturing and conceptualising how inadequate access to energy can result in the deprivation of things we value is a vital step towards recognising how we can improve our lives. Similarly, we can view a range of energy dilemmas in reference to how they interfere with the things we conclude are important in our lives.



Figure 1-3 a visualisation exploring the ultimate ends of energy services. Source: own illustration produced on draw.io

It might have become apparent that reasons we believe energy access to be important are also the reasons why we find many other things important. The list of goods we need to flourish that energy access can help sustain might also be degraded through the outputs of energy systems. For example, we know that energy access can help us maintain good health but certain products of energy use and production - air pollution for example - can result in the deprivation of good health. Good health is key to many conceptions of a good life (Nussbaum, 2001, Doyal and Gough, 1984, Max-Neef, 1991). As such we can use a similar line of reasoning to frame why certain aspects and impacts of energy systems impede the ability of humans to live out their conception of the good life. Figure 1-4 illustrates this method, using ideas of the ultimate end to explain why an energy dilemma is a *moral* problem.



Figure 1-4 Framing the energy dilemma of climate change using the ultimate end. Source own illustration produced using draw.io

This exercise has illustrated one way in which we might begin to view and understand the moral implications of energy dilemmas. Later, this chapter uses the idea of the ultimate end to set out concepts and approaches which can help explore and connect different conceptions of this "ultimate end" to the impacts of energy dilemmas on the things we value. I use the idea of an ultimate end to illustrate how concepts from moral and political philosophy can be used to frame and articulate complex energy dilemmas that span entire energy systems; and how we might understand the necessary spaces for people who endure energy dilemmas to articulate their own values in relation to these energy dilemmas. Before doing so, I discuss a growing range of literature which has begun to relate moral concepts, primarily ideas of justice, to energy systems in different ways. Many contributions of this thesis arise from building on or responding to this literature.

## 1.3 Energy and justice: emerging research

So far, I have outlined the different ways in which different types of energy dilemmas have been discussed and I have illustrated a simple way in which we might connect these dilemmas to the things we hold valuable about our lives. Understanding how we might arrive at considering something normatively or morally problematic does not just depend on how an energy dilemma relates directly to an abstract value but also depends on understanding how societal, material, and political dynamics interact with the attainment or deprivation of this value.

This thesis attempts to establish and understand the efficacy of several recent attempts to use ideas of the things we value, as a means of connecting energy systems to their ethical implications (such approaches do so through drawing on ideas of justice which are explored in the following sections). Based on this enquiry, the outputs of this thesis set the foundations for a broad account of how energy dilemmas relate to the valuable aspects of our lives.

In the following sections I outline two key areas of research which are either critiqued or drawn on throughout this thesis. First is the discourse of "energy justice". Energy justice as a discourse consists of a number of disparate uses of moral and normative concepts to frame and explore a range of energy dilemmas, but also contains a number of broader over-arching approaches to energy justice. It is primarily these over-arching approaches on which this thesis focuses. Second, are ideas from moral and political philosophy which I see as essential tools in assessing gaps in current approaches to energy justice and then in developing an alternative means of connecting our values to impacts of energy dilemmas. The capability approach is featured in each chapter of this thesis and offers what I argue is a viable space in which to link the impacts of energy dilemmas to people's lives in a meaningful way.

## 1.3.1 Energy justice: decoupling discourses and approaches

Over the past decade a burgeoning range of literature has drawn on different moral concepts to explore, analyse, and advise on a range of energy dilemmas (Cowell et al., 2011, Walker and Day, 2012, Goldthau and Sovacool, 2012, Sovacool et al., 2013, McCauley et al., 2013, Bickerstaff et al., 2013, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014, Snell et al., 2015, Jones et al., 2015, Mattioli, 2016, LaBelle, 2017, Galvin, 2019, Pellegrini-Masini et al., 2020, Middlemiss et al., 2019, Day et al., 2016). A key motivation for the import of moral concepts into energy scholarship, is that often energy decisions are decoupled from the range of ethical issues they create or compound (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2015). Moral concepts and ideas of justice in particular, are argued to provide important structures through which to connect energy systems and their ethical consequences (Sovacool et al., 2016).

This general approach of applying ideas of justice to energy dilemmas has spawned a discourse often referred to as "energy justice". However, before proceeding, it is important to note that relating justice to problems stemming from or relating to energy systems is not a novel idea. A number of literatures and discourses, on which certain energy justice approaches draw on, already focus on energy dilemmas (Walker, 2012, Schlosberg, 2012, Schlosberg, 2009, Schlosberg, 2004, Müller, 2001, Paavola and Adger, 2002, Adger et al., 2006, Shue, 2014).

Energy justice discourse consists of a diversity of contributions. For example, a collection edited by Bickerstaff et al. (2013) contains pieces of work on issues surrounding energy vulnerability, energy production, low carbon transition and nuclear energy. These contributions range in their appeal and use of philosophical concepts, with certain authors drawing substantially on particular concepts and ideas of justice to discuss an issue (Fuller and Bulkeley, 2013), whilst others draw more generally on broadly interpretable concepts such as equity and fairness (Adams et al., 2013). In such collections of work energy justice is used as a broad umbrella term, within which a range of energy dilemmas, discrete approaches, and framings sit simultaneously.

Within energy justice discourse however, individual approaches exist, which seek to offer over-arching approaches or visions of energy justice. These approaches do not solely draw on moral concepts as exploratory or analytical tools to address individual energy dilemmas but attempt to offer a conception of "energy justice" that can be applied to and encompass a broad range of energy dilemmas (Sovacool et al., 2017, Jenkins et al., 2016, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). For simplicity, I refer to these works as "approaches" but, amongst other things, they have been referred to as normative approaches, frameworks for analysis, movements, and a 'cross-cutting social science research agenda' (Jenkins et al., 2016, Sovacool et al., 2016, Fuller and McCauley, 2016). It can therefore be confusing deciphering the exact functions and purpose of each approach to energy justice – and establishing this, forms a key part of this thesis.

Confusion over the purpose of these approaches can be compounded as proponents of these approaches often conflate energy justice discourse with their own individual approach (See Jenkins et al., 2016, Jenkins, 2018). A number of special editions and collections for example, begin by outlining energy justice in terms of particular individual approaches, despite contributions to these editions not subscribing to or applying these approaches (See Jenkins et al., 2017, McCauley et al., 2019).

For now, however, we can describe *energy justice discourse* as a collection of disparate and diverse uses of moral and broadly normative concepts to frame and explore a variety of energy dilemmas in discrete instances; and we can describe individual approaches as seeking to construct an over-arching framework which is designed to be applied to a range of energy dilemmas as to provide insights and normative guidance relevant to responding to these dilemmas. This is a slight over-simplification, as many discrete contributions to energy justice discourse can make valuable contributions to broader understandings of energy and ideas of justice, but for now this distinction suffices for separating these approaches from broader energy justice discourse.

#### 1.3.2 Approaches to Energy Justice:

Within energy justice discourse two approaches have become particularly prominent, named here as the the *principled approach* and *the triumvirate conception of energy justice* (See respectively Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014, McCauley et al., 2013). Here I briefly describe the approaches based on the claims and descriptions given by their respective authors. However, many of these claims are critically assessed and challenged in chapter three and four of this thesis.

#### "A triumvirate conception"

Originally laid out in McCauley et al. (2013) underpinned by a trivalent account of justice which presents energy justice as consisting of three core components: procedural, recognition-based and distributive justice. These broad interpretations of justice are often used to categorise and, to an extent, describe certain aspects of energy dilemmas. The triumvirate conception of energy justice has the goal of providing 'all individuals, across all areas, with safe, affordable and sustainable energy' (McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016). This approach has also had significant uptake within broader energy justice discourse. Throughout this thesis this approach is referred to as the triumvirate conception of energy justice or the "TCEJ". Scholarship focusing on this approach makes frequent claims regarding the approaches' ability to guide "ethically sound" decision making and to identify and respond to energy related injustice (Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018, Heffron et al., 2015, Heffron and McCauley, 2017). The TCEJ loosely resembles earlier trivalent accounts of environmental justice, which also described justice as consisting of distributive, procedural and recognition-based dimensions (Schlosberg, 2009, Schlosberg, 2004, Schlosberg, 2013). However, the TCEJ differs substantially in its interpretation and

use of these dimensions of justice - this is discussed substantially in chapter four.<sup>2</sup> However, to summarise here, the TCEJ's own interpretation of a trivalent conception of justice overlooks key details that enable a trivalent conception of justice to reflect and help to understand how particular grievances arise and are perpetuated. These issues stem primarily from the TCEJ's tendency to isolate each dimension of a trivalent account of justice (distribution, recognition and procedure). In earlier accounts of trivalent justice, the connections between distributive, recognition-based, and procedural issues are key to understanding how a single grievance can stem from and be perpetuated by each of these three dimensions. The separation of these dimension within the TCEJ literature acts to conceal the relationships between them and therefore limits our understanding of energy dilemmas and the way in which we might respond to them. This thesis uses the term TCEJ to refer to the frameworks set out in a specific group of literature (Jenkins, 2018, Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018, Jenkins et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2014, McCauley et al., 2013, Heffron and McCauley, 2014, Heffron et al., 2015, McCauley et al., 2016, Heffron and McCauley, 2017).

#### "A principled approach"

A framework initially outlined in Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) offering normative principles to guide and frame the formulation of responses to current energy dilemmas and future energy policy based on a survey of philosophical concepts and accounts of justice.<sup>3</sup> This approach draws on a range of moral theory and concepts initially: virtue, utility, human rights, procedural justice, welfare and happiness, freedom, posterity, and fairness (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). Responding to criticism that the approach only contained western concepts a number of "non-western" theories and concepts were added: ubuntu, Taoism and Confucianism, Hinduism and Dharma, Buddhism and indigenous perspectives of the Americas (Sovacool et al., 2017). A key output from this approach is, as LaBelle (2017) refers to it, a "normative checklist" of values that energy decisions should promote: availability, affordability, due process, good governance, sustainability, intergenerational equity, intragenerational equity, and responsibility (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). This approach to energy justice envisions 'a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Trivalent conceptions of environmental justice feature prominently in chapter four of this thesis, offering an understanding of the dynamics which modulate the attainment or deprivation of capability in a broader foundation of an account of a viable energy justice.

<sup>3</sup> Another work proposed by Sovacool et al., (2013) synthesises two principles from reviewing a range of justice literature: a prohibitive principles which states: 'Energy systems must be designed and constructed in such a way that they do not unduly interfere with the ability of people to acquire those basic goods to which they are justly entitled.' And an affirmative principle that follows: 'If any of the basic goods to which people are justly entitled can only be secured by means of energy services, then in that case there is also a derivative entitlement to the energy services'. This work is apt in describing why energy systems are linked to varying conceptions justice and is sometimes cited in literature on the principled approach initially outlined in Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) but is markedly different in structure and function to principled approach. This work is drawn on in chapter two of this thesis but is treated as a stand alone contribution instead of an individual approach to energy justice.

global energy system that fairly disseminates both the benefits and costs of energy services, and one that contributes to more representative and impartial energy decision-making' (Sovacool et al., 2016).

A key theme in both these approaches is that appealing to certain moral values and ideas of justice can result in "fairer" or "just" energy systems and energy decision-making (Jenkins et al., 2016, McCauley, 2017, Sovacool et al., 2016). Authors of the TCEJ in particular make a number of claims regarding their approach. Heffron et al. (2015), for example claim 'energy justice can achieve a just and equitable balance between the three dimensions of the energy trilemma [which Heffron et al. (2015) describe as policy, economics, and environment]'; whilst Jenkins et al. (2018), in reference to energy transitions, suggest the approach must be engaged with to uncover what is "just, equitable and right". The validity of these claims and others are examined in chapter three and four.

Both approaches adopt, and to a certain extent develop, the aforementioned "whole systems" approach (Sovacool et al., 2019, Jenkins et al., 2014). In doing so, both can be seen to contain "calls" to transcend the production-consumption binary – to view energy dilemmas as embedded and connected to the broader energy systems and societies (Jenkins et al., 2016, Sovacool et al., 2016). Both approaches also view energy systems and their associated dilemmas as amalgamations of social and technical factors (Jenkins et al., 2014, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2015).

These approaches are not the sole focus of this thesis but require substantial examination because they *initially* appear to be exploring a key component of this thesis: articulating the intersection between energy systems, the things we value, and the role of moral theory in exploring and articulating this. In this thesis the TCEJ ultimately draws more focus for two reasons. One is because of its extensive claims to be able to produce certain normative outputs and guidance. The other is that out of the two approaches, the TCEJ has been positioned as improving upon existing "grounded" work on justice, namely accounts of environmental justice (Jenkins, 2018, Heffron et al., 2015). However, both approaches feature significantly throughout this thesis.

For the past decade, the literature on energy justice approaches has remained largely uncritical of itself. Two outputs in particular which critically seek to develop existing approaches to energy justice approaches are the ones of Galvin (2019) and Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020)<sup>4</sup>. However, authors and proponents of the TCEJ and principled approach have scarcely revisited their approaches with a critical lens and the rare instances where they claim to do so have, in some instances, transformed into advocacy for their approach.

One of few examples can be found in Heffron and McCauley (2017), who despite claiming to provide the first critical account of the emergence of the energy justice concept in research and practice (they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> I emphasise "critically" here because there are numerous other articles which add and remove concepts from energy justice approaches without providing a critique of the approaches. I detail both Galvin (2019) and Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020) in chapter 5.

claim multiple times to provide a "critical theoretical exploration of energy justice frameworks" and a "critical account of the emergence of the energy justice concept"), soon after state "it is not the aim of this paper to critically assess these frameworks but in terms of assessing their value to different disciplines and exploring their merit". Instead, they critique "how scholarship has engaged with them [energy justice] and how these concepts have engaged with policy". After this "critique", Heffron and McCauley (2017) conclude that their "critical account of the energy justice concept builds evidence for policy-makers to justify its use. It is the first article to account for its beginning in both practice and research."

Some self-critiques have resulted in more fruitful additions to energy justice approaches. Sovacool et al. (2017) for example, respond to criticism that their "principled approach" is dominated by western perspectives and so move to include a more diverse range of non-western philosophies. However, by and large the underlying structures and methods of these approaches have remained unchanged since their initial inceptions. For instance, the triumvirate approach to energy justice set out in McCauley et al. (2013) is repeated in McCauley et al. (2019). It is only very recently that some authors have noted the tendency and limited impact yielded by literature which repeats an over-arching approach to energy justice without developing it further (Jenkins et al., 2020).

A constant trait of work on these approaches is that although they might occasionally include a new moral concept the actual underlying working of these approaches remains the same. As such, there has been little reflection or update on the role moral theory plays in these approaches.

## 1.4 Understanding moral theory

To better explore and understand the objectives and purposes of these approaches, and the extent to which these have been achieved, it helps to understand the purpose and uses of moral theory, and how such theories describe and envision justice. In the following sections I outline work by Sen (2009) on different approaches to moral and political philosophy. Following this I outline the concept of capability, which Sen himself advocates for as a component of an "accomplishment-based" component of a realised-focused theory of justice.

This thesis draws on a range of moral and political philosophy; however, these philosophies rarely fall neatly under one of these labels and it is difficult to decipher where moral theory becomes political and where political philosophy becomes moral. For example, in his edited collection of classic moral and political theories, Morgan (2011) describes included theories as being moral theories, political theories or "both". Therefore, in this thesis I often use the term "moral theory" as a broad catch-all for this collection of over lapping and intersecting scholarship.

A key idea permeating the purposes of moral and political theories is that they offer a means of identifying and articulating problems in such a way as to point towards avenues for amelioration. As

Bufacchi (2011 p.32) summarises O'Neill (1984), "we need moral theory in order to recognise a problem as being a moral problem at all". Sen (2009) makes a useful distinction regarding this, suggesting moral theories achieve this in one of two ways: they can either outline what a perfectly just society looks like and then attempt to illustrate how a given situation falls short of this ideal picture of justice; or they provide a comparative framework to assess which of two options is more desirable.<sup>5</sup> Sen (2009) Sen (2009)

## 1.4.1 Transcendental institutionalism

According to Sen (2009), transcendental institutionalism attempts to identify social characteristics of justice that cannot be transcended. Transcendental theories attempt to describe the most just society theoretically possible, being the most just vision of a society this vision cannot be "transcended". By this Sen means transcendentalist are initially concerned with identifying "the nature of the just". These theories therefore focus on envisioning an ideal society. They do so through focusing on the institutions, that is the public rules, systems, offices, and values, which would result in a perfectly just society. Sen adds that these institutions also rely on non-institutional features, such as the social interactions and behaviours of actual people, which arise in the form of "specific behavioural assumptions" which "are made that help the working of the chosen institutions". In other words, assumptions regarding the behaviours of people exist to complement how a certain institution would function. To elaborate this point Sen includes a quote from Rawls' *A Theory of Justice*, who falls into the category of transcendentalism: "the other limitation on our discussion is that for the most part I examine the principles of justice that would regulate a well-ordered society. Everyone is presumed to act justly and to do his part in upholding just institutions" (Rawls, 1971 pp.7-8). Sen suggests that these types of theory have come to dominate contemporary political and moral theory.

#### 1.4.2 Realised-focused comparison

Realised-focused comparison describes a set of theories which involve comparisons of societies that either already existed or which could plausibly exist. Therefore realised-focused comparison is concerned with judging which out of multiple plausible scenarios is more just than the other. Sen describes these theories as being primarily concerned with the removal of manifest injustice in the worlds in which they were developed, as opposed to outlining the conditions and assumptions under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This is similar to distinctions between ideal and non-ideal theory, whereby ideal theory describes the assumptions which precede justice and where non-ideal theory lacks idealised assumptions about justice. (See Meshelski, (2019) and Valentini, (2012) for further discussion).

which a perfectly just society could exist. Sen argues that realised-focused understanding of justice focuses on actual realisations and accomplishments, rather than on only theorising the right institutions and rules. The realised-focused comparison approach therefore focuses on things which can emerge in societies, such as the lives people can lead. It is this type of theory for which Sen advocates.

Sen (2009 p.15) argues "if a theory of justice is to guide reasoned choice of policies, strategies or institutions, then the identification of fully just social arrangements is neither necessary nor sufficient". To illustrate this point Sen uses the example of trying to choose between two pieces of art, a Picasso and a Dali. He argues "it is of no help to invoke a diagnosis (even if such a transcendental diagnosis could be made) that the ideal picture in the world is the Mona Lisa" (Sen, 2009). This may initially seem trivial but Sen is making the point that it is not necessary or helpful to know that the Mona Lisa is the most perfect artwork in world, if we are choosing between two other non-perfect options. Sen (2009) then states that this point may appear deceptively simple and asks "would not a theory that identifies a transcendental alternative also, through the same process, tell us what we want to know about comparative justice?" to which he answers "no".

Sen outlines how a transcendental approach does not account for the dimensions in which objects or options differ, arguing that descriptive closeness is not necessarily approximate to "valuation proximity" - or closeness to a set of values. Sen draws another analogy: "A person who prefers red wine to white may prefer either to a mixture of the two, even though the mixture is, in an obvious descriptive sense, closer to the preferred red wine than pure white wine would be" (Sen, 2009).

The idea here is that two options, both imperfect, may embody and reflect different dimensions and qualities which are not so easily compared by contrasting them with an ideal, perfect, but non-existent option. Sen builds on this logic advocating for an "accomplishment-based" understanding of justice based on the idea that a theory of justice cannot supplant the importance of the lives and experiences people can live and have. This is not to say that institutions and rules are not important but rather that realised aspects of justice extend beyond arrangement-based understandings. Sen suggests we should understand this in terms of people's "capability", a concept which has gone on to spawn a field of its own (see Sen et al., 1991, Robeyns, 2005, Smith and Seward, 2009, Robeyns, 2016b, Nussbaum, 2001, Nussbaum, 2011). This thesis draws on the idea of capability in several ways to explore and articulate the links between energy dilemmas and justice. The following section outlines capability in more detail.

## 1.4.3 Capabilities

As alluded to above, the idea of capability is posited as a means of comparing and articulating quality of life, but also as a space in which questions of social justice such as inequality can be meaningfully discussed (Sen, 2001). Others, such as Martha Nussbaum, have drawn on the idea of capability to develop a "partial theory of justice" that prescribes a universal set of capabilities, to which all humans

are entitled to "basic" levels, whilst others have sought to analyse certain institutions and social practices through a capabilities approach (see Robeyns, 2016a).

The approach centres around two concepts, "capabilities" and "functionings". Functionings describes the things we are able to do and be, for example, being nourished or educated, whilst capability refers to the ability of a person to achieve valued functionings (Robeyns, 2005). The approach therefore focuses on a person's capability to achieve valued "functionings". It is the opportunity or freedom to achieve these functionings that is important within the approach.

A core theme within any application of the capability approach is the claim that the attainment of wellbeing, in the form of capability, is of utmost moral importance (Brighouse and Robeyns, 2010, Nussbaum, 2003). Central to this claim is the distinction between the means to and ends of well-being attainment. Means to well-being, which are not capabilities themselves, are considered purely instrumental, whereas well-being is seen as an end in itself (Robeyns, 2005). However, a capability which is an end can also be a means to another capability. For example Robeyns (2005), notes that "the capability of being in good health is an end in itself, but also a means to the capability to do work".

Underpinning the development of capability, was the idea that traditional "goods" and "rights" which contemporary moral and political philosophy sought to distribute did not account for interpersonal differences in the ability of people to convert the same resources into valued outcomes. Sen (1979) argues this in response to a particular set of goods Rawls (2001) prescribes called "primary goods" (these are the goods Rawls (2001) describes as 'what persons need in their status as free and equal citizens, and as normal and fully cooperating members of society over a complete life'). Sen argued that given the same quantity of resources and the same values, there may be a significant disparity between the valued outcomes two people could achieve depending on certain differences between them:

"if people were basically very similar, then an index of primary goods might be quite a good way of judging advantage. But, in fact, people seem to have very different needs varying with health, longevity, climatic conditions, location, work conditions, temperament and even body size...so what is involved is not merely ignoring a few hard cases, but overlooking very widespread and real differences." Sen (1979 pp.215-216)

Nussbaum' (2001) universal list includes the capabilities of: life; bodily health; bodily integrity; sense; imagination, and thought; emotions; practical reason; affiliation; other species; play; and control over one's environment (a more detailed list is included in chapter 2). Unlike Nussbaum, Sen avoids defining a universal list of capabilities and instead argues that a community's capabilities should be self-defined through a process of public deliberation and reasoning (Sen, 2001). As is outlined in the following section the use of capability in this thesis treads a line between these two approaches, pointing to the practical use of well-reasoned predefined set of capabilities but also emphasising the importance of a concept that can enable people and communities to articulate their own values through various forms

of deliberation and procedures. It is important to note that although this is seen a key point of departure for the two approaches, Nussbaum (2001) suggests her list does not have to be fixed and is open to additions and changes.

Regardless of approach, the conceptual space which the capability approach forms to understand various aspects of the world can be understood as the "capabilities space" (See Day et al., 2016). As outlined in the following section, it is this ability to connect and frame a range of different circumstances that makes capability a viable starting point to understand the moral impacts of energy dilemmas.

As with all theories, the capabilities approach has its limitations. One frequent criticism of the capability approach, which is worth addressing here, is that the approach is too individualistic and pays insufficient attention to groups (See Robeyns, 2005, Smith and Seward, 2009). Robeyns argues that this individualist critique of capabilities is often derived from the conflation of the capability approach's ethics and ontology. Robeyns (2005) distinguishes between the ontological and ethical aspects of the capabilities approach, arguing that the approach commits to ethical individualism but incorporates an ontology which recognises the that recognises the connections "between people, their social relations, and their social embedment" (Robeyns, 2005 p.108). Schlosberg and Carruthers (2010) takes this a step further, arguing that communities and groups are capable of suffering injustice. They highlight that when environmental movements discuss capabilities, they do so as much at a community level as they do an individual level. In other words, communities are just as capable of possessing functionings as the individuals of which they consist.

## 1.5 Energy, moral theory, and the ultimate end: aims and research questions

Based on the previous sections, we can deduce two common characteristics of moral and political theories. Firstly, these theories provide concepts necessary to articulate why a certain situation or action is problematic - moral concepts they provide enable us to articulate dynamics which we previously could not. Second, in describing why something is morally problematic, moral, and political theories also point towards avenues of amelioration – whether by enabling the comparison of different responses or through imaging a completely just world. Sometimes decoupling these two characteristics can be useful - to use the descriptive aspect without necessarily subscribing to the overall moral sentiments of an approach. For example, in chapter three I note a utilitarian approach can help yield an understanding of the thought and decision-making processes behind certain energy developments, even if we do not find the approach a particularly compelling way to describe the things we value or make decisions.

The overarching aim of this thesis is to assess and then develop the extent to which moral theory informs our understandings of the relationships between energy and the things we value. Understanding this relationship can be instrumental in finding appropriate ways to more effectively address the underpinning dynamics which perpetuate energy dilemmas. To fulfil this overarching aim the two characteristics of moral and political theory mentioned above form the basis of two sets of research questions. The first set focus on the role of moral theory in existing approaches to energy justice and explores the efficacy of energy justice approaches in using moral theory to understand energy dilemmas and to produce normative guidance. The second set of questions focus more broadly on the role moral theory can play in informing our understanding of energy dilemmas and the things we value and implications this might have on developing more viable understandings of energy justice.

## 1.5.1 Existing approaches: what are they doing?

The first set of research questions revolve around asking whether existing approaches to energy justice can perform the same functions as those outlined in the above paragraphs. Two research questions become useful in exploring this:

- 1. What purpose is moral theory serving within existing approaches to energy justice?
- 2. Are approaches to energy justice able to derive genuinely novel guidance from the moral theory they cite?

Expanding on the first question, part of this thesis involves investigating the ability of these approaches to articulate the problematic aspects of energy dilemmas at a sufficient level of abstraction. One which provides a meaningful understanding as to how an energy dilemma can impact the valuable aspects of a person's or community's life, and vice versa, how a person's circumstances can impact their vulnerability to energy dilemmas.

Despite both energy justice approaches drawing on different combinations of transcendental and realised-focused theory, both offer brief transcendental-like visions of energy justice i.e. they provide conceptualisations of an ideal energy system which can act as a transcendental point of comparison. The TCEJ aims to 'to conceptualize a world where all individuals, across all areas, have safe, affordable and sustainable energy that is, essentially, socially just' (Jenkins et al., 2018), whilst the principled approach envisions "a global energy system that fairly disseminates both the benefits and costs of energy services, and one that contributes to more representative and impartial energy decision-making" (Sovacool et al., 2016). Galvin (2019) notes something similar, suggesting that current approaches to energy justice have an underdeveloped moral foundation and tend to default to a Rawlsian-style transcendentalism. Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020) also note comparable limitations regarding the grounding of energy justice approaches in philosophical thought (both Galvin (2019) and Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020) provide their own solutions to these limitations which I outline in chapter five).

When the goals of energy justice approaches are discussed in reference to Sen's comparison of transcendentalism and realised-focused comparison, these goal's transcendental leanings – envisioning a just or fair energy system – do not, at least on their own, lend themselves to the comparison or analysis of different energy dilemmas or scenarios. However, a theme in both approaches to energy justice revolves around the procedures through which we respond to energy dilemmas. The TCEJ discusses

this broadly within the context of "procedural justice" and the principled approach refers to this as "due process" (although it also uses the term "procedural justice") (Jenkins et al., 2016, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2015). These approaches recognise procedural aspects of justice as pertinent in responding to energy dilemmas, however the use of moral concepts to inform on how procedural spaces should function in relation to energy dilemmas is relatively underdeveloped. General calls for information disclosure, "equitable procedures" that engage all stakeholders, impartiality, and fair representation appear to fill this gap (Jenkins et al., 2016, McCauley et al., 2013, Sovacool et al., 2017).

In response to these limitations, the first line of enquiry of this thesis focuses on the purpose and uses of moral theory in existing approaches to energy justice, asking (1) whether approaches to energy justice are using moral theory to articulate and describe aspects of energy dilemmas in a way that was previously not possible. We can then ask (2) if moral theory genuinely aids in producing the normative guidance or avenues for amelioration these approaches claim to offer. These are pertinent questions, especially with regards to the claims made by authors of the TCEJ – that the approach can produce normative guidance and find what is "just and equitable" in reference to various energy dilemmas (see Jenkins et al., 2018, Heffron et al., 2015). If the answer to these questions is negative – that moral theory is not being drawn on- it does not just mean the impact of including moral theory in these approaches is limited. It also suggests certain aspects of these approaches are misleading. Placing normative claims have been substantiated by moral theories. I am not saying broad, looser, or colloquial language of justice, divorced from theory, should not be used when talking about energy dilemmas. Rather, I am saying that if an author is to cite a set of moral concepts and then proceed to make broad normative claims then they should show how and why these moral concepts relate to their claims.

Importantly, this issue presents a potential gap in broader energy justice discourse as to the role and uses of moral theory in exploring and describing energy dilemmas. The following section presents how this gap can be developed.

### 1.5.2 Capability, moral theory, and energy dilemmas

The second set of research questions revolves around the descriptive use of moral theory and the use of moral theory to produce normative guidance. This culminates as two closely connected research questions:

- 3. How can moral theory be drawn on to describe and explore energy dilemmas?
- 4. How can moral theory be drawn on to effectively develop ideas of energy justice?

The "ultimate end" exercise discussed earlier, becomes relevant here, particularly to question three. As part of an attempt to improve on existing understandings of energy justice and to respond to both

question three and four this thesis seeks to explore a viable way of using moral theory to articulate and better understand the impacts of energy dilemmas on those who endure them.

As illustrated earlier in the exercise in finding the "ultimate ends", whichever concept we arrive at can be used to help frame the impacts of energy access or energy deprivation, but also the wider impacts of energy systems, such as environmental harms. In this respect, key to understanding the links between energy systems and the things we value is the selection of moral concepts that can meaningfully articulate these issues and relationships. The capability approach, I argue, is well positioned to do this. A number of papers, external to energy justice approaches, have sought to use capabilities in this way (Day et al., 2016, Middlemiss et al., 2019, Hillerbrand, 2018). Whilst, other contributions have used capabilities to articulate the impacts of environmental issues (Holland, 2008, Holland, 2014).

I do not try to outline specifically what this "ultimate end" is. However, as indicated in the preceding section, I set the foundations for exploring a plausible space in which people can come to meaningfully connect the impacts of energy dilemmas to the things they value. This entails being able to understand the capabilities, concepts, and procedures necessary for a person or community to be able to engage in these spaces. In this sense the "ultimate ends" refers to the valued things a person or group can meaningfully articulate when given the sufficient conditions. The ultimate ends becomes a broad, but confined, pluralistic space which can facilitate the articulation of certain values and their relationship to energy dilemmas.

A key aspect of the capabilities approach which I find appealing is that we should make these comparisons based on the types of lives people are able to lead and the things they value. As both Sen (2001) and Nussbaum (2001) argue, this is best understood in terms of capabilities. The capacity for capability to account for difference between people yields a sensitivity to the social, economic, geographic and a wide range of other disparities, which underpin people's varying vulnerability to energy dilemmas. Energy scholarship, particularly within recent years has begun to engage with the range of socio-economic issues which intersect energy systems to form "energy dilemmas" (Liddell and Morris, 2010, Marmot et al., 2011, Walker and Day, 2012, Snell et al., 2015, Gillard et al., 2017, Mattioli et al., 2017). The same technical or logistical issue combined with varying circumstances of a person or community who endure the issue can produce entirely different circumstances.

The second question focuses on developing energy justice discourse, it moves from a descriptive focus to ways in which understandings of energy justice might be better developed. Given the focus on guiding policy and decision making that already pervades energy justice discourse and approaches, I find Sen's outline of realised-focused comparison approaches to justice a compelling and plausible approach to exploring energy dilemmas. An appealing aspect of this approach is that applications of realised-focused comparison can be analogous to formulating and choosing between different policy options – none of which will result in a perfectly just energy system, but some of which will be more

just than others. We can compare the circumstances in which a current energy dilemma sits to the circumstances different responses may plausibly create.

The case can be made that capabilities provide a suitable space in which to articulate and understand the impacts of energy dilemmas in relation to the things people value. However, even if we can now use this space to articulate what is morally problematic about energy dilemmas, this does not mean we now have solutions to these dilemmas. A key point of emphasis in this respect is that moral theory should be used as extensively, in the formations and details of the procedures and processes which enable us to arrive at these normative conclusions, as it is in the frameworks which demand these processes. Both Sen's and Nussbaum's approaches place significant focus on participating in political processes as a means of attaining capabilities. Sen's approach posits that essential capabilities should be decided on through communities' deliberations, whilst Nussbaum's list contains a number of politically centred capabilities i.e. control over one's environment which is partly defined as "being able to participate effectively in political choices that govern one's life; having the right of political participation, protections of free speech and association." (Nussbaum, 2001 p.79-80). In either case, the attainment of capabilities can be seen not just as the products of certain events but also as necessary to engage in procedural spaces. In this respect, the extent to which moral theory can inform on procedural spaces is seen as significant way of meaningfully contributing to energy justice discourse.

## 1.6 Methods: Applying and synthesising philosophy

This thesis can be framed broadly in terms of exploring the "ultimate end" to which energy systems aims and developing a space in which to understand and articulate this end. It involves asking whether existing approaches offer a means to explore what this end might be, or how we might better understand and discuss this end. Finding negative answers to these questions, this thesis then moves to investigate these questions independently of existing energy justice approaches.

The methods employed in this thesis fall broadly into what might be described as applied philosophy. Usually in philosophical works the methodology is implicit, and not discussed. However, given the interdisciplinary nature of the work contained in this thesis, it is useful to outline this general methodology.

## Informal logic

A key aspect of philosophical arguments revolves around constructing a set of propositions to support an argument. In general, philosophical arguments are underpinned by "informal logic" or "a theory of argument". Hitchcock (2007 p.106-107) defines arguments as "claim-reason complexes" which consist of premises and conclusions and explains "it is appropriate to conceive of an argument as a sequence consisting of a set of reasons followed by a conclusion indicator followed by a conclusion" (a conclusion indicator is a word which suggests an inference e.g. "therefore"). A key aspect of argumentation then is both providing true premises and conclusions which follow from the premises. We can therefore criticise an argument based on the truth of its premises, and the validity of the inference to the conclusion (Hitchcock, 2007).

This relatively simple logic underpins much of the work in chapters three and four, especially in sections which explore and critique existing approaches to energy justice. These chapters look at the underlying premises and arguments of existing approaches to energy justice and essentially scrutinise whether their premises are true, the arguments work, and accordingly, whether we should accept their conclusions. However, these chapters are not solely restricted to this method. As outlined above, this thesis also entails exploring the role different moral theories and concepts can play in understanding and articulating the ethical impacts of energy dilemmas. The methods entailed in this are best described as an empirical approach to applied philosophy.

### Applied and empirical philosophy

Bufacchi (2011 p.43) describes applied philosophy broadly as covering all philosophical research that has bearing on issues of practical concerns stating, "applied philosophy is primarily concerned with making a theoretical contribution to some issue of practical concern." Bufacchi (2011) suggests applied philosophy can either suggest solutions to practical ethical issues or explicate problems that need to be resolved and advocates for an "empirical approach" to achieve this:

- 1. *Empirical research* begins with a practical issue and is seen as problem driven. At this stage, any prior philosophical knowledge should be used to define a problem, as opposed to creating an *a priori* philosophical hypothesis. In other words, we should not create a philosophical hypothesis before we have defined the problem we are investigating.
- 2. Reflective equilibrium: based on empirical research a preliminary theory is constructed. The theory is then tested both deductively and inductively, empirical research is re-examined in reference to the new theory, then the theory is refined in response through a cyclic process. This part of the process is referred to as "reflexive equilibrium", which describes the mutual adjustment between the philosophical theory and our intuitive responses (Glover, 2012, Bufacchi, 2011). Key to this idea is that the philosopher should be willing to go "back and forth", being both inductive and deductive, until the philosophical hypothesis coincides with the empirical research (Bufacchi, 2011).
- 3. *The determining role of case studies:* empirical case studies become an essential input in the development of a philosophical theory, such studies therefore are beyond just supportive of a philosophical proposition and instead essential in its formation.

As is now evident, this process of inductive and deductive reasoning has partially already begun. I have described different types of energy dilemmas and have outlined a theory which might best explain and articulate their moral relevance.
However, this process of inductive and deductive reasoning began before I selected these theories. Both Nussbaum and Sen undertook this process during the development of their respective theories. Having both developed and tested their respective approaches on case studies, interviews and in Sen's case his own lived experience (Sen, 2001, Nussbaum, 2001). For example, when referring to her list of capabilities Nussbaum (2001 p.75) states "the list represents the result of years of cross-cultural discussion, and comparisons between earlier and later versions will show that the input of other voices has shaped its content in many ways."

These theories therefore have already been through significantly more cycles of testing and refinement than I could hope to achieve in this thesis. In a way I am drawing on the results of this empirical philosophy, whilst perhaps attempting to perform this cycle in a marginal way on distinct concept's ability to reflect, describe, and connect the aspects of energy systems we find important or problematic. It is important to emphasise that this process is cyclic and therefore depending on field-specific developments, its application does not have to start at empirical research but can begin at *reflective equilibrium* or the *determining role of case studies*.

Although they do not frame their research in this respect, I see Day et al. (2016) as a seminal endeavour into using a moral concept to describe, then explain the connection between energy systems and wellbeing, at a meaningful level of abstraction which can increase our understanding of an energy dilemma and plausible responses.

The method of testing a moral concept to see how well it describes or coincides with an issue is drawn on significantly in all chapters of this thesis. Chapter two essentially tests the ability of the capability space to articulate the moral dilemmas at the intersections of energy systems, societies, and the environment, using the example of climate change, fossil fuel dependency and climate change mitigation. Chapter three provides a means of comparing theories in this respect as a push to expand the range of moral concepts energy justice approaches utilise. Chapter four also draws on this method, developing the way in which capabilities can reflect underpinning dynamics which perpetuate energy dilemmas.

#### Theoretical synthesis

Although there are some marginal contributions to the refinement of certain theories attempted in this thesis many of its contributions result from what Sovacool et al. (2018) refer to as "theoretical synthesis". This entails the connection and integration of existing concepts into a new conceptual framework. In chapter two, this synthesis manifests in the integration of several capability-centred concepts which enable the construction of a framework which encapsulates issues of energy production and consumption within the same moral frame i.e. capability. Similarly, chapter four brings together several descriptive dimensions of justice and work on the capability approach to set the foundation for a viable account of energy justice. However, this does not solely involve synthesis. Articulating the

connections between these concepts, to some degree, involves "invention" (Sovacool et al., 2018). The concepts themselves are not novel, but the connections between them are.

# 1.7 Methods, chapters, and structure

This thesis is structured in the following way. Each following chapter employs a combination of the above methods. Figure 1-5 illustrates the over-arching structure and thematic connections between each chapter of this thesis.



Figure 1-5 Thesis structure and thematic connections. Source: own illustration

Chapter two

Chapter two entails a theoretical synthesis of several capability-centred concepts to bring the production-consumption binary into the same frame. With regards to the empirical philosophical method, this chapter can be seen as implementing step one of the cycle, using prior philosophical knowledge (in this case pre-existing capability centric-concepts) to define the well-being tensions between climate change impacts, climate change mitigation, and fossil fuels dependency.

#### Chapter three

Chapter three can be interpreted as applying an informal logic methodology asking whether the premises energy justice approaches put forward align with the overall conclusions. Here it is helpful to think of their premises as their underlying philosophical conceptions and views of energy dilemmas and their conclusions as their over-arching frameworks and outputs. Following this, chapter three outlines a method which resonates with the empirical-philosophical method, illustrating a means of testing different moral concepts' ability to define an energy dilemma before suggesting how this practice could help refine existing approaches to energy justice.

#### Chapter four

Chapter four focuses solely on the TCEJ and offers the strongest application of informal logic in this thesis. This chapter explores the claims of the TCEJ in detail and scrutinises the frequent claims of this approach's ability to produce more "just" energy systems and to provide viable normative guidance in response to energy dilemmas. Following this, the chapter employs both theoretical synthesis and aspects of empirical philosophy to develop a foundation for a viable account of energy justice. This chapter simultaneously synthesises a range of moral and political concepts whilst illustrating the ability of the capabilities approach to define and illustrate the relationship between dimensions of a trivalent account of justice, recognition, procedure, and distribution.

#### Chapter five

Chapter five of this thesis offers a discussion of the findings and outputs presented in earlier chapters and points to future avenues of research.

Combined these chapters present the state of energy justice approaches and seek to develop the ways in which we connect moral ideas, the things we value, and energy systems.

#### 1.8 References

Adams, C., Bell, S., Taylor, P., Alimisi, V., Hutchinson, G., Kumar, A. & Turner, B. R. 2013. Equity across borders: a whole-system approach to micro-generation. Zed Books Ltd.

Adger, W. N. 2006. Vulnerability. Global Environmental Change, 16, 268-281.

Adger, W. N., Paavola, J., Huq, S. & Mace, M. 2006. *Toward justice in adaptation to climate change*. Aristotle, C. 2006. *Nicomachean ethics*, ReadHowYouWant. com.

Berkovitz, D. M. 1992. Pariahs and prophets: nuclear energy, global warming, and intergenerational justice. *Colum. J. Envtl. L.*, 17, 245.

- Bickerstaff, K., Walker, G. & Bulkeley, H. 2013. *Energy justice in a changing climate: social equity and low-carbon energy*, Zed Books Ltd.
- Boardman, B. 1991. Fuel poverty: from cold homes to affordable warmth, Pinter Pub Limited.
- Boardman, B. 2013. Fixing fuel poverty: challenges and solutions, Routledge.
- Bouzarovski, S. & Petrova, S. 2015. A global perspective on domestic energy deprivation: Overcoming the energy poverty-fuel poverty binary. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 10, 31-40.
- Bouzarovski, S. & Simcock, N. 2017. Spatializing energy justice. Energy Policy, 107, 640-648.
- Bradshaw, M. J. 2010. Global energy dilemmas: a geographical perspective. *Geographical Journal*, 176, 275-290.
- Brighouse, H. & Robeyns, I. 2010. *Measuring justice: Primary goods and capabilities*, Cambridge University Press.
- Bufacchi, V. 2011. Social injustice: essays in political philosophy, Springer.
- Buzar, S. 2016. Estimating the extent of domestic energy deprivation through household expenditure surveys. *CEA Journal of Economics*, 1.
- Cowell, R., Bristow, G. & Munday, M. 2011. Acceptance, acceptability and environmental justice: the role of community benefits in wind energy development. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 54, 539-557.
- Day, R., Walker, G. & Simcock, N. 2016. Conceptualising energy use and energy poverty using a capabilities framework. *Energy Policy*, 93, 255-264.
- Derwent, R. G., Stevenson, D. S., Doherty, R. M., Collins, W. J., Sanderson, M. G., Johnson, C. E., Cofala, J., Mechler, R., Amann, M. & Dentener, F. J. 2005. The contribution from shipping emissions to air quality and acid deposition in Europe. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, 34, 54-60.
- Doyal, L. & Gough, I. 1984. A theory of human needs. Critical Social Policy, 4, 6-38.
- Fell, M. J. 2017. Energy services: A conceptual review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 27, 129-140.
- Fuller, S. & Bulkeley, H. 2013. Energy justice and the low-carbon transition: assessing low-carbon community programmes in the UK.
- Fuller, S. & Mccauley, D. 2016. Framing energy justice: perspectives from activism and advocacy. Energy Research & Social Science, 11, 1-8.
- Gallagher, K. P. 2005. International trade and air pollution: estimating the economic costs of air emissions from waterborne commerce vessels in the United States. *Journal of environmental management*, 77, 99-103.
- Galvin, R. 2019. What does it mean to make a moral claim? A Wittgensteinian approach to energy justice. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 54, 176-184.
- Gillard, R., Snell, C. & Bevan, M. 2017. Advancing an energy justice perspective of fuel poverty: Household vulnerability and domestic retrofit policy in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 29, 53-61.
- Glover, J. 2012. Humanity: A moral history of the twentieth century, Yale University Press.
- Goldthau, A. & Sovacool, B. K. 2012. The uniqueness of the energy security, justice, and governance problem. *Energy Policy*, 41, 232-240.
- Greenough, G., Mcgeehin, M., Bernard, S. M., Trtanj, J., Riad, J. & Engelberg, D. 2001. The potential impacts of climate variability and change on health impacts of extreme weather events in the United States. *Environmental health perspectives*, 109, 191.
- Gulliver, J. & Briggs, D. 2004. Personal exposure to particulate air pollution in transport microenvironments. *Atmospheric Environment*, 38, 1-8.
- Hall, S. M. 2013. Energy justice and ethical consumption: comparison, synthesis and lesson drawing. *Local Environment*, 18, 422-437.
- Harrison, R. M., Masiol, M. & Vardoulakis, S. 2015. Civil aviation, air pollution and human health. *Environmental Research Letters*, 10, 041001.
- Healy, N., Stephens, J. C. & Malin, S. A. 2019. Embodied energy injustices: Unveiling and politicizing the transboundary harms of fossil fuel extractivism and fossil fuel supply chains. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 219-234.

- Heffron, R., Mccauley, D. & Sovacool, B. 2015. Resolving society's energy trilemma through the Energy Justice Metric. *Energy Policy*, 87, 168-176.
- Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2014. Achieving sustainable supply chains through energy justice. *Applied Energy*, 123, 435-437.
- Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2017. The concept of energy justice across the disciplines. *Energy Policy*, 105, 658-667.
- Hillerbrand, R. 2018. Why Affordable Clean Energy Is Not Enough. A Capability Perspective on the Sustainable Development Goals. *Sustainability*, 10, 2485.
- Hitchcock, D. 2007. Informal Logic and the Concept of Argument. *In:* JACQUETTE, D. (ed.) *Philosophy of Logic*. Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Holifield, R., Porter, M. & Walker, G. 2009. Spaces of environmental justice: Frameworks for critical engagement. *Antipode*, 41, 591-612.
- Holland, B. 2008. Justice and the Environment in Nussbaum's "Capabilities Approach" Why Sustainable Ecological Capacity Is a Meta-Capability. *Political research quarterly*, 61, 319-332.
- Holland, B. 2014. Allocating the earth: A distributional framework for protecting capabilities in environmental law and policy, OUP Oxford.
- Ipcc 2018. Global Warming of 1.5 °C. Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change
- Jenkins, K. 2018. Setting energy justice apart from the crowd: lessons from environmental and climate justice. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 39, 117-121.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D. & Forman, A. 2017. Energy justice: a policy approach. *Energy Policy*, 105, 631-634.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D., Heffron, R. & Stephan, H. 2014. Energy justice, a whole systems approach. *Queen's Political Review*, 2, 74-87.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D., Heffron, R., Stephan, H. & Rehner, R. 2016. Energy justice: a conceptual review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 11, 174-182.
- Jenkins, K., Sovacool, B. K. & Mccauley, D. 2018. Humanizing sociotechnical transitions through energy justice: An ethical framework for global transformative change. *Energy Policy*, 117, 66-74.
- Jenkins, K. E. & Martiskainen, M. 2018. A normative approach to transitions in energy demand: an energy justice and fuel poverty case study.
- Jenkins, K. E., Stephens, J. C., Reames, T. G. & Hernández, D. 2020. Towards impactful energy justice research: Transforming the power of academic engagement. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 67, 101510.
- Jones, B. R., Sovacool, B. K. & Sidortsov, R. V. 2015. Making the ethical and philosophical case for "energy justice". *Environmental Ethics*, 37, 145-168.
- Kinney, P. L., O'neill, M. S., Bell, M. L. & Schwartz, J. 2008. Approaches for estimating effects of climate change on heat-related deaths: challenges and opportunities. *Environmental Science* & Policy, 11, 87-96.
- Labelle, M. C. 2017. In pursuit of energy justice. *Energy Policy*, 107, 615-620.
- Lancor, R. 2014. Using metaphor theory to examine conceptions of energy in biology, chemistry, and physics. *Science & Education*, 23, 1245-1267.
- Lehrman, R. L. 1973. Energy is not the ability to do work. The Physics Teacher, 11, 15-18.
- Li, K., Lloyd, B., Liang, X.-J. & Wei, Y.-M. 2014. Energy poor or fuel poor: What are the differences? *Energy Policy*, 68, 476-481.
- Liddell, C. 2009. The health impacts of fuel poverty on children.
- Liddell, C. & Morris, C. 2010. Fuel poverty and human health: A review of recent evidence. *Energy policy*, 38, 2987-2997.
- Lucas, K., Mattioli, G., Verlinghieri, E. & Guzman, A. Transport poverty and its adverse social consequences. Proceedings of the institution of civil engineers-transport, 2016. Thomas Telford (ICE Publishing), 353-365.
- Marmot, M., Geddes, I., Bloomer, E., Allen, J. & Goldblatt, P. 2011. The health impacts of cold homes and fuel poverty. *London: Friends of the Earth & the Marmot Review Team.*

- Mattioli, G. 2016. Transport needs in a climate-constrained world. A novel framework to reconcile social and environmental sustainability in transport. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 18, 118-128.
- Mattioli, G., Lucas, K. & Marsden, G. 2017. Transport poverty and fuel poverty in the UK: From analogy to comparison. *Transport Policy*, 59, 93-105.
- Max-Neef, M. A. 1991. Human scale development: conception, application and further reflections.
- Mccauley, D. 2017. Energy justice: Re-balancing the trilemma of security, poverty and climate change, Springer.
- Mccauley, D., Heffron, R., Pavlenko, M., Rehner, R. & Holmes, R. 2016. Energy justice in the Arctic: Implications for energy infrastructural development in the Arctic. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 16, 141-146.
- Mccauley, D., Ramasar, V., Heffron, R. J., Sovacool, B. K., Mebratu, D. & Mundaca, L. 2019. Energy justice in the transition to low carbon energy systems: Exploring key themes in interdisciplinary research. Elsevier.
- Mccauley, D. A., Heffron, R. J., Stephan, H. & Jenkins, K. 2013. Advancing energy justice: the triumvirate of tenets. *International Energy Law Review*, 32, 107-110.
- Meshelski, K. 2019. Amartya Sen's nonideal theory. Ethics & Global Politics, 12, 31-45.
- Middlemiss, L., Ambrosio-Albalá, P., Emmel, N., Gillard, R., Gilbertson, J., Hargreaves, T., Mullen, C., Ryan, T., Snell, C. & Tod, A. 2019. Energy poverty and social relations: A capabilities approach. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 55, 227-235.
- Morgan, M. L. 2011. Classics of moral and political theory, Hackett Publishing.
- Müller, B. 2001. Varieties of distributive justice in climate change. *Climatic Change*, 48, 273-288.
- Nussbaum, M. 2003. CAPABILITIES AS FUNDAMENTAL ENTITLEMENTS: SEN AND SOCIAL JUSTICE. *Feminist Economics*, 9, 33-59.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2001. *Women and human development: The capabilities approach*, Cambridge University Press.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2011. Creating capabilities, Harvard University Press.
- O'neill, D. W., Fanning, A. L., Lamb, W. F. & Steinberger, J. K. 2018. A good life for all within planetary boundaries. *Nature Sustainability*, 1, 88-95.
- O'neill, O. 1984. How Can We Indiviuate Moral Problems? *Bowling Green Studies in Applied Philosophy*, 6, 104-119.
- Paavola, J. & Adger, W. N. 2002. Justice and adaptation to climate change. *Tyndall Centre Working Pap*, 23.
- Pachauri, S., Mueller, A., Kemmler, A. & Spreng, D. 2004. On measuring energy poverty in Indian households. *World Development*, 32, 2083-2104.
- Pellegrini-Masini, G., Pirni, A. & Maran, S. 2020. Energy justice revisited: A critical review on the philosophical and political origins of equality. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 59, 101310.
- Petrova, M. A. 2016. From NIMBY to acceptance: Toward a novel framework—VESPA—For organizing and interpreting community concerns. *Renewable energy*, 86, 1280-1294.
- Qing, D. & Sullivan, L. R. 1999. The Three Gorges Dam and China's Energy Dilemma. *Journal of International Affairs*, 53-71.
- Rawls, J. 1971. A theory of justice, Harvard university press.
- Rawls, J. 2001. Justice as fairness: A restatement, Harvard University Press.
- Raworth, K. 2012. A safe and just space for humanity: can we live within the doughnut. Oxfam Policy and Practice: Climate Change and Resilience, 8, 1-26.
- Raworth, K. 2017. *Doughnut economics: seven ways to think like a 21st-century economist*, Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Robeyns, I. 2005. The Capability Approach: a theoretical survey. *Journal of Human Development*, 6, 93-117.

Robeyns, I. 2016a. Capabilitarianism. Journal of Human Development and Capabilities, 17, 397-414.

Robeyns, I. 2016b. *The Capability Approach* [Online]. The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Winter 2016 Edition). Available:

https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2016/entries/capability-approach [Accessed].

- Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Yang, X., Epstein, P. R. & Chivian, E. 2001. Climate change and extreme weather events; implications for food production, plant diseases, and pests. *Global change and human health*, 2, 90-104.
- Ross, W., Aristotle & Brown, L. 2009. Nicomachean Ethics (Oxford world's classics), Oxford University Press.
- Schlosberg, D. 2004. Reconceiving Environmental Justice: Global Movements And Political Theories. *Environmental Politics*, 13, 517-540.
- Schlosberg, D. 2009. *Defining environmental justice: theories, movements, and nature*, Oxford University Press.
- Schlosberg, D. 2012. Climate justice and capabilities: a framework for adaptation policy. *Ethics & International Affairs*, 26, 445-461.
- Schlosberg, D. 2013. Theorising environmental justice: the expanding sphere of a discourse. *Environmental Politics*, 22, 37-55.
- Schlosberg, D. & Carruthers, D. 2010. Indigenous struggles, environmental justice, and community capabilities. *Global Environmental Politics*, 10, 12-35.
- Sen, A. 1979. Equality of what? tanner lecture on human values. tanner lectures. Stanford university.
- Sen, A. 2001. Development as freedom, Oxford Paperbacks.
- Sen, A., Nussbaum, M. & Sen, A. 1991. Capability and Well-being. The Quality of Life.
- Sen, A. K. 2009. The idea of justice, Harvard University Press.
- Shove, E., Walker, G. J. T., Culture & Society 2014. What is energy for? Social practice and energy demand. 31, 41-58.
- Shue, H. 2014. Climate justice: Vulnerability and protection, Oxford University Press, USA.
- Smith, M. L. & Seward, C. 2009. The relational ontology of Amartya Sen's capability approach: incorporating social and individual causes. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 10, 213-235.
- Snell, C., Bevan, M. & Thomson, H. 2015. Justice, fuel poverty and disabled people in England. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 10, 123-132.
- Sovacool, B. K. 2008. The Dirty Energy Dilemma: What's Blocking Clean Power in the United States: What's Blocking Clean Power in the United States, ABC-CLIO.
- Sovacool, B. K. 2011. Conceptualizing urban household energy use: Climbing the "Energy Services Ladder". *Energy Policy*, 39, 1659-1668.
- Sovacool, B. K., Axsen, J. & Sorrell, S. 2018. Promoting novelty, rigor, and style in energy social science: Towards codes of practice for appropriate methods and research design. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 45, 12-42.
- Sovacool, B. K., Burke, M., Baker, L., Kotikalapudi, C. K. & Wlokas, H. 2017. New frontiers and conceptual frameworks for energy justice. *Energy Policy*, 105, 677-691.
- Sovacool, B. K., Cooper, C., Bazilian, M., Johnson, K., Zoppo, D., Clarke, S., Eidsness, J., Crafton, M., Velumail, T. & Raza, H. A. 2012. What moves and works: Broadening the consideration of energy poverty. *Energy Policy*, 42, 715-719.
- Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2014. Global energy justice, Cambridge University Press.
- Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2015. Energy justice: Conceptual insights and practical applications. *Applied Energy*, 142, 435-444.
- Sovacool, B. K., Heffron, R. J., Mccauley, D. & Goldthau, A. 2016. Energy decisions reframed as justice and ethical concerns. *Nature Energy*, 1, 16024.
- Sovacool, B. K., Hook, A., Martiskainen, M. & Baker, L. 2019. The whole systems energy injustice of four European low-carbon transitions. *Global Environmental Change*, 58, 101958.
- Sovacool, B. K., Ryan, S. E., Stern, P. C., Janda, K., Rochlin, G., Spreng, D., Pasqualetti, M. J., Wilhite, H. & Lutzenhiser, L. 2015. Integrating social science in energy research. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 6, 95-99.
- Sovacool, B. K., Sidortsov, R. V. & Jones, B. R. 2013. Energy security, equality and justice, Routledge.
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., De Vries, W. & De Wit, C. A. 2015. Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347, 1259855.

- Steinberger, J. K. & Roberts, J. T. 2010. From constraint to sufficiency: The decoupling of energy and carbon from human needs, 1975–2005. *Ecological Economics*, 70, 425-433.
- Steinberger, J. K., Roberts, J. T., Peters, G. P. & Baiocchi, G. 2012. Pathways of human development and carbon emissions embodied in trade. *Nature Climate Change*, 2, 81.
- United Nations 2018. The Sustainable Development Goals Report.
- Valentini, L. 2012. Ideal vs. non-ideal theory: A conceptual map. Philosophy Compass, 7, 654-664.
- Walker, G. 2009. Beyond distribution and proximity: exploring the multiple spatialities of environmental justice. *Antipode*, 41, 614-636.
- Walker, G. 2012. Environmental justice: concepts, evidence and politics, Routledge.
- Walker, G. & Day, R. 2012. Fuel poverty as injustice: Integrating distribution, recognition and procedure in the struggle for affordable warmth. *Energy Policy*, 49, 69-75.
- White, L. A. & Carneiro, R. L. 1949. *The science of culture: A study of man and civilization*, Grove Press New York.
- Winskel, M. 2018. The pursuit of interdisciplinary whole systems energy research: Insights from the UK Energy Research Centre. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 37, 74-84.
- Wolsink, M. 2000. Wind power and the NIMBY-myth: institutional capacity and the limited significance of public support. *Renewable energy*, 21, 49-64.
- Xie, P. 2003. Three-Gorges Dam: risk to ancient fish. Science, 302, 1149-1151.
- Zhouri, A. & Oliveira, R. 2006. Industrial landscapes and the uprooting of local populations: social and environmental conflicts in hydroelectric projects. *Teoria & sociedade*, 1, 0-0.

# Chapter 2 Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil fuels

N. Wood, K. Roelich

# Abstract

In order to mitigate the well-being impacts of climate change effectively, we must reduce our use of fossil fuels. However, many contemporary forms of well-being attainment still depend heavily on the use of fossil fuel derived energy. Therefore, certain necessary forms of climate change mitigation are likely to conflict with current means of well-being attainment in many groups and societies. In particular our concern is that certain forms of mitigation, which target lifestyle choices, consumption behaviour, and technological choices, do and will have disproportionate impacts on certain vulnerable groups in society e.g. households in fuel poverty or individuals with particular disabilities. It is evident that climate change mitigation discourse has only sparsely integrated well-being thought. We argue that a fuller integration of well-being into mitigation thinking could help avoid exacerbating current and future well-being conflicts that will arise between climate change mitigation and fossil fuel derived energy use.

To help achieve this, we reason that climate change mitigation and fossil fuel derived energy use must not be viewed separately but by their relationships to well-being. We articulate the individual processes of fossil fuel derived energy use, climate change mitigation, and well-being attainment in more detail, presenting their relationships to one another in the form of tensions. We present a capabilities conception of well-being that we argue is best suited for operationalising well-being with regards to fully capturing these tensions. We then develop a conceptual framework through a theoretical synthesis of existing literature on well-being, energy, and climate change, which illustrates how these tensions arise. This framework also serves to illustrate how a change in one process will affect the others. We outline how this framework can help illustrate the points at which misguided climate change mitigation can conflict with current means of attaining well-being from fossil derived energy. We then conclude that the use of this framework and further integration of well-being thought could help avoid and ameliorate well-being conflicts when developing future climate change mitigation.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Energy plays a role in the attainment of well-being (Nussbaum, 2001, Martínez and Ebenhack, 2008, Karekezi et al., 2012) and its absence can be a contributing factor to well-being deprivation (Liddell and Morris, 2010, Sovacool, 2014, Lucas et al., 2016, Day et al., 2016). It is also the case that many of the energy services and goods on which well-being attainment partly depends are currently powered by, or in part produced using fossil fuel derived energy (FFDE) e.g. current means of transport, heating,

lighting and energy production (Fell, 2017, Mattioli et al., 2017, Day et al., 2016, Simcock and Mullen, 2016). We therefore take FFDE to currently be a key, but extrinsic component of well-being attainment of many people around the world.

It appears that energy use naturally intertwines with the attainment of well-being.<sup>6</sup> However, the results of intensive energy use and production (in particular fossil fuels derived energy) can have converse impacts on well-being attainment globally<sup>7</sup> (Mitchell, 2011, Holland, 2014, Healy et al., 2019). Climate change is a prominent example of this. Primarily the result of greenhouse gases (GHGs) from the excessive use of FFDE, climate change has and will continue to have substantial and widespread, negative global well-being impacts (Adger, 2001, Pachauri et al., 2014). To mitigate these impacts we must significantly reduce GHG emissions (IPCC, 2018). In many cases this means reducing or changing consumption behaviour and lifestyles which we ordinarily rely on to attain well-being (we refer to these as a type demand-side mitigation and these forms of mitigation are our main focus throughout this paper) (Springmann et al., 2017, Lamb and Steinberger, 2017, Creutzig et al., 2018).

It is evident that tensions exist between well-being attainment, FFDE use and climate change mitigation (CCM). As Creutzig et al. (2018) suggest reducing energy use and GHG emissions must be balanced with the goal of enhancing human well-being. A challenge arises, however, when noting the limited incorporation of well-being into CCM discourse. In a review of human well-being and climate change mitigation, Lamb and Steinberger (2017) state 'climate change mitigation is fundamentally motivated by the preservation of human lives and the conditions which enable them'. Despite this ostensibly true claim, they find the field has so far failed to incorporate well-being thought beyond a superficial level (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017). A pertinent example is the United Kingdom's Climate Act, which sets out clear targets for emissions reductions but does not refer to well-being once (CC Act, 2008).<sup>8</sup> Indeed, when exploring the acceptance of energy transitions Demski et al. (2019), found values associated with needs and justice, such as fairness and equity are perceived by the public to be side-lined or even absent. Outputs from Just Transition and Energy Democracy discourses have included the concept of wellbeing to a limited extent, largely within the design of qualitative studies. McCauley and Heffron (2018) note this shift from quantitative to qualitative focuses on dimensions of injustice within environmental, climate, and energy justice scholarship, with studies focusing on more procedural aspects of research. For example, Damgaard et al. (2017) utilise the capabilities conception of well-being when assessing the energy justice implications of bioenergy developments in Nepal. However, a robust conceptualisation of the relationships between well-being, energy, and CCM is lacking. In particular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It is important to note that after a point energy intensive pursuits have diminishing and limited abilities to deliver gains in well-being See Brady et al. (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Including impacts of extraction and global supply chains, see Mitchell (2011) and Healy et al., (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> PDF word search feature for 'well-being', 'wellbeing', 'health', 'welfare', 'inequality', & 'equality' – although 'needs' arises once in regard to taking account of the needs of citizens unduly disadvantaged by waste reduction programmes.

there is limited examination of the extent to which well-being issues which result from the combustion of fossil fuels and CCM can be framed as justice issues using the same theoretical lens.

In essence links between well-being and CCM are being made, but there is a need to integrate this into CCM more effectively. This must be done whilst recognising that well-being is currently strongly linked to FFDE use, in order to recognise and address the implications of CCM strategy on FFDE-dependent means of attaining well-being.

These processes and the relationships between them are complex and need to be communicated more effectively. Therefore, in Section 3.2 we articulate these processes in more detail along with the tensions and relationships between them. In section 2.3 we present a capabilities conception of well-being which lends itself to being operationalised within this context, arguing that a broad, holistic conception of well-being must be used in order to more fully capture these tensions. In section 2.4 and 2.5, using this conception of well-being, we develop a new framework through a theoretical synthesis<sup>9</sup> of existing conceptualisations of the relationships between energy use and well-being, and the links between well-being and environmental issues. Finally, in section 2.6 we discuss the implications and uses of our framework as a tool and guide for assessing and developing CCM strategies.

We argue that it is not just the links between CCM and well-being that require substantiating, but also the conception of well-being which we utilise to illustrate them. As such, we draw from, and expand on substantial existing work on the capabilities approach, utilising it as a means of assessing a person's freedoms, opportunities, and abilities to attain well-being (Sen, 2001, Nussbaum, 2001, Holland, 2008, Holland, 2014, Smith and Seward, 2009, Day et al., 2016, Schlosberg, 2012). We take well-being to be tantamount to attaining sufficient levels of Nussbaum's Central Human Capabilities, enabling a person to live a life of dignity (Nussbaum, 2001). Importantly, the capabilities approach frames the ability to attain well-being as a matter of justice, and conversely that the deprivation of capabilities constitutes an injustice (Nussbaum, 2001). This enables us to frame the potential well-being implications of CCMfossil fuel energy conflicts as justice issues, which we believe to be an important contribution to grounding energy justice within philosophical discourse. We also highlight that the work within the capabilities approach can incorporate distributive, procedural and recognition components of justice (Holland, 2014, Holland, 2017, Schlosberg, 2012, Sovacool et al., 2016). We suggest the framework becomes most useful when combined with information about vulnerable groups, in particular those with already pressing needs and requirements for which extra access to energy is essential. We illustrate the benefit of continuing this work within the capabilities space. We outline the expansive tool set the capabilities approach yields as both a normative framework, which can guide the development of CCM,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> We use this term based on the definition given in Sovacool et al. (2018) on promoting novelty, whereby the theoretical synthesis entails integrating existing theories on concepts into a new conceptual framework.

and a partial theory of justice which can assess current and potential injustices caused by disruption to current means of well-being attainment.

# 2.2 The tension triangle

Here we provide more clarity on the tensions and relationships between FFDE use, CCM, and wellbeing attainment. We find a useful way to visualise this, is in the form of a triangle. At each point on the triangle sits a process; FFDE use, well-being attainment, or CCM, with each process sitting in relation to the adjacent processes.<sup>10</sup>



Figure 2-1 'The Tension Triangle' illustrating how FFDE use, well-being attainment, and climate change mitigation sit in tension to one another.

We refer to 'tensions' as the relationships between these processes that pull in different directions e.g. the use of FFDE to attain well-being conflicts with well-being implications of climate change which is caused by FFDE use. These tensions arise primarily from two conflicting processes. First, our dependency on fossil fuels for well-being provisioning energy services leads to excessive GHG emissions and climatic change. Second, the resulting climate change poses large scale well-being issues, which to avoid, or at least reduce, requires substantial mitigation efforts (IPCC, 2015).

In order to understand how these issues relate to one another, we need to assess the issues driving these tensions through a well-being lens. To help better understand the importance of these processes in terms of well-being we briefly outline the links between well-being and FFDE use, well-being and climate change.

# 2.2.1 FFDE use and well-being

There are both positive and negative connections between well-being and FFDE use, it is these connections which create a tension between the two processes. The positive connection between FFDE use and well-being lies in the general relationship between energy use and the attainment of well-being.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CCM, fossil fuelled derived energy use and well-being attainment could also be described as outcomes.

However, the majority of nations still rely predominantly on the combustion of fossil fuels to derive energy (IEA, 2017). As such, many relationships between well-being and energy that exist are currently facilitated by FFDE.<sup>11</sup> Perhaps most prominently the relationship between energy and well-being can be seen within developmental literature. Development itself is hailed as a major source of well-being enhancement (Sen, 2001, Nussbaum, 2001). Energy is acknowledged to play a prominent role within this, having a positive impact on productivity, health, education, safe water and communication services process (UN, 2005, IEA, 2011, Gaye, 2007). FFDE in particular is paramount to many forms of well-being maintenance, such as household heating, heat for cooking, and many contemporary forms of transport, which enable access to a greater range of well-being enhancing services such e.g. education, healthcare, recreational areas (Walker and Day, 2012, Mattioli et al., 2017). Malakar et al. (2018) argues that shifting towards the use of modern energy carriers such as electricity, liquid petroleum, and natural gas, could eliminate the well-being constraints associated with the use of solid fuels such as wood, dung and crop residue within the developing nations – of course this shift might contribute to other issues regarding growing GHG emissions.

The importance of energy in attaining well-being is echoed within justice literature. Sovacool et al. (2013) argue that people have a derivative entitlement to energy services if any of the basic goods which they are justly entitled to can only be secured through the use of energy services. In essence, if energy services are the only means through which an individual might achieve a particular good or state of well-being that a theory of justice prescribes, then energy becomes an entitlement of that individual.

The negative relationship between FFDE use and well-being we focus on here is climate change.<sup>12</sup> It is well established that the combustion of fossil fuels, and the subsequent greenhouse gas emissions, are the largest contributor to ongoing climate change (IEA, 2012). Climate change continues to have well-being impacts throughout the globe including an increased frequency of severe weather events, disrupted weather cycles, and irreversible damage to provisioning ecosystems (Pachauri et al., 2014). (York, 2012)

Both global inequality and the regions subject to significant climate hazards renders developing nations particularly vulnerable (Shue, 2014). Sea temperature increase will further contribute to global food security concerns, particularly as many vulnerable nations depend on seafood as a primary source of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It is important to note therefore that other renewable sources of energy could replace fossil fuel use and still provide similar means of well-being attainment. However, at a certain point increasing energy consumption does not appear to contribute to gains in well-being (Steinberger and Roberts, 2010). Therefore, a focus on maintaining and attaining other means of well-being may help partially decouple the energy-well-being relationship, and could provide avenues to maintain well-being whilst mitigating climate change (Brand-Correa & Steinberger, 2017). It is also worth noting that the introduction of renewable energy sources does not necessarily displace the use of fossil fuels (York, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> it is important to note that the extraction, production and combustion are linked to and the cause of a plethora of well-being issues throughout the globe, for example, land rights issues, air pollution, environmental degradation at the point of extraction etc (see Healey, (2019) and Mitchell (2011)).

protein (FAO, 2016), with studies observing habitat destruction and fish stock migration in line with ocean warming (Allison et al., 2009). Rising temperatures will also contribute to sea-level rise, which poses the threat of coastal flooding to regions in which a growing proportion of humanity resides (Nicholls and Cazenave, 2010). An increased frequency of flooding and droughts will be a growing source human suffering especially in the global south (Pachauri et al., 2014). Within the global south, women and children are thought to be particularly vulnerable to abuse during these events (Lane and McNaught, 2009). For example, during times of drought, many young women in Ethiopia and Bangladesh were obliged to labour for cash in local towns, forgoing education opportunities in doing so, and increasing their exposure to potential abuse and exploitation (Swarup et al., 2011). Although by no means exhaustive, this list illustrates some of the potential and ongoing impacts to human well-being that climate change poses.

These relationships illustrate the positive and negative well-being implications of fossil fuels which create an intrinsic tension between FFDE use and well-being attainment.

#### 2.2.2 Climate change mitigation and well-being

As with the relationship between FFDE use and well-being attainment, the tensions between CCM and well-being attainment, manifest through two relationships, one positive and one negative.

The positive relationship occurs through CCM's motivation to preserve well-being attainment and to prevent further well-being deprivation that will occur through unchecked climate change. To avoid or minimise the well-being impacts of climate change discussed above we must implement broad forms of mitigation, a necessary means of doing so is to reduce our use of FFDE (IPCC, 2015). CCM is primarily motivated by the maintenance of current systems of well-being attainment e.g. well-being provisioning systems, a stable climate and the issues we outline in section 2.1 (Adger, 2010). Although climate change is already having widespread well-being impacts, prompt and effective mitigation could help avoid or minimise these in the future (IPCC, 2018).

The negative relationship between CCM and well-being arises through certain forms of mitigation, in particular demand-side mitigation, which requires broad changes to consumption habits and lifestyles. In essence, we must restructure many current means of well-being attainment, such as those listed in section 2.1 above. However, attempts to curtail certain consumption choices and dis-incentivise certain activities may impact certain groups more than others e.g. low income households, those with disabilities or susceptibility to illness, and elderly demographics (Snell et al., 2015, Walker and Day, 2012) . Numerous studies illustrate the regressive impacts of carbon taxes, energy policy, and carbon trading, which are frequently criticised for disproportionately impacting low income and vulnerable groups (Wier et al., 2005, Ayres, 1997, Bristow et al., 2010, Callan et al., 2009, Feng et al., 2010, Starkey, 2012, Barrett et al., 2018). A pertinent example are UK energy policies which are designed to support a transition towards a low carbon energy system. The UK government added a levy to household

energy bills, 20% of which is used to fund energy efficiency improvements within homes i.e. installing insulation and other energy saving measures. However research by Barrett et al. (2018), found that the UKs poorest households spend 10% of their income on energy, whereas the richest spent only 3%, meaning the levy on energy bills disproportionately impacted low income households. Wier et al. (2001) found that energy needs for rural households were greater than those of urban households. Such disparities suggest forms of mitigation such a carbon taxation and carbon trading may impact rural homes disproportionately (Wier et al., 2005).

These two relationships illustrate that CCM's motivation to preserve well-being may in some cases result in the curtailing of people's well-being elsewhere.

#### 2.2.3 FFDE use and climate change mitigation

Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.3 illustrate that both CCM and FFDE use are linked through their conflicting means of preserving and delivering well-being attainment. Thus, we can see a direct tension between CCM and FFDE use, it is unlikely we can continue one process without disrupting the other. If we continue to combust fossil fuels for energy use, our ability to curb climate change through effective mitigation will be curtailed. Likewise, if we implement effective CCM it is likely that we will not be able to depend on FFDE for current means of well-being attainment. As a result, we can see that CCM and FFDE use sit in direct tension to one another.

We find that in order to fully capture the tensions between CCM and FFDE use, a robust and holistic conception of well-being must be utilised. Dominant forms of assessing well-being have largely been hedonic, focusing on maximising utility through satisfying commensurable and transitive preferences (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017). A lack of stability in peoples preferences make such approaches to well-being poor assessors of social policy and systems that contribute to well-being attainment (O'neill, 2008). By extension we believe hedonic conceptions of well-being also make poor assessors of the well-being attainment we derive from the environment (the process that CCM is motivated to protect). Brand-Correa and Steinberger (2017) argue that eudaimonic conceptions of well-being, through focusing on how a person can flourish in the broader context of their society, lend themselves to analysing the role of social institutions and political systems in the attainment of well-being. Again, by extension, we believe eudaimonic approaches to well-being can make for clearer and more robust assessments the links between the environment and well-being attainment. Assessing these links is paramount to outlining the well-being implications which are motivating CCM and how these conflicts with forms of well-being attainment from FFDE use.

In the following section we argue that the capabilities approach provides a broad and robust eudaimonic conception of well-being, through which we can conceptualise the issues embodied in tension triangle. Later in the discussion we use this conception to illustrate how certain forms of mitigation can result in well-being conflicts.

# 2.3 Introducing capabilities

We opted to use the capabilities approach for its applicability as a normative framework and as a partial theory of justice, as well as the substantial contributions and expansions which provide the conceptual infrastructure for our own contribution.

Conceptions, such as Martha Nussbaum's, which we expand on later, outline the approach as a 'partial theory of justice' in that it provides a specific list of capabilities of which each person should possess at least a threshold level, any level below this threshold constitutes an injustice (Nussbaum, 2001). As a partial theory of justice, it cannot inform on all matters of social justice. However, as we go on to explain, expansions and contributions to the approach yield enough scope to enable us to produce a framework that captures and reflects many of the justice issues which arise from both climate change and CCM, whilst illustrating these injustices, the approach also enables us to inform where policies might be improved as to avoid further injustices. Just as these principles can constitute what situations amounts to an injustice they can also help in avoiding the creation of new injustices as they can provide a guide to which factors we should consider when making decisions that impact people and societies, in the case of our paper, how we should mitigate climate change. This is what we mean by using the approach as a 'normative framework'. Within development ethics, for example, the approach can be utilised as a normative framework e.g. describing how a policy or society should be. The approaches falls into the eudaimonic category of well-being approaches focusing on the Aristotelian conception of flourishing (Nussbaum, 2001).

Importantly, capabilities offer a holistic understanding of well-being, making two normative claims. First, that freedom to achieve well-being is of utmost moral importance. Second, that freedom to achieve well-being should be understood in terms of people's opportunities to achieve valued functionings i.e. their capabilities (Nussbaum, 2001, Sen, 1992). The capabilities approach revolves around two main concepts: 'capabilities' and 'functionings'. Capabilities are *a 'person's freedom to achieve valued functionings*' and 'functionings' can be categorised as either 'beings or doings' (Anderson, 1999). 'Beings' for example, could mean being educated, being well nourished, and being housed in a warm home. 'Doings' could mean voting in an election or making use of adequate fuel to heat one's home.<sup>13</sup>

Instead of focussing on the distribution of resources, as many accounts of justice do, the capability approach focuses on what people are able to do and achieve, in part based on their capacity to convert primary goods into meaningful outcomes in their life; 'an individual's capability to function' (Brighouse and Robeyns, 2010). Although here our main focus is on the processes outlined in the tension triangle, this perspective become useful in regards to climate change in general, which has disproportionate impacts on particular marginalised groups around world, based on gender, ethnicity,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 'Being in a warm home' and 'making use of adequate fuel to heat one's home' are both aptly mentioned as examples of functioning in Robeyns (2016).

geography and inequality (Lane and McNaught, 2009, Swarup et al., 2011, Pachauri et al., 2014, Schlosberg, 2012). For the same reasons this makes the approach useful for assessing the impacts of CCM strategy, which as noted impact different groups depending on their social and physical situation. As we expand on later, the approach embodies elements of procedural and recognition justice, (Holland, 2017, Schlosberg, 2012), elements which are also pertinent to energy justice theory (Sovacool et al., 2016)<sup>14</sup>.

The capabilities approach has played a key role in framing international development, particularly in the human development index (Stanton, 2007, Sen, 2003). Further, the approach has been used in framing issues of global gender inequality and disabilities (Nussbaum, 2001, Robeyns, 2003). Similarly, the capabilities approach has proven beneficial within environmental and energy literature (Day et al., 2016, Gardoni and Murphy, 2009, Holland, 2008, Holland, 2014).<sup>15</sup>

Various uses have led to extensions, reinterpretations, and new abstractions. Sen's conception of capabilities and functionings is broadly open to interpretation based on the values and deliberative processes within differing societies (Sen, 2001). Alternately, Nussbaum's conception, proposes a list of incommensurable 'central human functional capabilities' essential for human dignity (Nussbaum, 2001). Nussbaum argues that these capabilities have no relative weight and therefore cannot be ordered by priority. Hence, she argues, that the state should provide each citizen with a minimum level of each capability. Her list contains relatively abstract conceptions of capabilities:

- 1. *Life.* Being able to live to the end of a human life of normal length, not dying prematurely, or before one's life is so reduced as to be not worth living.
- 2. *Bodily health*. Being able to have good health, including reproductive health; to be adequately nourished; to have adequate shelter.
- 3. *Bodily integrity*. Being able to move freely from place to place; having one's bodily boundaries treated as sovereign.
- 4. *Senses, imagination, and thought.* Being able to use one's mind in ways protected by guarantees of education, freedom of expression with respect to both political and artistic speech and freedom of religious exercise.
- 5. *Emotions*. Being emotionally developed, able to have attachments to things and people outside ourselves; (Supporting this capability means supporting forms of human association that can be shown to be crucial in their development.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> How to operationalise capabilities and other justice theories using an energy justice framework is an issue we are working on in a separate paper. Although the framework we present later in this paper may aid in this task. <sup>15</sup> Energy and environmental health are both conceived to be essential in minimising gender inequality (Robeyns, 2003).

- 6. *Practical reason*. Being able to form a conception of the good and to engage in critical reflection about the planning of one's life. (This entails protection for the liberty of conscience.)
- 7. *Affiliation*. (A) Being able to live with and toward others, to recognize and show concern for other human beings, to engage in various forms of social interaction; to have the capability for both justice and friendship. (B) Having the social bases of self-respect and nonhumiliation; being able to be treated as a dignified being whose worth is equal to that of others.
- 8. *Other species*. Being able to live with concern for and in relation to animals, plants, and the world of nature.
- 9. Play. Being able to laugh, to play, to enjoy recreational activities.
- 10. *Control over one's environment.* (*A*) *Political.* Being able to participate effectively in political choices that govern one's life; having the right of political participation, protections of free speech and association. (*B*) *Material.* Being able to hold property (both land and moveable goods), not just formally but in terms of real opportunity.

(Nussbaum, 2001)

Adapted and shortened for use in this paper, we recommend viewing the full list in Nussbaum (2001) p78-80.

# 2.4 Conceptual building blocks: linking FFDE, CCM, and capabilities

Nussbaum's abstractive list of capabilities provides a useful tool to explore and outline the processes through which we derive capability, functions, and ultimately well-being. We find a number of contributions to the capabilities approach lend themselves to our aim of articulating in more detail the relationships embodied within the tension triangle. The tensions between CCM, FFDE use, and well-being, are complex and have been largely overlooked, with each process often being dealt with separately. Linking them within well-being framework will enable us to more clearly articulate where these processes might conflict and how these conflicts might be avoided in the future. The following sections expand on the tension triangle, outlining how the relationships embodied within it can be articulated in reference to the capabilities conception of well-being.

# 2.4.1 Ecological meta-Capabilities and capability conflicts

Understanding the well-being motivation behind CCM, and the subsequent tension that this results in with FFDE use (the base of the tension triangle), depends on having a clear understanding as to how climate change impacts our ability to derive well-being from a stable environment. Holland (2008) suggests that the majority of capabilities are dependent on certain environmental preconditions or 'meta-capabilities' i.e. we derive many capabilities directly from interaction with the environment. For

example, both *bodily integrity* and *bodily health* depend on certain environmental factors e.g. clean air and water permit us to move freely from place to place without incurring negative health impacts. Holland goes on to argue that to ensure people can attain minimum required levels of capabilities for a life of dignity, ecological protection is required. Holland proposes a meta capability of *sustainable ecological capacity* which she defines as:

"being able to live one's life in the context of ecological conditions that can provide environmental resources and services that enable the current generation's range of capabilities; to have these conditions now and in the future" (Holland, 2008 p.324)

Another concept outlined by Holland (2014), abstracted from Nussbaum (2000) are *capability conflicts*. These are conflicts which occur between different means of well-being derivation. For example, a household near a river may derive sanitation, and thus *bodily health*, from using the river as a means of refuse disposal. However, a household downstream may use river as a source of drinking water to derive *bodily health*. But the downstream household is now prevented from doing so because the refuge disposed of by the upstream household has rendered the water unpalatable and unsanitary.

Holland's notion of capability conflicts and meta-capabilities can help conceptualise the links and motivations between FFDE use, climate change mitigation, and well-being deprivation. The use of the atmosphere as a sink for GHG emissions, may allow a person to attain well-being from processes which require the combustion of fossil fuels, for example, the combustion of fuel to power transport. This use over a large enough scale will contribute to the ongoing warming of the atmosphere. Many other people and societies (and indeed the very same people and societies), may derive many capabilities via the environmental services (or ecological meta-capabilities) that are supported by an atmosphere with stable temperatures. For example, stable weather patterns and temperature cycles which aid agricultural productivity, adequate drinking water and stable environments which enable the attainment of capabilities *bodily health* and *play*. We can see here that the extensive use of the atmosphere for the former purpose conflicts with the latter use.

Schlosberg (2012) suggests that a capabilities approach to justice can aid in assessing a broad range of issues posed by climate change, arguing it is an approach which may help capture distributions of vulnerability, the impacts of mal-recognition, and the impairments to functioning climate change poses (Schlosberg, 2012). Drawing on Fraser (1997), Schlosberg details how mal-, mis-, and non-recognition (for simplicity we refer to these issues collectively as misrecognition from here in) leads to the neglect of peoples and cultures which are impacted by climate change in ways which threaten the preconditions for those cultures to exist and the attainment of capabilities within them (Schlosberg, 2012). Schlosberg argues that capabilities approach, through its deliberative nature may help ameliorate the recognition issues of local, individual, and community needs and vulnerabilities (Schlosberg, 2012).

Schlosberg also suggests that misrecognition inhibits the fair participation of individuals and communities in deliberative and democratic procedures. And further, that these preconditions of participation and recognition depend broadly on the environment. Drawing on Holland's (2008) conception of ecological meta-capabilities and Nancy Frasers (1997) concerns over recognition justice, Schlosberg holds that recognition is key to designing substantive policy responses to threats (climate change in particular) to human functionings and the incommensurable role of the environment in achieving them.

#### 2.4.2 Capability from energy services

Understanding the well-being tension between CCM and FFDE use also requires an understanding of the process through which well-being is derived from services which depend on FFDE. Understanding this process, enables one to assess the points at which CCM might conflict with current means of well-being attainment from FFDE use. One incorporation of the capabilities approach is Day et al.'s (2016) conceptualisation of the relationship between energy, energy services, and well-being outcomes. Day et al. (2016) utilise capabilities to conceptualise the means through which we derive well-being from household energy services. They then outline the processes through which capability deprivation may occur or be prevented by insufficient or adequate energy access.

With reference to Sovacool et al. (2014), Day et al. (2016) argue that energy demand is not derived from an intrinsic want or need for energy, but instead arises from the services and activities that energy enables us to use and do. As such, they utilise the concept of secondary capabilities to conceptualise the links between the use of energy services and basic capabilities. Day et al.'s framework allows one to illustrate heterogeneity of services and subsequent capabilities derived from energy. This is in part achieved through the incorporation of Smith & Seward's (2009) conception of 'basic' and 'secondary' capabilities. Secondary capabilities here embody a positivist approach, in that they can be observed and measured, e.g. driving a car, using a washing machine, and utensils used in preparing food. Basic capabilities embody constructivist ideals, for example, Nussbaum's capability of *Affiliation*. There will be multiple ways in which we might define or view affiliation, such as being able to empathise, identify with, or physically meet individuals. A secondary capability such as driving or being in transit might facilitate these actions. Day et al. (2016) aptly describe secondary capabilities as 'precursors to basic ones'. The adoption of secondary capabilities into a framework is essential for identifying the mechanisms through which basic capabilities are achieved (Day et al., 2016, Smith and Seward, 2009).



Figure 2-2 Day et al., 2016 conceptualising the relationship between energy, services and outcomes with interventions in areas which aid in avoiding fuel poverty.

Day et al.'s framework (figure 2-2) shows the use of fuel and other energy sources, feeding into domestic energy or other power supplies, the energy's subsequent use in domestic services, its utilisation in the form of secondary capabilities, and finally energy manifested in the form of basic capabilities. Each stage represents a transformation of energy.

This framework allows Day et al. (2016) to formulate a definition of energy poverty within the space of capabilities, based on disruptions to this chain of derivation acting ultimately as forms of capability deprivation:

'an inability to realise essential capabilities as a direct or indirect result of insufficient access to affordable, reliable and safe energy services, and taking into account available reasonable alternative means of realising these capabilities.' (Day et al., 2016)

This definition is important in justifying our framework because of its ability to capture the well-being implications and injustices CCM might yield if it curbs an already vulnerable citizen's access to energy derived from fossil fuels. This approach enables Day et al. (2016) to identify where certain causes of energy poverty arise as a result of inadequate access to energy and energy services, and consequently where interventions should occur to minimise them (Day et al., 2016). The framework presented by Day et al. (2016) can already be used to illustrate the process of capability derivation through domestic energy services powered by fossil fuelled derived energy, particularly if we omit other energy sources listed within it. Through expansions it may capture various other means of capability derivation that FFDE contribute too.

#### 2.4.3 Capability from transport

Day et al.'s framework considers only the relationship between direct domestic energy consumption and capabilities derivation. However, transport is another widely used means through which FFDE is utilized to provide a service, for example, accessing healthcare and education, or recreational sites via a car, and therefore is likely to conflict with certain forms of CCM (Woodcock et al., 2009). As with other forms of fuel poverty, inadequate access to transport can have significant consequences for a person's well-being, barring them from accessing important services and sources of well-being attainment (Mattioli, 2016). Transport can therefore be seen as means of attaining functioning and capability and it has been suggested that the capabilities approach could yield many lessons for transport planning (Hananel and Berechman, 2016, Beyazit, 2011). Simultaneously, transport is responsible for a substantial portion of many nations emissions (IEA, 2012). Vehicles and fuel have been the subject of proposed and existing emissions reductions policy. A policy which seeks to reduce emissions from transport may inadvertently reduce vulnerable group's access to capability supporting services (Mattioli, 2017).

Day et al.'s framework does not capture the relationship between fossil fuelled private transport and basic capabilities. Transport is currently a source of capability attainment, but because of its current dependence on FFDE, it is linked to GHG emissions and subsequently climate change. If climate change mitigation, motivated by well-being concerns is introduced to target emissions from transport, motivated by climate-well-being concerns, it also poses the risk of inhibiting well-being derivation from these sources. Incorporating ecological meta-capabilities and capability conflicts within this framework would inherently account for the negative links between FFDE and well-being, and help frame the tensions between the well-being implications of climate change and CCM. Being able to capture this relationship is instrumental in outlining the impacts that CCM can inadvertently have on vulnerable groups.

# 2.5 Expanding the tension triangle: creating a well-being lens

Here we combine Day et al.'s framework with Holland's capability conflicts and ecological metacapabilities and extend it to include private transport. Day et al.'s framework is an important first step in conceptualising the process of capability derivation from energy use and they suggest their framework may be expanded beyond its initial scope. We aim to focus solely on energy derived from fossil fuels because of their significant links to climate change. We incorporate transport into the framework to more broadly capture uses of FFDE. We are aware that many of the processes we outline can occur through the use of other energy sources. However, our focus is specifically on fossil fuels as to provide a conceptual snapshot that illustrates the relationships between the processes that make up the tensions triangle. This expansion will later aid in outlining the process through which certain policies might disrupt the flow of capabilities currently derived from fossil fuels.

#### 2.5.1 Incorporating transport

To encompass emissions from private transport, 'domestic energy or power supply' featured in Day et al. (2016) needs to be expanded. Thus, in the model presented below this stage is termed 'private energy and supply' (PES). This allows for the incorporation of refined fossil fuels into this stage of the framework. Refined fossil fuels are often used in private transport and consequently, the next stage in the framework 'domestic energy services' is replaced with 'private energy services' to reflect the private use of FFDE outside a domestic environment. From there, the secondary and basic capabilities derived from energy use can remain unchanged.

The extended framework can now illustrate how we might derive capability through petroleum fuelled private transport. For example, fossil fuels may be initially combusted to provide energy for the refinement and transport of petroleum. This petroleum is then combusted within a private vehicle generating mechanical power, which provides a secondary capability of transit. The ability to transit then yields the opportunity to derive a number of basic capabilities. For example, the capability of affiliation – one might be enabled to physically affiliate with others through the use of private transport. Another example might be enabling access to distant health care facilities and in turn the capability of bodily health might be derived.



Figure 2-3 Capability derivation chain from fossil fuels through private energy use.

#### 2.5.2 Meta-capacities and capability conflicts

The initial framework (above) illustrates how we arrive at basic capabilities through the combustion of fossil fuels, and thus illustrates the relationship between FFDE use and well-being outlined earlier in the tension triangle. To link this relationship to the well-being impacts of climate change i.e. the well-being motivation of CCM, we draw on Holland's (2014) conception of ecological meta-capabilities and capability conflicts. Holland's framing of these two concepts enables us to conceptualise the well-being impacts of climate change within the capabilities space. Additionally, as described, climate change's primary driver is the combustion of fossil fuels. Thus, to extend the model we link sources of emissions to conceptual carbon space consumption. Opschoor (2010) define 'carbon space' as:

'...long term maxima for temperature rise or concentrations of greenhouse gases [which] defines spaces within which further emissions of these gases are to remain.'

#### (Opschoor, 2010)

Or more simply, carbon space is the capacity of the atmosphere to hold a particular concentration of GHGs<sup>16</sup> whilst maintaining a particular temperature.

To achieve this extension, we conceptualise an ongoing tension between carbon space consumption and what we term 'homeostatic ecological meta-capabilities'. These are sets of capabilities that could potentially be derived from a less strained environment in which a more sustainable society is embedded. This is essentially the aim of CCM. For example, a climate that is less subject to change because society has avoided further emissions, may yield more stable and predictable weather patterns and less severe weather events, this might in turn aid crop yields which depend on more predictable weather cycles. This could lead to improved food security and avoid famines and hunger, helping to maintain people's capability of bodily health and integrity. However, in our less sustainable reality, climate change continues to disrupt the environment and weather patterns, our ability to derive a wider array of capabilities from the environment declines e.g. bodily health and integrity, identity and culture, affiliation etc. This conflict then feeds back negatively to secondary and basic capabilities (represented by the red connections in figure 2-4), illustrating the capability depriving impacts of climate change. Therefore, as we overconsume one particular environmental service - carbon space - we reduce our ability to derive other ecological meta-capabilities. Holland (2008) suggests that when such a state of ecological conditions exist which enable minimum levels of capability thresholds to be meet that an 'environmental justice threshold' has been met or surpassed.

As we noted earlier our focus here is on the well-being conflicts that occur between FFDE use and CCM. However significant well-being impacts occur at other points within our framework, in particular during extraction and refinement. Healy et al. (2019) illustrate these 'hidden injustices' that occur throughout trans-boundary supply chains by introducing the concept of 'embodied energy injustices' linking energy extraction to violence, forcible displacements, pollution, and human rights violations. Ecological meta-capability conflicts might occur elsewhere in the supply chain simultaneously to climate impacts. For example, air quality degradation from fossil fuelled transport is a clear ecological meta-capability conflict, where by one means of deriving capability erodes another (Holland, 2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> When GHGs are discussed as carbon dioxide equivalents.



Figure 2-4 Combined framework of capability derivation from fossil fuels and capability conflicts between carbon space consumption and ecological meta-capabilities. Blue arrows indicate the flow of energy, services and well-being from energy use and the environment to capability attainment. Red arrows represent the conflicts that result from emitting activities at the stages of fossil fuel extraction and refinement, private energy services, secondary capabilities such as combusting fuel in a car to achieve transit, and the subsequent deprivation of secondary and basic capabilities that result from the collective environmental impacts that reduce our ability to derive capability from the environment.

# 2.6 Discussion

Marino and Ribot (2012) state 'as climate-related crises produce winners and losers, so may discourses and plans made to avert such crises'. Our framework, taken with considerations of recognition issues (such as those presented by Schlosberg (2012) and Fraser (1997)), illustrates the interplay between fossil fuel derived well-being and well-being depriving climate change, and subsequently conflicts that can arise through mitigation attempts.

Through including a broad range of activities that depend on fossil fuels, we illustrate the heterogeneity of emitting activities from which fossil fuelled societies derive well-being. This enables us to better illustrate the points at which CCM might disrupt a person's current means of well-being attainment from FFDE use. Through illustrating this process in the capabilities space, we are able to outline how capability deprivation resulting from misinformed CCM can compound injustices that were overlooked during its formulation. When referring to Schlosberg's (2012) inclusion of Fraser's (1997) recognition concerns in a broad capabilities approach, it becomes apparent as to how these injustices result. Having a full set of capabilities is paramount to being able to participate within the democratic processes and achieve 'democratic equality', which in itself integrates equal recognition. In recognising this, we can see how the impairment of someone's capability derivation from FFDE might prevent them from participating in deliberative procedures in which they might attain some sort of recognition and the eventual amelioration of their well-being deprivation (Anderson, 1999).<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Capabilities of participation and control over one's political environment can be likened to theories of social power.

The interplay between capabilities, the attainment of recognition (or lack thereof), and CCM becomes further ostensible when we consider how misguided CCM can compound these injustices. Because of their existing capability deprivation and misrecognition, vulnerable groups may find it difficult to participate in policy formulation and other democratic process, even through simple processes of transiting to areas in which these processes occur. This can lead to the formulation of policies which fail to take account of these groups' concerns, and therefore may be more likely to disproportionately impact these groups than other groups who have a greater capability to be politically active.

As such a process unfolds in which vulnerable groups become further marginalised as they are continually distanced from societal participation. This aligns in particular with Schlosberg's (2012) view that vulnerable group's statuses are at least, in part, 'socially, politically, and economically constructed' and that it is therefore necessary for them to attain some form of control over their political environment in order to ameliorate their position. For example, within the UK 11% of households are in fuel poverty, in this position members of a household may be struggling to heat their homes and subsequently may develop health issues, thus reducing their capability of bodily health (DBEIS, 2017). These health issues may inhibit a person's capability to engage in society and to exercise political control within their environment, for example, the ability to attend public consultations and even visiting polling stations (Gillard et al., 2017). Therefore, through facing existing capability deprivation, members of these household may find it difficult to engage in a discourse which could either alleviate or exacerbate their position – Wolff and De-Shalit (2007) term this 'corrosive disadvantage'. In the case of climate mitigation, a policy which increases the cost of household energy, would risk further exacerbating capability deprivation.

Illustrating that CCM discourse can be analysed through a well-being lens is pertinent in providing a framing of climate change mitigation in reference to its well-being impacts, both positive and negative. If our motivation to mitigate climate change is found in climate change's detrimental impact on human well-being, then our concern should be extended to those vulnerable groups whose well-being is risked as a result of misguided climate mitigation.

We noted earlier that "at a certain point increasing energy consumption does not appear to contribute to gains in well-being (Steinberger and Roberts, 2010). Therefore a focus on other maintaining and attaining other means of well-being may help partially decouple the energy-well-being relationship, and could provide avenues to maintain well-being whilst mitigating climate change (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017)." Our framework outlines the current means and capabilities we depend on to attain well-being. However, these capabilities need not be tied to fossil fuels permanently. Many of these capabilities could instead be ensured by more inclusive solutions, for example, improvements in accessible public infrastructure, such as replacing roads with trams and bus lanes, utilising industrial heat through combined heat and power plants, mandating energy efficiency measures in new homes

and subsidising retrofits in inclusive and equitable ways. An awareness of the potential well-being conflicts CCM could cause is paramount in guiding the formation of well-being enhancing responses to climate change. Viewing these CCM and FFDE use in relation to well-being as done through the tensions triangle will help avoid the separation of these issues.

# 2.7 Conclusion

We have argued that in order to minimise well-being impacts of climate change mitigation we must view both climate change mitigation and FFDE use through a well-being lens. To effectively do so requires a robust and holistic conception of well-being capable of capturing the complex relationships between these conflicting processes. We have argued that the capabilities conception of well-being provides this and that viewing these relationships in terms of capabilities allows us to assess and shape current and future mitigation strategies that consider vulnerable groups to minimise and ameliorate potential well-being conflicts.

# 2.8 References

- Adger, W. N. 2001. Scales of governance and environmental justice for adaptation and mitigation of climate change. *Journal of International development*, 13, 921-931.
- Adger, W. N. 2010. Climate Change, Human Well-Being and Insecurity. *New Political Economy*, 15, 275-292.
- Anderson, E. S. 1999. What Is the Point of Equality? *Ethics*, 109, 287-337.
- Ayres, R. U. 1997. Environmental market failures: Are there any local market-based corrective mechanisms for global problems? *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 1, 289-309.
- Barrett, J., Owen, A. & Taylor, P. 2018. Funding a Low Carbon Energy System: a fairer approach? : UKERC.
- Beyazit, E. 2011. Evaluating Social Justice in Transport: Lessons to be Learned from the Capability Approach AU Beyazit. *Transport Reviews*, 31, 117-134.
- Brady, D., Kaya, Y. & Beckfeild, J. 2007. Reassessing the Effect of Economic Growth on Well-being in Less-developed Countries, 1980–2003. *Studies in Comparative International Development*.
- Brand-Correa, L. I. & Steinberger, J. K. 2017. A Framework for Decoupling Human Need Satisfaction From Energy Use. *Ecological Economics*, 141, 43-52.
- Brighouse, H. & Robeyns, I. 2010. *Measuring justice: Primary goods and capabilities*, Cambridge University Press.
- Bristow, A. L., Wardman, M., Zanni, A. M. & Chintakayala, P. K. 2010. Public acceptability of personal carbon trading and carbon tax. *Ecological Economics*, 69, 1824-1837.
- Callan, T., Lyons, S., Scott, S., Tol, R. S. & Verde, S. 2009. The distributional implications of a carbon tax in Ireland. *Energy Policy*, 37, 407-412.
- Cc Act 2008. Climate Change Act Elizabeth II. Chapter 27. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London, UK.
- Creutzig, F., Roy, J., Lamb, W. F., Azevedo, I. M., De Bruin, W. B., Dalkmann, H., Edelenbosch, O. Y., Geels, F. W., Grubler, A. & Hepburn, C. 2018. Towards demand-side solutions for mitigating climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 8, 268.
- Damgaard, C., Mccauley, D. & Long, J. 2017. Assessing the energy justice implications of bioenergy development in Nepal. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, 7, 8.
- Day, R., Walker, G. & Simcock, N. 2016. Conceptualising energy use and energy poverty using a capabilities framework. *Energy Policy*, 93, 255-264.
- Dbeis 2017. Annual Fuel Poverty Statistics Report, 2017 (2015 DATA).

- Demski, C., Thomas, G., Becker, S., Evensen, D. & Pidgeon, N. 2019. Acceptance of energy transitions and policies: Public conceptualisations of energy as a need and basic right in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 33-45.
- Fell, M. J. 2017. Energy services: A conceptual review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 27, 129-140.
- Feng, K., Hubacek, K., Guan, D., Contestabile, M., Minx, J. & Barrett, J. 2010. Distributional effects of climate change taxation: the case of the UK. ACS Publications.
- Fraser, N. 1997. Justice interruptus: Critical reflections on the" postsocialist" condition, Routledge.
- Gardoni, P. & Murphy, C. 2009. Capabilities-based approach to measuring the societal impacts of natural and man-made hazards in risk analysis. *Natural hazards review*, 10, 29-37.
- Gaye, A. 2007. Access to energy and human development. Human development report, 2008.
- Gillard, R., Snell, C. & Bevan, M. 2017. Advancing an energy justice perspective of fuel poverty: Household vulnerability and domestic retrofit policy in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 29, 53-61.
- Hananel, R. & Berechman, J. 2016. Justice and transportation decision-making: The capabilities approach. *Transport Policy*, 49, 78-85.
- Healy, N., Stephens, J. C. & Malin, S. A. 2019. Embodied energy injustices: Unveiling and politicizing the transboundary harms of fossil fuel extractivism and fossil fuel supply chains. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 219-234.
- Holland, B. 2008. Justice and the Environment in Nussbaum's "Capabilities Approach" Why Sustainable Ecological Capacity Is a Meta-Capability. *Political research quarterly*, 61, 319-332.
- Holland, B. 2014. Allocating the earth: A distributional framework for protecting capabilities in environmental law and policy, OUP Oxford.
- Holland, B. 2017. Procedural justice in local climate adaptation: political capabilities and transformational change. *Environmental Politics*, 26, 391-412.
- Iea 2011. Energy For All. Financing Access for the Poor. Special Early Excerpt of the World Energy Outlook 2011.
- Iea 2012. CO2 Emissions From Fuel Combustion. Highlights.
- Iea 2017. Key world energy statistics. IEA.
- Ipcc 2015. Climate change 2014: Mitigation of climate change, Cambridge University Press.
- Ipcc 2018. Global Warming of 1.5 °C. Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change
- Karekezi, S., Mcdade, S., Boardman, B. & Kimani, J. 2012. Energy, poverty and development.
- Lamb, W. F. & Steinberger, J. K. 2017. Human well-being and climate change mitigation. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 8, e485.
- Lane, R. & Mcnaught, R. 2009. Building gendered approaches to adaptation in the Pacific. *Gender & Development*, 17, 67-80.
- Liddell, C. & Morris, C. 2010. Fuel poverty and human health: A review of recent evidence. *Energy Policy*, 38, 2987-2997.
- Lucas, K., Mattioli, G., Verlinghieri, E. & Guzman, A. Transport poverty and its adverse social consequences. Proceedings of the institution of civil engineers-transport, 2016. Thomas Telford (ICE Publishing), 353-365.
- Malakar, Y., Greig, C. & Van De Fliert, E. 2018. Structure, agency and capabilities: Conceptualising inertia in solid fuel-based cooking practices. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 40, 45-53.
- Marino, E. & Ribot, J. 2012. Special Issue Introduction: Adding insult to injury: Climate change and the inequities of climate intervention. *Global Environmental Change*, 22, 323-328.
- Martínez, D. M. & Ebenhack, B. W. 2008. Understanding the role of energy consumption in human development through the use of saturation phenomena. *Energy Policy*, 36, 1430-1435.
- Mattioli, G. 2016. Transport needs in a climate-constrained world. A novel framework to reconcile social and environmental sustainability in transport. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 18, 118-128.
- Mattioli, G. 2017. "Forced car ownership" in the UK and Germany: socio-spatial patterns and potential economic stress impacts. *Social Inclusion*, 5, 147-160.
- Mattioli, G., Lucas, K. & Marsden, G. 2017. Transport poverty and fuel poverty in the UK: From analogy to comparison. *Transport Policy*, 59, 93-105.

- Mccauley, D. & Heffron, R. 2018. Just transition: Integrating climate, energy and environmental justice. *Energy Policy*, 119, 1-7.
- Mitchell, T. 2011. Carbon democracy: Political power in the age of oil, Verso Books.

Nussbaum, M. C. 2000. The costs of tragedy: Some moral limits of cost-benefit analysis. *The Journal* of Legal Studies, 29, 1005-1036.

- Nussbaum, M. C. 2001. *Women and human development: The capabilities approach*, Cambridge University Press.
- O'neill, J. 2008. Happiness and the good life. Environmental Values, 125-144.
- Opschoor, H. 2010. Sustainable development and a dwindling carbon space. *Environmental and resource economics*, 45, 3-23.
- Pachauri, R. K., Allen, M. R., Barros, V. R., Broome, J., Cramer, W., Christ, R., Church, J. A., Clarke, L., Dahe, Q. & Dasgupta, P. 2014. *Climate change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, IPCC.
- Robeyns, I. 2003. Sen's capability approach and gender inequality: selecting relevant capabilities. *Feminist economics*, 9, 61-92.
- Robeyns, I. 2016. *The Capability Approach* [Online]. The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Winter 2016 Edition). Available:

https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2016/entries/capability-approach [Accessed].

- Schlosberg, D. 2012. Climate justice and capabilities: a framework for adaptation policy. *Ethics & International Affairs*, 26, 445-461.
- Sen, A. 1992. Inequality reexamined, Clarendon Press.
- Sen, A. 2001. Development as freedom, Oxford Paperbacks.
- Sen, A. 2003. Human Development Index: Methodology and Measurement.
- Shue, H. 2014. Climate justice: Vulnerability and protection, Oxford University Press, USA.
- Simcock, N. & Mullen, C. 2016. Energy demand for everyday mobility and domestic life: Exploring the justice implications. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 18, 1-6.
- Smith, M. L. & Seward, C. 2009. The relational ontology of Amartya Sen's capability approach: incorporating social and individual causes. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 10, 213-235.
- Snell, C., Bevan, M. & Thomson, H. 2015. Justice, fuel poverty and disabled people in England. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 10, 123-132.
- Sovacool, B., Sidortsov, R. & Jones, B. 2014. Deciphering energy justice and injustice. *Energy* Security, Equality and Justice. Routledge, Abingdon and New York.
- Sovacool, B. K. 2014. Energy, poverty, and development, Routledge.
- Sovacool, B. K., Axsen, J. & Sorrell, S. 2018. Promoting novelty, rigor, and style in energy social science: Towards codes of practice for appropriate methods and research design. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 45, 12-42.
- Sovacool, B. K., Heffron, R. J., Mccauley, D. & Goldthau, A. 2016. Energy decisions reframed as justice and ethical concerns. *Nature Energy*, 1, 16024.
- Sovacool, B. K., Sidortsov, R. V. & Jones, B. R. 2013. Energy security, equality and justice, Routledge.
- Springmann, M., Mason-D'croz, D., Robinson, S., Wiebe, K., Godfray, H. C. J., Rayner, M. & Scarborough, P. 2017. Mitigation potential and global health impacts from emissions pricing of food commodities. *Nature Climate Change*, 7, 69-74.
- Stanton, E. A. 2007. The human development index: A history.
- Starkey, R. 2012. Personal carbon trading: A critical survey: Part 1: Equity. *Ecological Economics*, 73, 7-18.
- Steinberger, J. K. & Roberts, J. T. 2010. From constraint to sufficiency: The decoupling of energy and carbon from human needs, 1975–2005. *Ecological Economics*, 70, 425-433.
- Swarup, A., Dankelman, I., Ahluwalia, K. & Hawrylyshyn, K. 2011. *Weathering the storm: Adolescent girls and climate change*, Plan International London.
- Un 2005. The energy challenge for achieving the millennium development goals. New York.
- Walker, G. & Day, R. 2012. Fuel poverty as injustice: Integrating distribution, recognition and procedure in the struggle for affordable warmth. *Energy Policy*, 49, 69-75.

- Wier, M., Birr-Pedersen, K., Jacobsen, H. K. & Klok, J. 2005. Are CO2 taxes regressive? Evidence from the Danish experience. *Ecological Economics*, 52, 239-251.
- Wier, M., Lenzen, M., Munksgaard, J. & Smed, S. 2001. Effects of Household Consumption Patterns on CO2 Requirements AU *Economic Systems Research*, 13, 259-274.
- Wolff, J. & De-Shalit, A. 2007. Disadvantage, Oxford university press on demand.
- Woodcock, J., Edwards, P., Tonne, C., Armstrong, B. G., Ashiru, O., Banister, D., Beevers, S., Chalabi, Z., Chowdhury, Z., Cohen, A., Franco, O. H., Haines, A., Hickman, R., Lindsay, G., Mittal, I., Mohan, D., Tiwari, G., Woodward, A. & Roberts, I. 2009. Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: urban land transport. *The Lancet*, 374, 1930-1943.
- York, R. 2012. Do alternative energy sources displace fossil fuels? Nature Climate Change, 2, 441.

# Chapter 3 Substantiating Energy Justice: creating a space to understand energy dilemmas

N. Wood, K. Roelich

#### Abstract:

This paper explores the relationships between the moral philosophical foundations and strategic goals of two conceptions of energy justice; the 'triumvirate conception' and the 'principled approach'. We explore the extent to which the goals of these approaches align with their core aims and strategies. Having initially been developed to capture and reflect the values of activist-led environmental justice movements, we find that the triumvirate approach's adoption of a trivalent conception of justice currently lies in tension with its overarching top-down approach. We note that the principled approach does not face the same tensions as the triumvirate conception of energy justice but would benefit from illustrating the consequences of framing the same energy dilemma with conflicting moral theories. Aiming to ameliorate these limitations and further develop conceptions of energy justice, we outline a case study of hydro power in Hirakud, India and propose a framework which illustrates how using differing theories of justice to conceptualise the same energy dilemmas can result in substantially different normative framings and guidance. We illustrate how this framework, combined with a pluralistic appeal to moral theory can enable both approaches to draw on a wider range of moral theory to assess energy dilemmas. This in turn provides a broader socio-political backdrop in which to view energy dilemmas. We outline how this backdrop contributes to the creation of a space in which the grievances of those who suffer in relation to energy systems and be heard and better understood.

#### 3.1 Introduction

The term 'energy justice' can be a source of confusion as it describes both a research agenda and a set of conceptual approaches. As a research agenda, energy justice has focused on a range of issues that arise in relation to energy systems from issues of access such as fuel and energy poverty, to issues regarding the extraction, production, and distribution of energy, and how such issues relate to ideas of "justice" and "fairness". The idea of justice in particular has been drawn on in ways ranging from broad and ambiguous interpretation, synonymous with intuitive ideals of fairness, to the application of accounts of justice drawn straight from moral and political theory. Bickerstaff et al. (2013) for example, contains a collection of works which engage with justice scholarship at various levels of abstraction to discuss and frame different sets of energy dilemmas such a fuel poverty, energy vulnerability, nuclear energy, and sustainable energy transitions. Elsewhere, the scholarship has drawn on a diversity of moral

theory to develop discrete conceptions of energy justice which can be used to frame and respond to a range of energy dilemmas throughout whole energy systems (McCauley et al., 2013, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014).

In this paper we focus on two prominent conceptions of energy justice: the conception set out in McCauley et al. (2013), which we refer to as the triumvirate conception of energy justice (TCEJ); and the conception set out initially in Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) *Global Energy Justice*, which we refer to as the principled approach.

Both approaches share some similarities in that their goals broadly revolve around integrating ideas of justice or fairness into energy policy and decision making processes (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014, Jenkins et al., 2017a). However, their use of moral theory to underpin their given conceptions of what the "justice" in energy justice consists of diverges in a number of ways, as do their respective strategies of attaining their individual goals.

We therefore focus on three aspects of these approaches; their use of moral theory to underpin their respective conceptions of energy justice, their overall goals, and the strategies which underpin them. By "strategies" we mean the conceptual outputs that enable the attainment of their respective goals. These might take the form of heuristic frameworks through which to view and inform on energy dilemmas for example. We posit that tensions between these three facets, to varying extents are inhibiting the ability of each approach to create a space in which to hear and understand the voices and grievances of those who are subject to the ills of energy systems. By extension, we argue that the absence of this space, to varying extents, inhibits the ability of these approaches to normatively inform energy policy and decision-makers.

When drawing on moral theory to create a new approach, it should follow that the motivating moral theory of an approach should also be embodied in its goals and strategies. Put simply, we can ask if the underlying values motivating an approach to energy justice are reflected in its overall goals and accompanying strategies. This is a pertinent question since the elaboration and interpretation of any given moral theory or concept will substantially influence how it is structured and operationalised. This in turn dictates whether an approach is successful in creating a useful space in which the grievances of those who are subject to the ills of energy systems can be heard and better understood. Such a space is required if energy dilemmas are to be understood in relation to broader social and political circumstances which might underpin them.

From here, we use the term 'moral theory' broadly to refer to the philosophical ideas on which these conceptions of energy justice are based. For example, the triumvirate approach to energy justice describes justice as consisting of distributive, procedural and recognition-based ideals – broad concepts

which find their basis in both moral and political theory (Jenkins, 2018). Although such concepts also find their roots in political philosophy, for now, we refer to these collectively as "moral theory". We use this term to describe sets of rules and concepts which allow us to evaluate existing situations through various justice lenses, provide guidance as to what we *ought* to do in response and which describe structures and goods (and their accompanying distributions) we should use to articulate the normative aspects these issues (see section 3.3). We expand on these concepts further in the paper, illustrating how different moral theories can be used to create a space in which to explore and understand energy dilemmas and their relationship to people's lives.

Our contribution is not necessarily to advocate for a single approach to conceptualising or articulating energy related injustice, but rather to provide a framework which enables energy justice scholars to explore, utilize, and critique a wide range of moral theory in reference to energy dilemmas. In particular, our framework provides a means of critiquing the given usefulness and ability of various moral theories to frame energy dilemmas in reference to broader socio-political situations which underpin them. Later we explain how this ability to frame an energy dilemma within a broader socio-political circumstance is necessary in coming to understand how energy dilemmas come to impact the people and societies they do.

We identify two key areas where approaches to energy justice could be strengthened:

• A stronger outline and discussion of the moral foundations on which the various approaches rest, including how such accounts relate to or conflict with the non-philosophical, strategic aspects of each approach.

• A broader integration of a range of moral concepts and approaches, which in turn can act as a source of normative guidance and a means of embedding complex energy dilemmas within broader socio-political situations.

The paper is structured as follows. The triumvirate and principled approaches' moral and strategic underpinnings are critiqued and compared (section 3.2). Potential short-comings, tensions and areas which could be further developed are used to motivate a discussion regarding the effective pluralistic use of moral theory in analysing and conceptualising energy dilemmas (section 3.3). This discussion is then applied to a case study on the construction of the Hirakud hydro power dam, which illustrates the benefits and limitations of using different moral theories in analysing and framing energy dilemmas and producing normative guidance. In particular, we emphasise that different moral theories may yield significantly different normative outlooks and guidance (Section 3.4). Based on this case study we outline a framework regarding the use of moral theory in framing energy dilemmas within a broader socio-political context whilst creating a conceptual space in which to analyse and understand energy

dilemmas and the grievances of those who endure them. We then outline how this framework, combined with the adoption of a broad pluralism can to varying extents, help ameliorate the tensions within both the triumvirate and principled approaches to energy justice (section 3.5 & 3.6).

# 3.2 The world through an energy justice lens

In this section, we outline the relationships between the underlying moral theory, strategies, and goals of the triumvirate and principled approaches to energy justice.

# 3.2.1 The triumvirate conception: foundation and theory

The triumvirate conception of energy justice (TCEJ) has had significant uptake in broader energy justice discourse, being utilised in a growing number of empirical and conceptual works (Healy et al., 2019, Demski et al., 2019, Sareen and Haarstad, 2018, Jenkins, 2018, Jenkins et al., 2018, Gillard et al., 2017, Damgaard et al., 2017, Fuller and McCauley, 2016)<sup>18</sup>, as well as being the subject of numerous reviews (Jenkins et al., 2014, Jenkins et al., 2016, Heffron and McCauley, 2017). As this paper is concerned with the TCEJ's moral foundations and strategic goals, we focus primarily on conceptual contributions to the approach as opposed to its applications (McCauley et al., 2013, Heffron et al., 2015, Heffron and McCauley, 2014, Jenkins et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2014).

# 3.2.1.1 Moral Theory

Although the seminal TCEJ paper by McCauley et al. (2013) refers briefly to work on both environmental and climate justice, the approach most closely resembles Schlosberg's trivalent conception of environmental justice with McCauley et al. (2013) stating that energy justice is 'founded in literature on environmental justice' simultaneously citing Schlosberg (Schlosberg, 2013, Schlosberg, 2009). The approach consists of a "triumvirate of tenets"; distribution, recognition and procedure, which are also found Schlosberg's (2004) earlier conceptions of environmental justice (Jenkins et al., 2016, McCauley et al., 2013).<sup>19</sup>

Based on Jenkins et al. (2016) and McCauley et al. (2013):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> This is not an exhaustive list, the number of works which now utilise the triumvirate energy justice framework is far larger.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> We were aware of an exploration of restorative justice by Heffron and McCauley, (2017). However, in a following paper in McCauley and Heffron (2018) create a 'new triumvirate of tenets (distributional, procedural and restorative)' although recognition is still briefly discussed in the paper it is omitted from the triumvirate without explanation. As such we focus on the initial conception of TCEJ which has had wider uptake within energy justice discourse.

• The distributional aspects of energy justice attempts to capture "where injustices emerge", be this spatially or temporally - in other words how the benefits and burdens that energy systems produce are distributed through space and over time.

• Recognition focuses on how parties, communities and individuals are represented and recognised in reference to energy related events and situations. For example, how indigenous people might be overlooked during the decision making process of coal mining<sup>20</sup> or how low-income, fuel poor households might be under-represented in the development of energy policy<sup>21</sup>. The concept of recognition is largely based on work by Nancy Fraser (Fraser, 1996).

• Procedural justice focuses on the processes and means of ameliorating injustices which have been identified i.e. which procedures and structures could be implemented that incorporate previously misrecognised parties (McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016).

It is worth noting that despite mentioning "just outcomes", "just distributions" and "injustices" a number of times the authors of this approach do not specify what they take justice to mean or consist of – whether this is through theoretical accounts or testimony and claim making (McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016, Jenkins, 2018).

The approach also embodies aspects of cosmopolitan justice, viewing all humans as 'world citizens' whom are of equal moral worth and standing (Heffron et al., 2015). This global view of justice is discussed in relation to transboundary energy dilemmas such as nuclear energy and its governing intuitions (Heffron et al., 2015).

This cosmopolitan outlook is reflected in the TCEJ's goals. McCauley et al. (2013) state the TCEJ "aims to provide all individuals, across all areas, with safe, affordable and sustainable energy." And this goal is restated in Heffron and McCauley (2014), Jenkins et al. (2014), Jenkins et al. (2017a), Jenkins et al. (2017b) and Jenkins (2018).

In a much cited conceptual review, Jenkins et al. (2016) outline how the triumvirate conception offers an opportunity to explore where injustices occur and how these might be avoided or remedied stating that it is 'an agenda that inspires both evaluative accounts and normative solutions' (p.176). The TCEJ has been framed as a tool for addressing dilemmas through whole energy systems, from production to consumption (Jenkins et al., 2014). Much of the conceptual work on the TCEJ has thus focused on relating these tenets to existing energy dilemmas or methods of informing decision-makers. Jenkins et

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Healy (2018) for an account of 'embodied energy injustices' in relation to open-pit coal mining in La Guajira, Colombia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Gillard et al., (2017) posit that the efficacy of policy responses to fuel poverty are curbed through misrecognition.

al. (2016) discuss a range of ways in which the principles manifest in practice. For example, procedural aspects of the approach are reflected in processes of mobilising local knowledge and information disclosure, whilst ideas of mal-distribution and mal-recognition are used to frame a wide range of energy dilemmas, from Germany's energy strategy *energiewende*, which is framed as producing distributional injustices<sup>22</sup>; to links to the mal-recognition of vulnerable groups in the UK and their vulnerability to fuel poverty.

#### 3.2.1.2 Strategies, goals and underlying tensions

The TCEJ is argued to have two key strategic benefits which other justice (environment and climate) movements lack (Heffron et al., 2015, Jenkins, 2018):

- It provides a way to focus on energy dilemmas in isolation from broader issues.
- Its use as a decision-support tool which offers a means of 'embedding justice in policy'.

Both these benefits rest heavily on critiques of environmental and climate justice, in particular that certain aspects of these movements have limited their success in affecting policy (Heffron et al., 2015, Jenkins, 2018).

Jenkins (2018) argues that 'one of the challenges and therefore potential failings of the environmental and climate justice movement is their breadth and lack of clearly defined content.' Jenkin's outlines how energy justice provides a means of 'bounding' out energy dilemmas from wider range of issues addressed by environmental and climate justice movements (Jenkins, 2018 p.119).<sup>23</sup> Jenkins (2018) then outlines that through adopting a whole systems perspective (viewing energy systems from extraction through to consumption and waste), energy justice can focus on the dilemmas that arise at each stage of a whole energy system in isolation from other societal issues.

This approach of bounding and separating out particular energy dilemmas from broader discourses is in-turn facilitated through the adoption of a 'top-down methodology' (Jenkins, 2018). Jenkins argues that this top-down methodology is enabled because of energy justices' 'lack of an anti-establishment past' that 'opens the door for significant contributions to mainstream policy-making'. Jenkins goes on, echoing critique from Heffron et al. (2015):

'Energy justice does so by overcoming what may be identified as the "naïve" approaches of environmental and climate justice – the presumption that society would support their ideals - focusing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This is one of many examples of energy injustices outlined in Jenkins et al. (2016), we recommend viewing the paper for more.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> It is worth noting that Jenkin's quotes Bickerstaff et al. (2013) who are referring to energy justice as a discourse and not the TCEJ in particular.
instead on embedding justice in policy. This "top-down" methodology offers the potential for a refined "practice" (Jenkins, 2018 p.120).

Although Jenkins follows this with a caveat acknowledging the importance of recognition and activism, the integration these with top-down approaches represents something of a methodological issue for the TCEJ. The TCEJ is evidently critical of environmental justice's roots – it is true that the movement is broad and does not represent a concise body of literature with clearly defined content - but this is exactly what Schlosberg's conception of environmental justice, on which the TCEJ is largely based, sought to reflect. Schlosberg's trivalent account of environmental justice is an approach which was specifically developed as a space to accommodate and reflect the broad values of activist-led, community driven movements which accrue to produce a view of global environmental justice (Schlosberg, 2004, Schlosberg, 2009).

Environmental justice movements were motivated in part because the interests and values of marginalised groups were not being reflected and recognised by power-holders and in policy formation (Schlosberg, 2009, Walker, 2012). This is a key reason as to why recognition and a pluralistic conception of justice – the idea that there are many conceptions of "the good" and what is right - are key components of Scholsberg's trivalent approach. They exist to help articulate the idea that different groups will have different values and ways of expressing and articulating those values. So although TCEJ authors are acutely aware of the importance of recognition and activism, the TCEJ's foundations do not necessarily align with its core strategies of "top-down" policy making. As a result, the ability of the TCEJ to act as a space to explore energy dilemmas is curtailed.

To be clear we are certainly not arguing that a greater appeal and accessibility to policy makers is not beneficial, rather we posit that this method is in tension with the TCEJs own foundations. Environmental justice movements arose because the voices of multiple community and activist led groups were not being heard and reflected in existing environmental policy processes (Walker, 2012).

This tension then brings the approach's goal of providing "all individuals, across all areas, with safe, affordable and sustainable energy" into question. This goal is distinctly prescriptive and top-down. Granted there is an expansive range of literature which can be used to support the claim that energy, in some form, is an essential part of all human lives. But this is not explored or defined in reference to this goal, nor are definitions of "sustainable", "safe" and "affordable" given in reference to the goal (although these concepts are discussed in TCEJ literature). The goal is rather vague – this might be purposeful, but this is neither stated nor explained. In a sense, the goal embodies traits of mal-recognition, the same dynamics the approach is keen to ameliorate – it embodies the assumption that all communities prescribe to this goal. Broader energy research includes an abundance of accounts of

how the attempts of states or power-holders to supply energy to communities who aren't consulted results in a range of distributive and recognition issues (Healy et al., 2019).

It is worth noting the similarities between this goal and the 7<sup>th</sup> sustainable development goal of ensuring 'access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all (United Nations, 2018). Hillerbrand (2018) offer a critique of the 7<sup>th</sup> sustainable development goal, which to a large extent mirrors the goal of the TCEJ to provide all individuals with "safe, affordable and sustainable energy". Hillerbrand argue that this goal fails to adequately capture the interconnections between the environment, humans, and technology and by doing so inhibits the goals implementation. Although TCEJ authors do discuss the socio-technical nature of energy systems they do not attempt to explain or justify their goal of providing safe, affordable, and sustainable energy for all in reference to these concepts or their own trivalent approach.

#### 3.2.2 The Principled Approach; foundation and theory

The principled approach proposed by Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) in *Global Energy Justice* sets out a conception of energy justice as a means to produce 'a global energy system that fairly disseminates both the benefits and costs of energy services, and one that contributes to more representative and impartial energy decision-making'.

#### 3.2.2.1 Moral Theory

Sovacool and Dworkin lay out a broad exploration of a range of moral theories and conceptions of justice. Sovacool et al. (2017) states 'in very simple terms: [energy justice] attempts to apply principles and concepts from social justice to the global energy system in its broadest sense' (p.677). The principled approach, like the TCEJ, reflects distributive, procedural and recognition-based values to justice but these emerge in an eight principled conception of energy justice<sup>24</sup>. Before outlining their approach Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) present and outline numerous moral theories. Each is then paired with differing energy dilemmas to illustrate how a particular theory might frame and offer normative guidance in ameliorating the issue being discussed. For example, they justify the implementation of a carbon tax through drawing on utilitarian thinkers such as Jeremy Bentham and John Stuart Mill, arguing that such policies might increase the overall utility of a populous. In another chapter, Sovacool and Dworkin discuss energy poverty through a capabilitarian and contractarian lens, referencing the work of John Rawls, Martha Nussbaum, and Amartya Sen.

Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) (p.374) describe their approach:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> In Sovacool et al. (2017) resistance and intersectionality also debut on the list of principles.

'Our energy justice framework has elements of Kantian ethics, which takes each person as an end. It has libertarian elements of freedom and choice, suggesting that good societies present people with a set of opportunities or substantial freedoms, so they can choose to exercise these or not. It is pluralist about value, holding that capabilities for people are different and also that their own interests vary. It is concerned with justice as recognition, noting that failures of procedural justice can result in discrimination and marginalization. It, also, has elements focused on utilitarianism and welfare, attempting to improve the quality of life for all people, as defined by their capabilities.'

The earliest conception of this approach drew almost exclusively on western-centric theories of justice. However, Sovacool et al. (2017 p.678) illustrates how the principled approach to justice can 'tap into the rich insights offered by non-western justice theorists', drawing on such concepts and approaches as Ubuntu, Confucianism, Dharma and a range of indigenous perspectives of the Americas, as well nonhuman systems of value.

The principled conception seeks to connect energy policy and technology to eight philosophical concepts: virtue, utility, human rights, procedural justice, welfare and happiness, freedom, posterity, and fairness (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2015). The approach then uses these concepts to frame eight energy issues as matters of justice. These principles are underlined by a cosmopolitan foundation implying that they are universally applicable and reflect the equal moral worth of all humans (Sovacool et al., 2016). The main output of these principles is a conceptual framework consisting of eight values which should be embraced by decision and policy-makers; availability, affordability, due process, transparency and accountability, sustainability, intergenerational equity, intra-generational equity and responsibility.

#### 3.2.2.2 Strategies, goals, and underlying tensions

Sovacool and Dworkin (2015) position the approach as a useful analytical and decision-making tool for framing and responding to energy dilemmas. LaBelle (2017) describes how the cosmopolitan aspects of this approach allow it to act as a universal, normative check-list for energy decision making and this seems very much to be the approach's strategy – to investigate and apply the principles and lessons from a range of works of justice to the complex issues which arise in relation to energy systems.

This does well to illustrate how framing a specific issue, for example energy poverty, with a given theory of justice can yield valuable normative guidance and ethical framings, which help move to ameliorate the issue. These framings often prove their use through creating a conceptual space in which the experience of energy poverty can be articulated and better understood. Despite drawing on a range of moral theory they do not subscribe to one particular notion of the good, and instead subscribe to a pluralistic conception of value which is articulated through the concept of capability (which we expand on later). They illustrate the benefit of using a given theory in assessing a given energy dilemma.

Of course, one could argue that the selection of a given set of values to analyse an energy dilemma might just follow the views of the author i.e. an author might choose a theory that reflects their existing values and conclusions. However, the importance of theory becomes particularly important when analysing a complex energy dilemma that might not necessarily be directly voiced or seen by a given group. For example, Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) draw on an Aristotelian approach to describe why efficiency is key to a functioning energy system. The efficiency of large scale energy systems will impact people and different groups in many ways e.g. affordability and reliability. However, these issues might not be voiced in respect to the efficiency of the system supplying them energy, and when airing their grievance might not include any reference to efficiency or the broader energy system. As such, people who interact with any particular part of an energy system will be creating a local account of justice, which does not have the language necessary to offer guidance as to how to structure such a system. Through drawing on a particular theory, namely Aristotle's ideas of virtue and happiness, Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) are able to outline the value of an energy system aimed towards the betterment of human lives.

Although this exploration of moral theory has resulted in a well-grounded set of principles, we note that the methods presented by Sovacool and Dworkin currently have some limitations. First, although their exploration of justice theory is substantial, there is no clear explanation as to why one theory is used to frame a specific issue and not another. For example, why energy poverty is framed by contractarian and capabilitarian approaches and not libertarian or human rights-based approaches. This poses an issue for their normative check-list, it does not yet explain why it frames one issue with a particular moral theory and not another. Therefore another level of justification is required to explain the particular selection of moral theory which underpin the values in this energy justice approach. Second, Sovacool and Dworkin select specific and different conceptions of justice to conceptualise a number of different energy related issues (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014 pp.14-15). As a result, the approach does not illustrate how framing the very same energy issue through a different approach to justice can yield drastically different normative conclusions (although they acknowledge that different ideas of justice can and will conflict<sup>25</sup>).

This is a particularly pertinent point which relates to broader energy justice discourse. There is a need to explain why certain moral theories are used over others in the formulation of energy justice approaches. This might be to do with a moral theories' ability to capture the complex interactions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) p.18 and pp.372-372 where the authors acknowledge tensions between moral theories and touch on issues of relativism.

humans have with energy systems, or the normative principles which might best guide and frame future energy policy decisions. Regardless of the reason, the selection of moral approaches and concepts will alter the normative outlook and the operationalisation of the approach. Since these approaches are intended to have real-world impacts through use in research, policy and decision making the use of moral theory to provide guidance must be balanced with the ability of a given approach to energy justice to capture and understand the experiences of those who endure energy dilemmas.

# 3.2.3 Summarising both approaches

In sum both approaches, to varying degrees, could be improved by expanding on their engagement with moral theory (table 3-1). Both are limited in creating a space through which to analyse or understand energy dilemmas, and this limits the efficacy of both approaches in effectively conveying the impact of energy dilemmas on people's lives to policy and decision-makers.

Table 3-1 The foundational theory, strategies,	goals and underlying	tensions of the t	triumvirate o	approach a	and
principled approach to energy justice compared	<i>l</i> .				

	The triumvirate approach	The principled approach
Foundational theory	The approach primarily appeals to a trivalent account of justice, consisting of three broad dimensions; distributive, recognition-based and procedural justice. These three dimensions are used to frame and normatively advise on different aspects of energy dilemmas.	The approach appeals to a range of moral theories and perspectives and in doing so has distilled a range of principles through which to frame, analyse and advise on energy dilemmas.
Strategies and goals	This approach is intended to be used as a "decision-support tool" and as a means of embedding ideas of justice in policy via a top-down methodology (See McCauley et al. 2017). This approach is accompanied by the method of separately focusing on energy dilemmas in isolation from broader issues.	A normative check-list to be used by policy and decision- makers consisting of eight values; availability, affordability, due process, transparency and accountability, sustainability, intergenerational equity, intra-generational equity and responsibility.

Underlying	The TCEJ requires additional concepts	The approach has provided only
tensions	and framings if it is to create a useful	a limited justification as to why
	conceptual space in which the grievances	it chose the values and theories
	of those who suffer in relation to energy	it did. Such an explanation is
	systems can be articulated, heard and	warranted if the approach is to
	better understood. Without the creation	justify why such a combination
	of this space it is hard to see how the	of theories can produce the
	approach can achieve its goal of better	necessary space in which to
	integrating ideas of justice into energy	articulate and act on grievances
	policy. This difficulty is compounded by	which arise in relation to the
	the approach's apparent dismissal of the	energy dilemmas the approach
	grass-roots, activist values on which the	discusses.
	trivalent account of justice was initially	
	founded. The same logic applies to the	
	justification of their goal of safe,	
	affordable and sustainable energy for all.	
	The approach currently lacks the	
	concepts necessary to justify this goal or	
	explain why it might relate to the	
	attainment or avoidance of some	
	conception of justice or injustice.	

# 3.3 Moral theory and a space for understanding energy justice

In this section, we outline how certain ways of employing of moral theory can help frame and make sense of energy dilemmas. In turn, we explain how these framings help to create the conceptual spaces required for current approaches to energy justice to produce meaningful insights and normative guidance. We outline how different moral theories can paint drastically different normative views of a given situation and subsequently produce different guidance regarding how to articulate or ameliorate an issue.

The vast quantity and diversity of justice scholarship makes it difficult to define exactly what a moral theory or account of justice does or aims to do. As such we do not attempt to characterise or provide a single definition of justice. A simple means to approach moral theory, as Sandel (2010) posits, is to view these theories as presenting answers to the question 'what's the right thing to do?' To answer this question we have to have some sort of account as to what makes something right or wrong. There are

two broad, and often inter-related perspectives, which offer explanations as to how this might be achieved. Firstly, we might assume that justice, is what those who claim to suffer injustice say it is<sup>26</sup>. However, we might have situations, especially in relation to energy systems in which claims of injustice vary in their severity. For example, how can we compare the claims of injustice of a group who have been violently displaced because of a coal mining operation and the claims of a community who argue a nearby wind development spoils their enjoyment of nearby landscapes? We take both these issues to be legitimate concerns but here moral accounts of right and wrong (the second perspective), if used pensively, can create spaces and language through which those suffering oppression or hardship, and its severity can be heard and understood.

The idea outlined in the following section is thus that certain moral theories and ideas of justice can help to create spaces to articulate and understand the impacts of energy dilemmas on people's lives, but with the requirement that these spaces must be broad enough to incorporate a diverse range of voices and conceptions of what is right. This breadth or scope for a diversity of understandings of what is good or just is what we will refer to from here as pluralism. Pluralism in this sense reflects the idea that there exist multiple, overlapping and sometimes conflicting conceptions of what is right (Schlosberg, 2009). A useful example and application of pluralism is found in Schlosberg's account of environmental justice (Schlosberg, 2004, Schlosberg, 2009). Schlosberg's account embodies a broad pluralism as to create space for the articulation of grievances from a diversity of communities who form the environmental justice movement. Schlosberg notes that many accounts of pluralism arose as critiques of universalist and singular conceptions of justice following arguments regarding the inability of a singular approach to reflect real life experiences of injustice (Schlosberg, 2009). Despite this, Schlosberg does not conclude that these theories have no use or value and instead argues:

'We have numerous components and conceptions of justice, and see that different and multiple theories can apply to various issues, cases, and contexts. Using the range of theories available to us, and understanding how they overlap and interact, will illuminate problems more thoroughly. Such an approach will also bring us to see that what we may now understand as disparate issues and movements may be brought together with this shared and overlapping discourse of justice.'

Schlosberg (2009 p.173)

#### 3.4 Justice: different theories, different answers

A useful way to describe how moral theories answer the question "what's the right thing to do?" is by observing the good or 'metric of justice' through which they frame the world. Saying 'good' or 'metric' here does not necessarily refer to something material like resources. Although many theories and works

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> This if often referred to as "claim making". Walker (2012) offers a useful explanation of this practice.

focus on resources or wealth, these terms can refer to abstract concepts, such as a human rights, positions of power, or aspects of well-being such as relationships and dignity. Robeyns and Brighouse (2010) frame this as asking 'what should we look at, when evaluating whether one state of affairs is more or less just than another?' Robeyns and Brighouse are referring to metrics of justice (sometimes referred to as 'currencies of justice').

Often theories provide a way of describing how societies function and which structures, procedures and institutions might be required to facilitate this. These might be conceptions of the state, nations, international bodies and courts, (for example the study of these institutions, their underlying values and how citizens interact with one another through them - this falls under 'political philosophy'). These institutions are often highly idealised and can embody normative assumptions, however, used with caution, they can add to a theory's ability to frame the world through offering a broader socio-political backdrop in which to embed particular events or situations. As we expand on later depending on the theory, such 'metrics' can be used to capture and reflect both social and political maldistributions within a society.

We compare the framings and insights produced by Jeremy Bentham's utilitarianism and Martha Nussbaum's capabilities approach when applied to the same energy dilemma. It is worth noting that Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) draw on both Nussbaum and Bentham in different chapters of *Global Energy Justice* - it is worth consulting this text to explore how these approaches can be applied to individual energy issues. However, they do not compare and contrast these theories using the same case – which is what we do below as a means of illustrating the variance of normative guidance different moral theories can provide when assessing the same energy dilemma. For each approach, we identify the metric of justice and the distribution of the good that they describe.

Some of the conclusions from this case study may seem initially intuitive and obvious, but the point here is not necessarily to provide a conclusion as to whether the project was morally right or wrong, but to illustrate how the use of theory to frame an energy dilemma can yield substantially different framings and insights.

#### 3.4.1 Bentham's Utilitarianism

Jeremy Bentham begins *An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation* stating 'nature has placed mankind under the governance of two sovereign masters, pain and pleasure. It is for them alone to point out what we ought to do, as well as to determine what we shall do' (Bentham, 1781). Sandel (2010) suggests that through this reasoning Bentham concluded that the aim of morality should be to maximise happiness i.e. the overall balance of pleasure over pain. Actions and events which stand to promote happiness are therefore morally permissible, and ones that do not, are not. As such, the right

thing to do in any given situation is the action that will maximise overall pleasure within society (Bentham termed this "utility").

The metric of justice used by Bentham here is clearly utility, the distribution of which ensures that aggregate utility is maximised within a society. Sandel notes that Bentham not only intended this logic for decisions made by individuals but also by legislators and policy makers (Sandel, 2010). These ideas, in theory, could therefore lend themselves to the assessment of many issues pertinent to policy and decision-making themes in energy justice. However, utilitarianism has been heavily criticised by numerous scholars for its lack of attention of individual rights and its ability to effectively articulate all moral actions into a single metric (Sandel, 2010).

It is worth noting that there are other approaches to utilitarianism that are more accommodating of individual rights and the unique value of different activities. For example John Stuart Mill's approach to utilitarianism argues that liberty is of upmost importance to the individual and that utility should be maximised over time. Mill also argued that not all sources of pleasure are commensurable but that some sources of pleasure – 'higher pleasures' – are better than others (Crisp, 2002, Mill, 1861). For simplicity, this section draws solely from Bentham's Utilitarianism to inform our comparison below. But using Mill's approach to frame a given event or situation would yield different normative conclusions and guidance<sup>27</sup> from both Bentham's Utilitarianism and Nussbaum's capability approach (which we outline next), as would any other approach to justice.

#### 3.4.2 Martha Nussbaum's central human capabilities

Martha Nussbaum's account of central human capabilities provides a partial theory of justice through which to frame the world. The term 'partial theory of justice', describes a theory that can explore certain injustices relevant to its prescriptions but cannot specify what to do once these prescriptions are fulfilled.<sup>28</sup> The approach focuses on what people are able to do and be. This indicates that each person must be viewed separately rather than on an aggregate level (this is converse to Bentham's utilitarianism) (Robeyns, 2016a). Nussbaum (2001) bases the concept of capability on the freedom to achieve a range of 'functionings'. 'Functionings' in turn are defined as the ability to do and be things which humans have reason to value. This can range from something fairly objective such as being free from illness (i.e. the capability of bodily health) to the abstract concepts of political and democratic participation (i.e. the capability of political control over one's environment). (Robeyns, 2016b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Mill's utilitarianism would consider liberty of individuals to have more weight relative to overall aggregate utility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See Robeyns (2016) for a further explanation.

The approach focuses on capabilities as ends in and of themselves, because the means for one person to achieve the same level of capability as another might be substantially different. For example, it might require significantly more resources for a less mobile person to gain the same level of bodily integrity as a more mobile person. Therefore, the approach foremost focuses on capability as opposed to the distribution of resources. Nussbaum argues that the state should ensure each citizen meets minimum threshold in each of a predefined list of capabilities; life; bodily health; bodily integrity; sense, imagination, and thought; emotions; practical reason; affiliation; other species; play; and control over one's environment. This is an adapted and shortened version the full account can be found in Nussbaum (2001) (pp.78-80).

In the case of this theory, the metric proposed is "capability", the distribution is one which ensures a minimum level of capabilities for all. If this level is not attained, it might reflect that a claim to justice exists (Nussbaum, 2003). This minimum threshold however can be quite high or equal for all if it has reason to be. For example, one might argue that the capability of political participation, must be equal in all to ensure that a democracy functions properly and fairly.

# 3.5 A case of hydro power: applying theory to produce a socio-political framing

The moral theories outlined above will offer different framings of both the benefits and burdens of events and situations which occur in relation to energy dilemmas. A common example of an energy dilemma is the construction of a hydro power dam, which has the potential to yield a high output of low emission, renewable energy and to manage flooding in vulnerable areas, yet often involves the mass displacement of local populations and extensive ecological damage. When introducing the concept of utility, Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) briefly draw on the example of the Hirakud Dam in Orissa, India. They note the dam yielded a number of benefits such as helping to mitigate flood risks, providing irrigation for 75,000 square kilometres of crop land, and the production of 207.5 MW of hydroelectricity (Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). However, they also note the costs of the dam's constructions; the permanent flooding of 600 square kilometres of land and the subsequent relocation of 150,000 people from 22,000 families – many of whom had complained about the project but had been overlooked. Those being resettled faced a number of risks including marginalisation in their new homes, unemployment and lack of access to common resources (Nayak, 2013). An important dynamic within many of these issues is that certain groups and people are more vulnerable than others. For example, women in particular face loss of livelihoods as a result of dislocation and are often faced with more precarious and dangerous sources of income (Gururaja, 2000). Infants and the elderly are also affected heavily by dislocation (Nayak, 2013).

Evidently, this project yielded both substantial costs and benefits. It is important here to note that framing such a complex situation with different moral theories won't necessarily yield a clear answer to whether or not a project was normatively the 'right thing to do' but will offer a perspective which might help inform or consult people on a decision or broaden our understanding of the situation at hand. So far, we have outlined a number of statistics and consequences without any normative framing (except perhaps our own intuitions). Drawing on a set of moral theories will likely create or change our perspective on the normative content of the statistics.

Sovacool and Dworkin note that from a utilitarian perspective, particularly Bentham's, if the overall contribution to utility outweighs the loss then the project is worthwhile. Sovacool and Dworkin do not endorse the project themselves because of this conclusion but rather state what those of a utilitarian disposition might conclude. As Sovacool and Dworkin did, we can imagine the thought process of these utilitarians. The relocation and overlooking of the views of 150,000 people from 22,000 families, would likely be a source of substantial disutility, foremost for those having to resettle, but perhaps to for the conurbations which may have struggled to receive them. For the families, it may well have meant the severing of ties to treasured landscapes, particular ways of life, sources of income, friends and more distant relatives. To a Benthamite utilitarian, these costs would all translate into varying losses of utility. The benefits the project yielded, perhaps agricultural gains, the mitigation of the devastating impacts of floods, and the production of energy and the activities this subsequently enables, would yield gains in utility. The fact that different individuals might suffer more or less depending on their social background, gender and age is not accounted for in this approach and these gains might not necessarily have been obtained by the resettled individuals, but a Benthamite would only be concerned with the overall gain or loss of utility within a wider population. Thus if these benefits represented a gain in utility of the population overall then they would argue that undertaking the construction of the Hirakud dam was the right thing to do.

The above information of course can be reframed through a different moral lens, and changing this moral framing may yield substantially different outlooks and judgements. Framing the above through a capabilities lens does just this. The costs presented by the Hirakud dam can be framed in reference to Nussbaum's list of central human capabilities.

It is clear that many peoples' capabilities were compromised throughout this process. For example, the act of ignoring the complaints of those being forced to resettle might act to violate the capability of political control over one's environment. It is evident that this project and the subsequent relocation of many people was not a voluntary choice. Such a circumstance may well have reduced political capabilities of those being forced to resettle, and indeed their capability of bodily integrity. A number of other capabilities might be impacted by resettlement, the capability of affiliation would be impeded as resettled communities become fragmented from one another. Simultaneously the resettlement

process might take a greater toll on more vulnerable groups, for example the elderly and less mobile, such situations would likely result in the impairment of their capability of bodily health.

The dam simultaneously offered many means of capability enhancement. As outlined, the dam yielded a number of benefits, including flood mitigation, extra water resources and electricity. All of these benefits would likely have resulted in the enhancement of many people's capabilities. The avoidance of severe floods would have prevented the deprivation of many capabilities, such as bodily health, affiliation and even life. The extra water resources will likely have increased food security in certain areas which will have promoted numerous capabilities directly and indirectly. For example, bodily health depends in part on access to food and is essential for one to properly affiliate and engage in society. The electrical output from the dam is likely to have enhanced a number of capabilities. In being a source of both heat and lighting, it will have enabled many activities, for example, enabling children to study in the evenings thus enhancing capabilities such as practical reason.

The above benefits, however, would only be justifiable if those affected by the dam met a given threshold level of capabilities, which does not appear to be the case.<sup>29</sup> As a result, the initial assessment as to which aspects of a situation are voiced or framed as an injustice are going to differ depending on the moral frame which is used. It becomes clear that switching theories to analyse this event is likely to yield different conclusions as to which aspects of the project related to justice. Understanding the project through a metric such as capabilities enabled us to see which aspects of people's lives stood to be enhanced or compromised by the dam's construction. Subsequently, this approach can provide insights on alternative ways of delivering the dam or alternatives ways of meeting the goals of the dam (i.e. electricity, flood alleviation and irrigation resources) that do not compromise these capabilities or that meet them in different ways.

The utilitarian approach took a conceptual birds-eye view of events providing insights on an aggregate level, whilst the capability approach enabled the probing and conceptualisation of events which happen on a personal level. This dynamic feeds into the question of which moral theories lend themselves best to creating a space in which to capture, conceptualise and articulate the energy related injustice which energy justice frameworks seek to frame and ameliorate. In certain cases, a large scale energy project might be deemed necessary because its benefits outweigh its costs. However, this doesn't imply that the event and its consequences should be explored only through an aggregate lens. The complexities and nuances of such a project might better be explored through a different lens.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The capabilitarian perspective focusing on the lives of individual people, treating them as ends, would likely be opposed to the way in which people's threshold levels of capabilities were traded to the benefit of others. This isn't to say that the capability approach does not favour limiting the capabilities of some for the benefit of others if those people being limited have capability levels well above the sufficient threshold. See Robeyns, (2016c) for a further discussion on this.

# 3.6 Lessons for energy justice

In using multiple theories to frame an issue (table 3-2), a conceptual space begins to emerge in which the impacts of an event on people's lives and broader society can be explored in reference to certain values and socio-political circumstances. The circumstances provides a framing, or "socio-political backdrop" in which to contextualise the construction of the dam. A space was thus created which helped identify possible underlying situations which meant certain groups were already more vulnerable to this type of energy dilemma. The capabilities approach offered unique insights on the impacts of the dam on individual people's and communities' lives. Further, the approach pointed towards existing deprivations which likely compounded people's vulnerability to the burdens of energy dilemmas. Simultaneously, the utilitarian framing offered insights into the likely logic employed by the decision makers. Importantly this broad conceptual space is not just for academics and decision-makers to probe historic energy dilemmas to be voiced and better understood.

Table 3-2 A comparison of the normative framings, insights and guidance produced by separate capabilitarian and utilitarian framings applied to the case study of the Hirakud dam.

	Capability frame	Utilitarian frame
Scale	Community and personal level	Aggregate "bird-eyes" lens
Normative	The capability approach offered	The utilitarian framing focused on the
framings	insights into the dam's impacts on	aggregate impacts of the dam's
	specific aspects of people's lives.	construction on the overall utility of
	Through focusing on individual	the stakeholders. The outcome of the
	people's or community's existing	dam's construction was therefore
	levels of capability the approach was	assessed based on whether it increased
	able to highlight how certain	the utility of the overall affected
	demographics and groups might be	population. Individual issues such as
	more vulnerable than others to adverse	relocation, flood mitigation, habitat
	impacts of the dam's construction	destruction are only weighted based
	through existing capability	on their overall impact on aggregate
	deprivations.	utility.
Normative	The approach provided a means of	The broad and aggregate framing the
insights and	identifying a diversity of groups which	utilitarian approach produced gave a
guidance	needed to participate earlier in the	retrospective insight into the logic and

decision-making processes.	reasoning likely employed by the
Simultaneously, the approach offered a	decision-makers involved in the dam's
means of articulating and justifying	construction. This framing offered an
which aspects of dam's constructions	insight as to how the impact of a
were normatively problematic.	project can be assessed, but more so,
Through identifying how certain	in conjunction with a capabilities
groups or people may be more	based framing, highlighted the flaws
vulnerable than others to certain	and important circumstances which
impacts of dam's construction, the	can be overlooked by taking such an
capability approach offered insights	aggregate "bird-eye" view of a large
into which issues and measures could	scale energy project.
be focused on or implemented in order	
to mitigate capability deprivation.	

# 3.7 A framework for the pluralistic use of moral theory

Here we draw on the above case study to construct a framework outlining how a pluralistic use of moral theory can be drawn on to contextualise and explore energy dilemmas in reference to broader socio-political issues which might serve to underpin and exacerbate energy dilemmas. We later explain how this framework can be used to strengthen both the TCEJ and principled approaches to energy justice, particularly in reference to the methodological issues outlined in section 2.

In the case study, we note that both approaches were applied to the same situation, yet enabled a theoretical probing on different levels and at different depths, providing different normative conclusions and framings. These framings entail viewing a given energy dilemma in relation to external structures, principles and norms, as outlined by the particular theory being used. These components can combine to produce a socio-political backdrop in which to embed and understand an energy dilemma within a broader context. Figure 3-1 illustrates this process, showing how energy dilemmas can be framed by moral theories or approaches to yield valuable normative guidance and insights, and subsequently illuminating existing social and political issues, which intersect with an energy dilemma. Providing a view of an energy dilemma framed within a broader situation can enable researchers to explore related and underlying socio-political situations, which may have been previously concealed. In turn, exploring this broader framing can offer a greater variety of normative insights, which can be used to guide decision making processes. More importantly perhaps, this social and political backdrop can be used to highlight particular groups or societies which have been overlooked within decision-making processes i.e. those who may be deprived of the things a given theory holds valuable. Of course, this alone will

not inform on the experience of certain groups, but at the very least can highlight the value of enabling these groups to participate in future decision-making processes.



Figure 3-1 A framework for framing energy dilemmas in relation to moral theory, yielding normative framing and guidance whilst embeding the energy dilemas within a broader socio-political back drop.

Drawing on additional theory to explore energy dilemmas allows for a broadening of the socio-political backdrop in which energy dilemmas are embedded. When thinking about the case of Hirakud dam, we might firstly think of it in isolation from other socio-political circumstances. However, when these events are viewed through different moral lenses, a set of socio-political circumstances become illuminated. Take, for example, the mass resettlements. Initially this might be viewed as a symptom completely dependent on the construction of the dam. When viewed through a particular moral theory, in this case the capabilities approach, the resettlements are seen to be a symptom of an underlying and already existing deprivation of political capabilities. The dam's construction and the mass resettlements acted to exacerbate this already existing deprivation. Thus the impacts of this particular event becomes clearly embedded in a broader socio-political setting, revealing opportunities and insights that might help mitigate such deprivation in the future.

A pluralistic approach to using moral theory provided a multi-dimensional view of an energy dilemma. In the case study Bentham's utilitarianism gave a potential insight into the viewpoints of the decisionmakers - that being one based on making decisions on aggregate. When contrasted with the capabilities view of those affected by the dam's construction, shortcomings with such top-down decision making processes become apparent. The case study therefore did not just yield normative insights into those who were affected by the dam's construction but also offered an insight into the potential flaws embodied in the decision-making processes preceding and during its construction.

Listening to the voices of those suffering these events can go some way in explaining how these situations become unjust. However, energy systems are complex and expansive, and no one set of voices (or theories) will be able to articulate and reflect the complexity and scale of such circumstances alone.

The pluralism we propose therefore does not just embrace the idea that many conceptions of justice and "the good" exist, it also creates space for these complex energy dilemmas to be analysed through multiple moral framings and approaches. This can help link and articulate these events and voices together over various scales, creating an overview of energy dilemmas embedded in larger social and political systems. This is something that seems incredibly pertinent if energy dilemmas are to be addressed using a whole-systems approach.

## 3.8 Implications for TCEJ and the principled approach

In section 3.2, we outlined a number of tensions which, in different ways, inhibited the abilities of both the TCEJ and principled approach to create a space in which to articulate and understand the impact of energy dilemmas on those who suffer them. This section therefore outlines how the above framework and pluralistic appeal to moral theory can help ameliorate these issues.

Firstly, adopting a pluralistic approach to the use of moral theory would strengthen the TCEJ, through enabling it to draw on and integrate a broader range of moral approaches and concepts. As the case study illustrates in section 3, being able to outline which aspects of a situation or event contribute to a communities' or persons' experience of injustice can provide valuable guidance as to how to ameliorate a given situation. This exercise would also prove useful in exploring the TCEJs goal of providing safe, affordable, and sustainable energy to all through a moral frame. It would enable triumvirate scholars to ground and detail why this goal is of moral significance by framing energy access by the components or ideas of justice it helps deliver and the features of injustice it helps ameliorate.

Moral theory has been drawn on in similar ways within broader energy justice discourse. For example, Day et al. (2016) conceptualise energy poverty through a capabilities lens, enabling them to explore and articulate which important aspects of a person's life might face deprivation because of limited access to energy. Day et al. found that the adoption of a capabilities approach helped broaden traditional European conceptions of fuel poverty, which are limited to thermal comfort and health, to encompass wider impacts of energy poverty such as the deprivation of social respect and the ability to maintain relationships (Day et al., 2016). The latter impact is echoed empirically in analysis by Middlemiss et al. (2019) of people who have experienced fuel poverty. Wood and Roelich (2019) draw on the capabilities approach and Day et al.'s framework to articulate issues of climate change mitigation in terms of well-being. Approaches which draw on moral theory in this way help provide the normative guidance that the triumvirate conception seeks to produce. They do so through offering language through which to articulate the concerns and grievances of those who endure a range of energy dilemmas. The adoption

of a broad pluralism into the TCEJ would enable the approach to integrate and draw on a broader array of existing justice literature without having to subscribe to a defined set of values.

Adopting a pluralistic use of moral theory would also go some way in helping to alleviate the tensions between the TCEJ's top-down initiatives and its underlying foundational ideas of justice. With the goal of "embedding justice" in policy, the TCEJ's aims reflect a concern with enabling policy makers to understand and operationalise ideas of justice – or to create spaces in which people's conceptions of justice can be understood. Integrating a pluralistic approach would enable the TCEJ to acknowledge the importance of its triumvirate whilst drawing on other moral accounts to explore how top-down policy strategies can come to embody ideals of distribution, recognition and procedure. Although the theories we discuss in this paper are more likely to be described as distributive theories of justice, the TCEJ could draw on this approach by appealing to theories of procedural justice or theories of democracy<sup>30</sup>. Recognising the value of certain theories can also assist in distilling these concepts into useful tools or heuristics which can guide policy-making decisions. As such a broader, pluralistic use of moral theory would enable the TCEJ to maintain its core tenets through developing its own foundation around them.

It is interesting here to note a study by Milchram et al. (2018) who draw on the TCEJ to explore the values and conflicts which underpin public debate on smart grids. Reviewing a number of Dutch and British newspaper articles, they find that a number of values such as sustainability, transparency, control, privacy and security are all associated with the implementation and operation of smart grid systems. Subsequently they recommend that energy justice needs to be broadened to include such values. It is interesting to note therefore that such values are reflected in numerous existing works of moral theory (Sen, 2001, Nussbaum, 2011, Adger, 2006, Rawls, 1971, Anderson, 1999).

Our earlier concerns regarding the principled approach were that it was yet to explain why it drew on one theory of justice over another when framing a particular energy dilemma. And secondly, that it did not explore the implications of framing the same event with differing theories. Given that the approach's principles are developed from an original survey of literature it doesn't face the same foundational tensions between its philosophical grounding and it strategic initiatives. However, we found that the beneficial probing of literature that Sovacool and Dworkin (2014) layout can be enhanced through providing broader analysis of the same energy dilemmas through using opposing (or at least differing) moral theories. Certain theories will be able to capture and articulate the impact of energy dilemmas on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Certain theories are often described separately as either distributive, recognition of procedural theories of justice. However, in some cases it might be more accurate to describe them as sitting on a spectrum, with certain theories sitting between these three dimensions of justice. For example, a number of Nussbaum's central capabilities embody aspects of recognition and procedure. We are thankful to an anonymous reviewer for prompting us to think about this further.

people's lives more powerfully than others and exploring this can help justify why we might draw on one theory over another in developing guiding principle for decision-makers.

The above case study also serves to illustrate the relativism embodied in certain accounts of justice, whether community based or singular accounts, it illustrates that different voices and theories will embody and reflect different and sometimes conflicting values. There are still challenges to overcome in this respect. Assessing which accounts of justice are best suited to evaluating a particular set of circumstances can represent a normative judgement in itself. Regardless, using multiple theories of justice can serve to highlight and explain these differences, as well as act as guides in deciding which set of values might best be drawn on when analysing an issue. This is essential when discussing large-scale transboundary energy dilemmas such as climate change, which affect a diversity of communities whom each have their own value-sets and concerns.

### 3.9 Conclusion

To summarise, through comparing both the triumvirate and principled approach to energy justice, we have revealed a number of theoretical and methodological limitations. We have argued that the adoption of a broad pluralistic use of moral theory would enable the utilisation and comparison of moral concepts, which in turn can facilitate and support the goals and methodological underpinnings of both approaches. We have illustrated the outputs of using a range of moral theories to articulate and conceptualise the impacts of energy dilemmas. Additionally, we have outlined the importance of bearing in mind the substantially different normative framings moral theories provide. We suggest that this method will help energy scholars to identify which approaches are best able to capture the complex and intersected injustices energy systems pose.

#### 3.10 References:

Adger, W. N. 2006. Vulnerability. Global Environmental Change, 16, 268-281.

- Anderson, E. S. 1999. What Is the Point of Equality? Ethics, 109, 287-337.
- Bentham, J. 1781. An introduction to the principles of morals and legislation. McMaster University Archive for the History of Economic Thought.
- Bickerstaff, K., Walker, G. & Bulkeley, H. 2013. *Energy justice in a changing climate: social equity and low-carbon energy*, Zed Books Ltd.
- Crisp, R. 2002. Routledge philosophy guidebook to Mill on utilitarianism, Routledge.
- Damgaard, C., Mccauley, D. & Long, J. 2017. Assessing the energy justice implications of bioenergy development in Nepal. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, **7**, **8**.
- Day, R., Walker, G. & Simcock, N. 2016. Conceptualising energy use and energy poverty using a capabilities framework. *Energy Policy*, 93, 255-264.
- Demski, C., Thomas, G., Becker, S., Evensen, D. & Pidgeon, N. 2019. Acceptance of energy transitions and policies: Public conceptualisations of energy as a need and basic right in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 33-45.
- Fraser, N. Social justice in the age of identity politics: Redistribution, recognition, and participation. The Tanner Lectures on Human Values. Conferencia dictada en Stanford University, April, 1996.

- Fuller, S. & Mccauley, D. 2016. Framing energy justice: perspectives from activism and advocacy. Energy Research & Social Science, 11, 1-8.
- Gillard, R., Snell, C. & Bevan, M. 2017. Advancing an energy justice perspective of fuel poverty: Household vulnerability and domestic retrofit policy in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 29, 53-61.
- Gururaja, S. 2000. Gender dimensions of displacement. Forced Migration Review, 9, 13-16.
- Healy, N., Stephens, J. C. & Malin, S. A. 2019. Embodied energy injustices: Unveiling and politicizing the transboundary harms of fossil fuel extractivism and fossil fuel supply chains. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 219-234.
- Heffron, R., Mccauley, D. & Sovacool, B. 2015. Resolving society's energy trilemma through the Energy Justice Metric. *Energy Policy*, 87, 168-176.
- Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2014. Achieving sustainable supply chains through energy justice. *Applied Energy*, 123, 435-437.
- Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2017. The concept of energy justice across the disciplines. *Energy Policy*, 105, 658-667.
- Hillerbrand, R. 2018. Why Affordable Clean Energy Is Not Enough. A Capability Perspective on the Sustainable Development Goals. *Sustainability*, 10, 2485.
- Jenkins, K. 2018. Setting energy justice apart from the crowd: lessons from environmental and climate justice. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 39, 117-121.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D. & Forman, A. 2017a. Energy justice: a policy approach. *Energy Policy*, 105, 631-634.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D., Heffron, R. & Stephan, H. 2014. Energy justice, a whole systems approach. *Queen's Political Review*, 2, 74-87.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D., Heffron, R., Stephan, H. & Rehner, R. 2016. Energy justice: a conceptual review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 11, 174-182.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D. & Warren, C. R. 2017b. Attributing responsibility for energy justice: A case study of the Hinkley Point Nuclear Complex. *Energy Policy*, 108, 836-843.
- Jenkins, K., Sovacool, B. K. & Mccauley, D. 2018. Humanizing sociotechnical transitions through energy justice: An ethical framework for global transformative change. *Energy Policy*, 117, 66-74.
- Labelle, M. C. 2017. In pursuit of energy justice. *Energy Policy*, 107, 615-620.
- Mccauley, D. A., Heffron, R. J., Stephan, H. & Jenkins, K. 2013. Advancing energy justice: the triumvirate of tenets. *International Energy Law Review*, 32, 107-110.
- Middlemiss, L., Ambrosio-Albalá, P., Emmel, N., Gillard, R., Gilbertson, J., Hargreaves, T., Mullen, C., Ryan, T., Snell, C. & Tod, A. 2019. Energy poverty and social relations: A capabilities approach. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 55, 227-235.
- Milchram, C., Hillerbrand, R., Van De Kaa, G., Doorn, N. & Künneke, R. 2018. Energy justice and smart grid systems: evidence from the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. *Applied energy*, 229, 1244-1259.
- Mill, J. S. 1861. 1969. Utilitarianism. Collected Works of John Stuart Mill, 10, 203-259.
- Nayak, A. K. 2013. Development, Displacement and Justice in India: Study of Hirakud Dam. *Social change*, 43, 397-419.
- Nussbaum, M. 2003. CAPABILITIES AS FUNDAMENTAL ENTITLEMENTS: SEN AND SOCIAL JUSTICE. *Feminist Economics*, 9, 33-59.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2001. *Women and human development: The capabilities approach*, Cambridge University Press.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2011. Creating capabilities, Harvard University Press.
- Rawls, J. 1971. A theory of justice, Harvard university press.
- Robeyns, I. 2016a. Capabilitarianism. Journal of Human Development and Capabilities, 17, 397-414.
- Robeyns, I. 2016b. *The Capability Approach* [Online]. The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Winter 2016 Edition). Available:

https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2016/entries/capability-approach [Accessed].

Robeyns, I. 2016c. Having too much. NOMOS LVI: Wealth. Yearbook of the American Society for Political and Legal Philosophy, New York University Press, Forthcoming.

- Robeyns, I. & Brighouse, H. 2010. Introduction: Social primary goods and capabilities as metrics of justice.
- Sandel, M. J. 2010. Justice: What's the right thing to do?, Macmillan.
- Sareen, S. & Haarstad, H. 2018. Bridging socio-technical and justice aspects of sustainable energy transitions. *Applied Energy*, 228, 624-632.
- Schlosberg, D. 2004. Reconceiving Environmental Justice: Global Movements And Political Theories. *Environmental Politics*, 13, 517-540.
- Schlosberg, D. 2009. *Defining environmental justice: theories, movements, and nature*, Oxford University Press.
- Schlosberg, D. 2013. Theorising environmental justice: the expanding sphere of a discourse. *Environmental Politics*, 22, 37-55.
- Sen, A. 2001. Development as freedom, Oxford Paperbacks.
- Sovacool, B. K., Burke, M., Baker, L., Kotikalapudi, C. K. & Wlokas, H. 2017. New frontiers and conceptual frameworks for energy justice. *Energy Policy*, 105, 677-691.
- Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2014. Global energy justice, Cambridge University Press.
- Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2015. Energy justice: Conceptual insights and practical applications. *Applied Energy*, 142, 435-444.
- Sovacool, B. K., Heffron, R. J., Mccauley, D. & Goldthau, A. 2016. Energy decisions reframed as justice and ethical concerns. *Nature Energy*, 1, 16024.
- United Nations 2018. The Sustainable Development Goals Report.
- Walker, G. 2012. Environmental justice: concepts, evidence and politics, Routledge.
- Wood, N. & Roelich, K. 2019. Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil fuels. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 52, 114-122.

# Chapter 4 Redefining energy justice: integrating capabilities and trivalent justice

#### N. Wood

#### Abstract

Current energy justice frameworks make broad claims of their ability to analyse energy dilemmas and produce viable normative guidance. Proponents of one such prominent framework, termed here "the triumvirate conception of energy justice" (TCEJ), assert the framework's ability to identify injustices and guide decision-makers to produce more "just" and "equitable" energy systems. This paper explores the validity of these claims and identifies whether this approach to energy justice can produce the outputs and findings its proponents state it can. This paper reviews and critiques two existing applications of this framework to energy dilemmas. It posits that the TCEJ's current interpretation of trivalent accounts of justice and limited appeal to more applied justice theory impedes the approach's ability to capture the complexities of energy dilemmas that might come to be described as "unjust". I find that a more detailed interpretation of a trivalent conception of justice found within environmental justice theory, which captures the interdependencies of procedural, recognition-based and distributive dimensions of justice, can act as a viable foundation for an account of energy justice. Further, I suggest that the integration of the capabilities approach would enable the connection of a trivalent account of justice to the intersection of energy dilemmas and the valuable aspects of peoples' and communities' functionings. In sum, this foundation is positioned as a starting point for a broader account of energy justice – a space to initially articulate and better understand the broad array of hardships and demands at the centre of energy systems - as opposed to an analytical framework to produce normative guidance.

#### 4.1 Introduction

"Energy Justice" has been described as a normative approach, a framework for analysis, a movement and a 'cross-cutting social science research agenda' (Jenkins et al., 2016b, Sovacool et al., 2016, Fuller and McCauley, 2016). As a research agenda "energy justice" does not appeal to any particular analytical framework or approach but consists of an array of contributions and themes which in themselves embody a diversity of approaches and conceptions of justice and fairness (See Bickerstaff et al., 2013). In turn this agenda has focused broadly on normative issues which relate to energy systems and people's lives (Healy et al., 2019, Demski et al., 2019, Sareen and Haarstad, 2018, Damgaard et al., 2017, Snell et al., 2015, Fuller and Bulkeley, 2013). For example, the equitable mitigation of climate change, fuel poverty, the disposal of nuclear waste, and broader environmental degradation linked to energy systems (Bickerstaff et al., 2013, Sovacool et al., 2014, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014, Sovacool et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2016b).

The aims of the energy justice research agenda are broad and hard to define. The decisions to research certain aspects of energy systems are as normative as the values or concepts that researchers use to analyse these issues. However, discrete conceptions of energy justice exist, which taken in isolation, contain more tightly defined conceptual structures, goals, and moral and political values (See McCauley et al., 2013, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). A tendency in the literature to conflate these energy justice frameworks and energy justice as a research agenda can be a source of confusion (for example see Jenkins et al., 2016b, McCauley et al., 2013).

Individual frameworks tend to consist of conceptions of energy systems and the types of problems which arise in relation to them. These conceptual frameworks are used to frame and further explore the ethical dilemmas which emerge in relation to energy dilemmas, with a general aim of better informing energy policy and decision-makers on such issues (Jenkins et al., 2017a, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014).

The most broadly utilised discrete conception of energy justice was initially set out in McCauley et al. (2013). This conception revolves around three broad dimensions of justice; distributive justice, recognition-based justice and procedural justice (Jenkins et al., 2016b). McCauley et al. (2013) initially termed these three dimensions of justice as a "triumvirate of tenets", from here this conception is referred as the "triumvirate conception of energy justice" or the "TCEJ". Almost all iterations of the TCEJ revolve around concise summaries of distributional, recognition-based, and procedural justice. When this paper uses the term TCEJ it is referring to a specific interpretation of what we might call "trivalent accounts of justice", that is, an account of justice which centres on these three dimensions of justice. There are other interpretations of trivalent accounts which are discussed later in this paper, such as those found in environmental justice literature. Here we can take TCEJ to refer specifically to the energy justice framework set out and developed in particular set of literature (McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016b, McCauley et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2018, Jenkins et al., 2016a).

Jenkins et al. (2016b p.179), who summarises and expands on the approach, states "the challenge of energy justice is to apply this three-pronged approach to energy policy across the whole energy system". This challenge is taken literally by the TCEJ authors, who have retrospectively applied this three part approach to a number of case studies on energy dilemmas (Jenkins et al., 2018, Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018, McCauley et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2017b).

Outside of TCEJ literature the definitions of these dimensions of justice are often contested. Here they are summarised based on the definitions provided in the TCEJ. Later, alternate interpretations of these dimensions are discussed:

**Distributional justice** is often described as the spatial or temporal aspects of energy dilemmas i.e. where and how the benefits and burdens of energy systems emerge in space and over time (Jenkins et al., 2016b).

**Recognition-based justice** regards how certain groups and communities are represented and recognised in reference to energy related events and situations. Recognition issues can refer to the stigma, insults, and stereotypes marginalised groups are subject to, as well non-recognition entirely – being seemingly invisible in policy and decision-making processes. A common form of misrecognition in energy literature is how those who endure fuel poverty can be stigmatised and stereotyped (Day and Hitchings, 2011). The concept of recognition in the TCEJ is largely drawn from work by Nancy Fraser (Fraser, 1996).

**Procedural justice:** often described as a call for more equitable and inclusive decision making in energy decision-making processes and focuses on the processes and means of ameliorating injustices which have been identified (McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016b).

The TCEJ holds the goal of "providing all individuals, across all areas, with safe, affordable and sustainable energy" (Jenkins et al., 2016a, Jenkins et al., 2018, McCauley et al., 2013, Heffron and McCauley, 2014, McCauley et al., 2016). This goal is repeated throughout TCEJ literature but the definitions of safe, affordable and sustainable are rarely expanded on in respect to this goal and there is currently no outline as to how distribution, recognition, and procedure relate to the attainment of this goal.

Heffron et al. (2015) describe this approach as "a conceptual framework, that seeks to identify when and where injustices in the energy sector occur and how best law and policy can respond to them" whilst McCauley (2017 p.1) describe the TCEJ as "a framework that allows us to critique the problems of the global energy system, as well as to lead us to better decision-making in future energy investments".

Frequent claims regarding the ability of the TCEJ to produce viable normative insights and guidance are repeated throughout much of the TCEJ literature. For example, Heffron et al. (2015) claim 'energy justice can achieve a just and equitable balance between the three dimensions of the energy trilemma [policy, economics and environment]'; Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) claim that the approach can "be used as a means to guide ethically sound decision making"; Jenkins et al. (2018) argue that the TCEJ must be engaged with to find accord over what is 'just, equitable and right' in transition literature; and Jenkins et al. (2018) state 'energy justice has emerged to conceptualize a world where all individuals, across all areas, have safe, affordable and sustainable energy that is, essentially, socially just'.

Statements such as those above, often imply that the TCEJ can produce viable normative guidance that can improve and resolve current inequities produced by and within energy systems. The purpose of this

paper is to explore the ability of the TCEJ to produce the outputs its proponents suggest it can and to then explore and develop alternate understandings of energy justice. This paper questions whether the TCEJ has presented an elaboration or exploration of how the trivalent space and its component dimensions interact to produce a viable account of justice which can meaningfully reflect the hardships and claims of those who endure energy dilemmas. In subsequent sections I argue that the TCEJ currently lacks this and as such has a limited ability to analysis and understand energy dilemmas. I offer an explanation as to how the dimensions of the trivalent space interact to create an account of justice and point to another set of theories which can further expand both the explanatory and analytical reach of energy justice frameworks.

To explore the claims of TCEJ proponents, it is necessary to observe how the underlying components of this approach – the "triumvirate of tenets" - are intended to function and interact to yield an understanding of justice. To achieve this the TCEJ is outlined in more detail and two applications of this "three pronged approach" are reviewed in detail. The methods and novelty of the outputs of these case studies are then used to critique the TCEJ's current understanding and operationalisation of its trivalent foundation.

Following this, I revisit several key references which underpin the TCEJ literature, the work of David Schlosberg and Nancy Fraser, to review the dynamics the original trivalent conceptions of justice were intended to capture and reflect. I then outline how divergences between the TCEJ's interpretation of the trivalent space and these earlier accounts limits the TCEJ's ability to capture and articulate the normative complexities of energy dilemmas. Finally, the capability approach is introduced as a means of connecting and articulating trivalent conceptions of justice in reference to energy dilemmas. The capability approach is positioned as a normative framework which can contribute to theorising the intersections between energy systems and the aspects of people's lives which they have reason to value. I conclude by proposing a redefined, capability-integrated, trivalent understanding as a useful space for developing an account of energy justice, which may itself guide and motivate the development of novel ways to explore and frame energy dilemmas, as opposed to a tool for directly framing and analysing energy dilemmas to produce normative guidance.

# 4.2 TCEJ: the "three-pronged approach" a case study review

The two case studies drawn on in the following section for more a detailed analysis, McCauley et al. (2016) and Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018), were chosen because they most closely reflect and detail the described application of the TCEJ by its proponent authors i.e. they recommended application of this "three-pronged" approach to energy systems (McCauley et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2016b, McCauley et al., 2016, Jenkins et al., 2018, Jenkins et al., 2016a).

This section outlines the methods and findings of McCauley et al. (2016) and Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018). Both McCauley et al. (2016) and Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) take individual dimensions

of the TCEJ and apply them to particular aspects of their given energy dilemma (See table 6-1 & 6-2 for summaries in appendices).

McCauley et al. (2016) draw on the TCEJ categorising and framing certain issues raised during expert interviews on energy developments within the Artic, as either distributive, recognition, or procedural issues. "We take each component of the framework in turn, identifying some key justice concerns raised in our expert interviews" who were either "conference attendees or speakers at international conferences or part of the researchers' personal networks". In McCauley et al. (2016) the TCEJ is positioned as a "framework for assessing the justice implication – or simply the injustice – of current policy decisions as well as making practical recommendations" and the framework is further described in line with the TCEJ's goal, as an "analytical framework that aims to examine whether and how all individuals, across all areas can access safe, affordable and sustainable energy."<sup>31</sup>

To illustrate the application of the TCEJ, Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) apply these tenets to the example of fuel poverty. Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018), state this case study "explores the role of the three-tenet energy justice framework" and by doing so illustrates the "danger of failing to acknowledge justice outcomes and, conversely, what doing so may practically look like". Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) draw on previous work by Jenkins et al. (2016b), who propose ordering these dimensions of justice into a pseudo-procedure referring to distribution, recognition, and procedure as "what, who and how" respectively:

"we chose to present each tenet of justice in the following order: distribution, recognition, and procedure. We did so on the understanding that if injustice is to be tackled, one must (a) identify the concern – distribution, (b) identify who it affects – recognition, and only then (c) identify strategies for remediation – procedure. In essence, addressing "what, who and how" (Jenkins et al., 2016b p.177)

With the exception of Jenkin's additional method of ordering these dimensions of justice, both case studies use the TCEJ in similar ways. The authors take points from a given source, either existing research findings or from interviews (both in the case of McCauley et al. (2016)) and categorise them into separate categories of either distributive, recognition-based, or procedural issues. For the most part these categorisations fall in line with the authors own characterisations to each respective dimension of justice. For example, Jenkins et al. (2016b) describes distributional justice<sup>32</sup> as addressing the unfair or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> This goal is not focused on extensively here, however Wood and Roelich (2020) offer a brief critique of this goal in relation to the TCEJ's own tenets. One pressing query is why the authors of this goal differentiate between sustainability and safety, and on which definition of sustainability they are basing this distinction. <sup>32</sup> One issue that has not been explored or made clear in the TCEJ literature is an understanding of distributive justice. Distributive justice is a broad discourse which for a large part focuses on which goods (often abstract goods) should society concern itself with and which institutions, mechanisms and distributions should underpin these goods. There is very little discussion of this in the TCEJ literature except for a brief and occasional references of Rawls, and a short discussion of the work of Nozick, Rawls and Sen in McCauley (2016). There is even less conceptual work linking these goods to the circumstances created by outputs of energy systems.

inequitable distribution of benefits and burdens of energy systems and categorises issues of uneven energy access as a distributional issue. Similarly, Jenkins et al.'s (2016) categorisation of the stigma surrounding those who suffer fuel poverty as a recognition-based issues fall in line with their description of recognition-based issues manifesting as disrespect and stereotyping.

McCauley et al. (2016) follows a similar method. For example, McCauley et al. also describe distributional justice and the spread of and proximity to the benefits and burdens of energy systems, and thus categorise the risk of oil spills associated with shipping lanes as a matter of distributional justice. McCauley et al. (2016) summarise procedural justice as "a call for equitable procedures that engage all stakeholders in a non-discriminatory way" and thus categorise the lax involvement of Sami people's inArctic energy and other economic projects as recognition-based issues.

Solutions to these issues rarely surpass calls to engage more in the concepts which these authors outline. Within the TCEJ, outlines of these concepts rarely exceed the superficial, and the application of these concepts to the issues these authors arise is thin. For example, there is no attempt to analyse the procedural issues they raise in a way that might result in effective procedural or participatory spaces. Rather, these issues are raised, classified as a form of injustice, and then a call is made for greater engagement or focus on that particular dimension of justice:

"it is crucial to ensure that all those who can potentially be affected by these companies' activities participate in the process of decision-making in regards to the Arctic's future... However, stakeholder engagement and social accounting currently fail to achieve the goals they were established for. Hence a new approach to ensuring sustainability of Arctic resource extraction is needed. We propose a justice-rather than simply a stakeholder-centred perspective. In other words, the inclusion, even mobilization (as suggested above), of local communities in business decision making is an insufficient expansion of stakeholder approaches such as social accounting." McCauley et al. (2016 p.145).

Here McCauley et al. are concluding that current procedures and means on engagement inArctic energy decision making are flawed. They then go on to conclude:

"...energy justice scholars must continue to make the case for a fair re-distribution of burdens and benefits, and not just make the case for due process in decision-making. The Finnmark controversy in the first results section underlines the extent to which indigenous peoples are subject to distributional injustices—from a due process perspective of course, but also a proximity one as an energy infrastructure that benefits all, and burdens only some." McCauley et al. (2016 p.145).

Following the pattern I described above, McCauley et al. have outlined a conception of procedural justice, discussed issues in which situations in which these values are lacking and then have called for more engagement with these concepts. Similar patterns occur in Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018). For

example, Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) discussion of the stigma and visibility issues surrounding fuel poverty results in the points in their concluding section:

"...government and businesses must identify those who may be vulnerable and then both ascertain and make provision for vulnerable customers through targeted subsidies, exemptions and efficiency measures. This recommendation has bearing on energy efficiency policy in particular, where questions are raised about the equity and design of its implementation. In this context, justice principles can provide guidelines for policy interventions by ensuring that energy efficiency schemes reach households in a way that meets their specific needs (Gillard *et al.*, 2017)." (Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018 p.44)

#### and

"... as acknowledgement that fuel poverty goes beyond simple affordability to an outcome of living in an inefficient home, we require strong and consistent policies to upgrade the national housing stock, combined with consumer engagement programmes to enable participatory justice throughout this process. At the same time, we must be careful not to reinforce structural or social inequalities e.g. through stereotyping recruitment practices (Gillard *et al.*, 2017)." (Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018 p.44)

Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) also offer broader, more general, conclusions as well such as "that issues of energy justice emerge, where inattention to social justice issues can cause injustices, or via their inclusion can provide a means to solve them" and argue for "for greater engagement with the energy justice approach in both academia and in practice, where it can be used as a means to guide ethically sound decision-making".

As with preceeding examples, the process of defining a dimension of justice, categorising an issue as representing a lack of attention to said dimension, and then calling for a greater focus a certain type of justice plays out again. It becomes evident that this pattern recurrently underpins the application of the TCEJ in both the cases of Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) and McCauley et al. (2016).

The most substantial findings and conclusions from these case studies appear to be primarily drawn from a synthesis of other literature, as opposed to the components of the TCEJ creating new frames for analysis. This is not to say the conclusions of these studies are false, but rather that applying the TCEJ does not appear to have substantially contributed to their findings. For example, when McCauley et al. (2016) conclude that the burden of risk associated with shipping is disproportionately borne by local Arctic communities, it is not clear how distributive justice theory contributed to this conclusion – even if one can rightly classify this as a form of maldistribution.

The problem here is that classifying something as a maldistribution on its own does not then provide a solution. It might be an important initial step but more substantial engagement with a specific distributive theory would be necessary to analyse an energy dilemma with the intent of producing

normative and policy guidance based on justice theory – as the TCEJ aims to do (See Wood and Roelich, 2020).<sup>33</sup> In other words, the level of exploration and detail provided within TCEJ literature is only enough to broadly classify a certain issue as one of distribution, recognition, or procedure.

The point here is that the TCEJ in its current form, with this mode of application, does not offer an effective space in which to analyse energy dilemmas to produce genuinely novel insights and normative advice. The following sections of this paper posit that the TCEJ's current mode of application is hampered in part because of its restricted interpretation of the trivalent space. The following sections of this paper revisit some key references underpinning the TCEJ to explain the approach's current limitations.

In particular, the following sections highlight two key aspects of the TCEJ which currently limit its explanatory power. Firstly, I will illustrate how the TCEJ's interpretation of the trivalent space impedes the TCEJ's ability to view injustice as resulting from complex interconnections between distribution, recognition, and procedure.

Secondly, I will illustrate that the TCEJ lacks a means of articulating how an energy dilemma impacts or relates to a particular set of values. In other words, I will illustrate that categorising different dimensions of injustice, as the TCEJ does, is not the same as describing why or how an energy dilemma relates to certain values in such a way that we might describe it as an injustice.

In response to this gap, I point towards a growing collection of scholarship which frames energy dilemmas in terms of their impact on capability, as a means of understanding these dilemmas in a normative frame. I outline how the capability approach can be used to integrate and better understand the interrelations between distribution, recognition, and procedure. Importantly, this integration is not initially aiming towards the same ends as the TCEJ of finding identifying and responding to injustice through policy, but rather to attain a simpler initial step of providing concepts which can more accurately and meaningfully reflect problems stemming from energy systems. I argue it is useful to refine this first step if we are to produce viable normative and policy guidance.

#### 4.3 Revisiting the trivalent space

There are several examples of work in which a trivalent conception of justice has been used effectively to explore such dilemmas and frame certain movements. Perhaps the most well-known of these is Schlosberg's (2009) account of environmental justice. This section outlines how the TCEJ's own interpretation of this trivalent space diverges substantially from earlier conceptions. I then outline how

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Another approach to energy justice, that of Sovacool & Dworkin (2014) Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2014. *Global energy justice*, Cambridge University Press., provide illustrate multiple examples as to how justice theory can be drawn on in this way.

the TCEJ's reliance on its own divergent interpretation is limiting its ability to explain and discuss energy dilemmas in terms of justice.

A frequent and key reference in early conceptual TCEJ literature is Schlosberg's account of a trivalent approach to environmental justice (Schlosberg, 2009, Schlosberg, 2003, Schlosberg, 2013). The trivalent account of environmental justice has been drawn on and developed over the past decade including in climate and energy related discourses (for examples see Walker, 2009, Holifield et al., 2009, Walker, 2012, Sze and London, 2008, Gillard et al., 2017, Bulkeley et al., 2014, Reed and George, 2011). Underlying Schlosberg's conception are three interlinking and overlapping conceptions of justice, distributive, procedural, and recognition, which make up a "trivalent space". These dimensions of justice are drawn on (loosely<sup>34</sup>) within the TCEJ, but their adoption, interpretation, and elaboration differ significantly from that of Schlosberg's.<sup>35</sup> Briefly describing key divergences between the structure and purpose of Schlosberg's conception of environmental justice and the TCEJ's own interpretation of this conception can go some way in illuminating the current limitations of the TCEJ. This serves two purposes, firstly it creates a space to compare and critique the TCEJ's interpretation and use of a trivalent account of justice. Second, it points the necessary expansions and changes that rectify these limitations.

A key point of comparison is the purpose the trivalent space serves in the TCEJ and in Schlosberg's account of environmental justice. Schlosberg's aim was to construct a broad enough conception of justice to articulate and capture the disparate calls for justice arising in diverse, activist-led environmental movements. Schlosberg's motivation was to develop a global conception of environmental justice which embodied the demands of these movements because existing accounts of environmental justice were inadequate and primarily based on distributive accounts of justice. This is noteworthy, because unlike the TCEJ, this initial trivalent account of justice was not primarily used as a framework for analysing particular situations but as a means of unifying a broad and diverse movement "the environmental justice movement demonstrates the power of a unity without uniformity as it illustrates environmental justice on so many dimensions simultaneously" (Schlosberg, 2004 p.535).

Schlosberg's intention was then to outline recurrent claims to justice in a broad array of environmental movements, with the aim of outlining how certain democratic and institutional transformations could institutionalise a space for multiple conceptions of justice to be "shared, heard, understood and implemented" (Schlosberg, 2009). The TCEJ's use of the trivalent space is partially converse to this. Instead of using these dimensions to articulate the recurrent manifest injustices, the TCEJ aims to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> The term "loosely" is used here, because although the structure of the TCEJ mirrors a trivalent conception of justice very little discussion as to the function and purpose of this space are discussed in TCEJ literature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Wood and Roelich (2020) illustrate tensions between the TCEJ's strategic goals and critique of environmental justice, and adoption of Schlosberg's trivalent account of environmental justice, which they argue limits the ability of the approach in creating a space to explore and understand energy dilemmas.

directly apply these dimensions of justice to energy systems via the aforementioned "three-pronged" approach. This initial description can be articulated as one of description versus application. Schlosberg's account of environmental justice results from describing different types of claims to justice in the trivalent space, whilst the TCEJ seeks to apply the trivalent space.

Schlosberg's conception was underpinned by the language and characterisations of justice that environmental movements were using. Themes and language which resonated with ideas of distribution, recognition, and procedure arose frequently when these groups and movements articulated their grievances and demands. Throughout Schlosberg's work, he outlines a broad academic landscape in which the connections and relationships between these conceptions of justice are articulated and continually contested. One important dynamic throughout Schlosberg's work is that the interactions and relationships between these conceptions of justice are intimate and interdependent, with each affecting the other (See Walker (2012) p.65 for an informative illustration of these relationships). A clear example of this interdependency is found when Schlosberg (2009) describes how distributive, procedural, and recognition-based justice are being articulated in indigenous led environmental movements but does not discuss procedural calls separately in his summary because he 'simply could not find such calls that were distinct from the demands for recognition'. These dynamics are underconceptualised within almost all conceptual literature on the TCEJ, with proponents of the approach treating and applying each dimension of justice individually to various energy dilemmas (McCauley et al., 2013, Heffron and McCauley, 2014, Jenkins et al., 2014, Jenkins et al., 2016b, Heffron and McCauley, 2017, Jenkins et al., 2017a, Jenkins, 2018).

A key reference for Schlosberg's own application of the trivalent space is the work of Nancy Fraser (Fraser, 1997, Fraser, 1995). Fraser, also arises as a key reference within the TCEJ literature during summaries of recognition-based justice (Jenkins et al., 2016b, McCauley et al., 2013).<sup>36</sup>

In much of Schlosberg's work, Fraser is cited as providing a critique on the limitations of viewing social justice as purely a matter of distributive justice, citing Fraser's arguments that recognition offers explanations as to why such maldistributions exist in the first place (Schlosberg, 2009, Fraser, 1997, Fraser, 1995, Fraser, 2000). A key point here is that Fraser's work, although most widely noted for its content on recognition (in the TCEJ scholarship at least), focuses on broadening a conception of social justice to one which looks beyond distribution to incorporate dimensions of justice which underpin and sustain maldistributions<sup>37</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Young (1990) and Honneth (1996) are also key references in Schlosberg's discussion of recognition, which we do not outline in this paper, but are worth exploring further for any researcher interested in understanding the roots of the trivalent approach. (Schlosberg (2009) offers a concise and insightful exploration).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The work of Young is cited in Jenkins et al. (2017b) but in reference to Young's work on responsibility, not recognition.

Within the TCEJ such descriptions of Fraser's work are almost non-existent (Fraser's work is drawn on briefly in a distributive light when Jenkins et al. (2016a) cites Fraser (1996), but this is to link distributive justice to the topic of political economy). This is a key point in explaining why the TCEJ's use of the trivalent space as a means of analysing energy dilemmas is currently limited. The TCEJ's tendency to define and isolate each justice dimension, without further effort to integrate these tenets, limits the TCEJ's ability to capture the intimate linkages between recognition, procedure, and distribution. This is both the case for the more general TCEJ approach of categorising certain issues as either distributive, recognition-based, or procedural and the "what, who and how" approach of Jenkins et al. (2016b).<sup>38</sup>

These interdependencies can be partially illustrated by Fraser (2009). Fraser (2009) outlines the complex interdependencies between recognition and distribution, using the example of welfare reform, a redistributive policy which can stigmatize its recipients as "deviants and scroungers". She goes on to argue that such redistributive policies "have misrecognition effects when background patterns of cultural value skew the meaning of economic reforms". Fraser gives the example of the devaluation of single female caregivers, through the receipt of support, being cast as 'getting something for nothing'. She argues that such redistributive policy cannot succeed unless it is in conjunction with a push for recognition, concluding 'in short, *no redistribution without recognition*' (Fraser, 2009 p. 85).

This argument illustrates the importance of both distributive and recognition-based justice in resolving social issues without creating new ones. More importantly, it illustrates how multiple dimensions of justice work dynamically and simultaneously to explain and frame a particular circumstance. Fraser (2009 p.35) also notes that procedure does not necessarily follow recognition but often facilitates it, stating 'an adequate account of the justification of recognition claims needs to incorporate a procedural dimension'. If the justification of recognition-based claims requires a procedural dimension, then it is not clear why procedure would occur only after a recognition claim to justice has been made. Furthermore, considering the now apparent intersection between recognition and distribution, procedure also appears necessary to ensure actions are taken to properly identify distributive injustices.<sup>39</sup> In other words, procedure can be required to both recognize and ameliorate distributive and recognition-based issues.

Once the components of the trivalent space are viewed in this light, a picture starts to emerge in which they work simultaneously to characterise a complex set of circumstances or situations. Based on the ordering provided in Jenkins et al. (2016), identifying a concern can only result in a distributive issue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Jenkins et al. (2020) recently repeat this structure when integrating energy justice with value sensitive design, responsible research and innovation approaches.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Schlosberg similarly notes that within environmental justice, the discourse on which energy justice is closely based, discussing one aspect of justice will lead to the discussion of others, and that they cannot be discussed in isolation.

and recognition is confined to who this issue affects (as opposed to mal-recognition being seen as an issue in itself). Subsequently procedure is only utilized as a term for remediation, which is the correction of mal-distributions – as opposed to a space for facilitating recognition or solely acknowledging the intrinsic worth of engaging in procedural spaces.

Fraser (1995) makes clear that recognition-based issues can be as harmful as material distributive issues. It therefore seems problematic that the TCEJ requires distributive issues to first be identified before recognition-based aspects of justice are addressed. This is not to say that the TCEJ does not value recognition based justice. Jenkins et al. (2016b) clearly outline a number of prominent recognition issues which relate to energy, such as the non-recognition issues faced by those in fuel poverty, and the stigma surrounding communities who campaign against the placement of wind energy projects near their homes. Rather, it is a problem with the ordering and separation of these dimensions of justice that frequently occurs within TCEJ which obscures their interdependencies.

Distribution, procedure, and recognition are useful concepts to elaborate on individually to then piece together a more robust explanation as to what the demands and calls for justice communities and people might be making. However, it is the complex interrelations that provide depth to this picture of justice.

TCEJ literature can often end up implicitly pointing to the links between these dimensions of justice, but the approaches' own conceptual structure does not enable for this to be drawn out further. For example, Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018) discuss a range of impacts of fuel poverty (i.e. living in cold and damp homes and the associated health and education problems) in their section on recognition. They cite Sovacool (2015), who argues that the maldistributions underpinning fuel poverty result in fuel poor households having neither the time nor the means to participate in energy decision-making (i.e. procedures) that might improve their circumstances. There is a clear link here between the distributional impacts of fuel poverty and its connection to recognition, but the way the TCEJ is structured and applied does not allow for this dynamic to be captured and developed when applied to energy dilemmas.

Here it is interesting to note the work of Walker and Day (2012) who also drew on a trivalent conception of justice to analyse fuel poverty, but did so before the banner of energy justice had firmly taken root in academic discourse. Importantly Walker and Day (2012) offer an explanation of how these three dimensions interact to produce an understanding of injustice. They describe their understanding of justice as:

"distributional injustice positioned within a wider framing of lack of recognition and procedural injustice... each form of injustice is interconnected with each of the others. In this way we can see lack of recognition and lack of procedural justice as wrong in themselves, as interconnected and as underpinning the ongoing production of distributional inequalities"

Similarly, Gillard et al. (2017) draws on Walker and Day (2012) to utilise the trivalent space in a similar way, outlining the "interrelatedness" of distribution, recognition and procedure.

More recently Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens (2020) have added significant weight to this interrelated narrative with their study on community acceptance of wind energy in Mexico. Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens (2020) found that although participants more frequently expressed distributive concerns regarding wind energy, these were linked in turn to procedural and then recognition-based concerns. This lead Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens (2020) to propose a nested-structure of the trivalent space in which distribution is embedded in procedure, and procedure embedded in recognition. In this paper I do not propose ordering these dimensions, but the fact that Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens (2020) observe such structure serves to illustrate the intimate connections between these dimensions.

Interestingly, Walker and Day (2012) and Gillard et al. (2017) are both cited in various TCEJ literature but the interconnections of the trivalent space have been scarcely discussed in the core TCEJ literature since its inception in McCauley et al. (2013), who notes "these three pillars of energy justice are interlinked and there are many overlapping issues", without any further explanation. Without acknowledging the interaction of these dimensions of justice, it becomes difficult to fully capture the complex situations which energy dilemmas create. Energy dilemmas do not produce separate distributive, recognition, and procedural issues. Rather, they produce complex sets of circumstances which impact people's lives, certain components of which might be described as one of these three dimensions – but overall are an amalgamation of the three.

So far, this paper has established that the TCEJ's interpretation of the trivalent space limits the approach to categorising different aspects of energy dilemmas, as opposed to explaining how these aspects combine to produce what we might call an injustice. Distributive, recognition-based, and procedural justice do not describe specific values but more general and broad dynamics in which we can understand injustice. On their own, they do not offer a means of exploring how energy dilemmas relate to or impact the things people and communities value. The following sections present the capabilities approach as plausible means of articulating how the trivalent space relates to the valuable aspects of people's and communities' lives. In doing so, the capabilities approach provides a means of detailing the things and person needs to do or be in order to be a recipient of distributive, procedural, and recognition-based justice.<sup>40</sup> It is important to note that this does not let us jump to providing normative guidance and policy advice, but rather provides an pertinent initial step towards better understanding the ways in which energy dilemmas can impact the valuable aspects of a person's life.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> It is worth noting here that TCEJ literature do occasionally cite certain philosophies of justice. For example, McCauley et al. (2016), describe both Rawls' *A theory of* justice and Amartya Sen's capability approach but never actually apply the concepts used in these theories to energy dilemmas. This is similarly the case for McCauley et al. (2012) and Jenkins et al. (2016b).

#### 4.4 Capabilities

The capabilities approach revolves around two main concepts, 'capabilities' and 'functionings'. Nussbaum (2011) summarises capabilities as 'a kind of freedom: the substantive freedom to achieve alternative functioning combinations'. 'Functionings' can be described as states of being or doing (Anderson, 1999). The approach uses these concepts to articulate two normative claims:

- 1. Freedom to achieve well-being is of the highest moral importance.
- 2. Freedom to achieve well-being should be understood as opportunities in terms of capabilities, or 'valued functionings'.

(Nussbaum, 2001, Sen, 1992)

The capabilities approach concerns itself with what a person is able to do and be, instead of focusing on a specific distribution of resources, as many distributive theories do (Sen, 1979). Sen argued that primary goods do not take account of the differences between people, instead he argued, we should focus on what people are able to do and be. Sen illustrates this with the example of people with disabilities being less able to convert a set amount of goods into the same level of capability than that of a person without a disability (Sen, 1979).

Nussbaum's and Sen's conceptions of capabilities differ in many respects.<sup>41</sup> By Sen's account capabilities are to be outlined through deliberative processes which occur within societies, whereby a society outlines the functionings that they agree each person should be able to attain (Sen, 2001). Nussbaum's approach differs, in that she offers a predefined and universal list of capabilities (although she notes this list can be expanded and adapted), of which any state should ensure each citizen attains a minimum level (Nussbaum, 2001). These include the capabilities of life; bodily health & integrity; sense, imagination and thought; emotions; practical reason; affiliation; other species; play; and control over one's environment (Nussbaum, 2001). By Nussbaum's account, any level below this minimum constitutes an injustice. Nussbaum refers to her conception as 'a partial and minimum account of social justice' – it can inform on the minimum threshold levels of capability but does not inform how society should act after these thresholds are attained.

More recent contributions to the capability approach have sought to expand this frontier, developing more expansive capability based theories of justice that inform on how society should respond to or classify maldistributions of capability (Axelsen and Nielsen, 2015, Nielsen et al., 2017), whilst others have expanded the approach to issues of excess, introducing ideas of capability ceilings and limits. For

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Robeyns (2016a) points out that there are multiple conceptions of the capabilities approach that exist beyond that of Sen's and Nussbaum's. However, as we explain, we find Nussbaum's approach a particular useful and clear framework from which to assess energy dilemmas. However, this does not limit us to drawing on various other aspects and accounts of the capabilities.

example, Robeyns (2016b), introduces the idea that there is reason to limit certain capabilities in cases of gross inequality. Holland (2008) introduced a similar idea of ceilings on the certain capabilities which exceed a threshold through practices which limit the capabilities of others. For example, prohibiting the use of private aviation, and therefore capping a person's mobility, because of its excessive contribution to climate change which is a major source of capability deprivation itself.

#### 4.5 Capabilities and energy systems

A key use of the capabilities approach in relation to ideas of energy justice is that it can act as a frame through which to judge the impacts of energy systems on people and communities (Day et al., 2016, Wood and Roelich, 2019, Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens, 2020). In contemporary energy scholarship these impacts tend to be discussed in either terms of consumption or production. However a there has been a push in recent energy scholarship, the TCEJ and broader energy justice discourse, is the need to transcend the conceptual separation of energy production and consumption, and instead move to a view where these are seen as interdependent (Geels, 2010, Winskel, 2018, Jenkins et al., 2014, Sovacool et al., 2015) (Also see Bouzarovski and Simcock (2017), Wood and Roelich (2019), and table 4-1 below). A capabilities-based approach can help conceptualise these linkages.

The capabilities approach has been employed as a means of articulating the diverse array of demands and grievances which arise within the disparate environmental justice movement - many of which result from the production and consumption of energy (Schlosberg, 2012, Schlosberg, 2013) (also see Walker (2012) p.2 for a list of environmental justice issues, many of which relate to energy systems). Holland (2014) use capabilities to articulate the impacts of a range of environmental issues and then to inform on the procedural spaces which can be used to better understand and respond to these issues. Day et al. (2016) conceptualise and define energy poverty in terms of capabilities, revealing a number of insights previously obscured by contemporary definitions. Day et al. (2016) also illustrate that access can be disrupted by changes elsewhere within an energy system, therefore illustrating this linkage between production and consumption. Wood and Roelich (2019) use the metric of capability to expand this work to highlight and articulate the relationships and tensions between capability attained from fossil fuel derived energy and climate change mitigation. Hillerbrand (2018) articulate a range of energy dilemmas in terms of capabilities producing a critique of the seventh sustainable development goal of providing clean and affordable energy for all, arguing that normative visions of energy systems are often over simplified as "right or wrong" and are instead highly dependent on context. Hillerbrand (2018) then posits that capability provides a context sensitive metric through which to normatively assess these systems. In sum a core use of capabilities is that it acts as a frame through which to judge the impacts of energy systems on the things people and communities' value.

Transport provides another example of energy services which support a range of capabilities, most obvious is that of bodily integrity and being able to move freely from place to place (Beyazit, 2011).

This mobility can underpin other capabilities, for example accessing places of education and healthcare, therefore supporting capabilities of bodily health, education and the ability reason (Beyazit, 2011, Wood and Roelich, 2019). However, the combustion of fossil fuels to attain this mobility can be a source of capability deprivation through contributing to on-going climate change and air pollution (Wood and Roelich, 2019). This again illustrates the relationships between the production and consumption of energy.

	Consumption	Production	
Relation to	Access relates to the attainment of capability	The unintended products of	
capability	i.e. how and which energy services contribute	energy systems e.g. localised	
	and enable key capabilities which bring value to	pollution, climate change,	
	our lives.	labour issues, mass-	
		displacement, are sources of	
		capability deprivation.	
Whole system	Consumption and production issues interact to create unique circumstances.		
interconnections	Access to certain types of energy can offer alleviation from existing energy		
	dilemmas. For example, the supply of cleaner burning gas can resolve the health		
	impacts suffered by those who cook indoors using solid fuels (Smith, 2006).		
	Another example might be how access to energy through mobility services can		
	provide safe means to escape slow-violence that can occur in extractive		
	processes of fossil fuels (see Healy et al. (2019)). The identification of such		
	connections can help transcend the conceptual separation between aspects of		
	energy production and consumption that Bouzarovski and Simcock (2017) refer		
	to as the production-consumption binary. Bouzard	ovski and Simcock (2017) for	
	example, note that a change in the way energy is produced or transmitted can		
	create "end-use" problems such as fuel poverty.		

Table 4-1 Examples of energy's relation to capability through individual and overlapping issues of production and consumption

# 4.6 Capability, energy, and trivalent conceptions of justice

Clearly, both issues of consumption and production can be viewed constructively through a capabilitarian lens to link these issues more broadly to their diverse impacts on the quality of people's lives. The approach's ability to contribute to broader energy justice discourse is therefore apparent, as is the approach's affinity for the creation of procedural spaces in which people can better articulate how complex energy systems interact with their lives.
The capability approach evidently already provides an apt space in which to articulate how people and their values can relate to the broader impacts of energy systems. These same characteristics however can capture how ideas of distribution, procedure, and recognition are all intimately tied with the outcomes and quality of people's lives. Importantly the idea of capability can illustrate and capture how and why a trivalent conception of justice is worth maintaining as a core set of concepts in a space for exploring energy dilemmas. Similar to Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens (2020), this paper argues that the capabilities approach offers a more effective means of articulating and understanding the context specific impact of energy dilemmas through providing a means to better articulate the connections between distributive, recognition-based, and procedural justice.

The primary purpose of the capability approach here then is to provide the language and concepts necessary to illustrate how a trivalent conception of justice relates to people's lives. Individual capabilities can capture various aspects of these dimensions whilst attributing them to the overall wellbeing of a person or group. Viewing each aspect of these dimensions as fundamental to a person's or community's set of capabilities, helps to make sense of the trivalent space's ability to capture and understand a person's experience of "injustices". For example, the maldistribution of energy access can curtail a range of capabilities (Day et al., 2016), the deprivation of certain social capabilities can lead to recognition issues such as stigma, such stigma can impede an person's capability to engage in procedures which might help improve their situation (Middlemiss et al., 2019, Sovacool, 2015). Furthermore, integrating the capability space with a trivalent conception of justice illustrates how closely intertwined these dimensions of justice are, revealing how they interact to form a more complete space in which to understand the grievances of those who suffer in relation to energy systems.

Focusing on how people's ability to convert certain situations and resources into valuable functionings, capability acts as a socially, materially, and spatially sensitive concept through which to frame the intersection between energy dilemmas and people's lives. The definitions of distribution, recognition, and procedure in the TCEJ yield very little insight as to what it is people care about or value, or what things they need to achieve these. The upside of this, is that on their own these broad dimensions of justice do not become overly prescriptive (they do a little if combined with the assumption that everyone wants safe, affordable, and sustainable energy<sup>42</sup>), they leave a broad space to fill with a diversity of ideas and conceptions of what "justice" is. However, this is simultaneously a limitation, given that these dimensions and energy discourse in general holds some normative weight it is not clear why we should leave this space entirely empty. In broader energy justice discourse, that is energy justice work that does not necessarily revolve around discrete conceptions of energy justice, there is a strong assertation and normative intuition that the production and consumption of anergy effect people in both positive and negative ways (Bickerstaff et al., 2013, Demski et al., 2019, Fuller and Bulkeley, 2013, Healy et al.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See Hillerbrand (2018) for a critical discussion on the seventh sustainable development goal, which closely mirrors the goal of the TCEJ.

2019, Simcock and Mullen, 2016, Snell et al., 2015, Sovacool et al., 2014, Sovacool et al., 2017, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2015, Sovacool and Dworkin, 2014). The capabilities approach provides a means of explaining and further exploring this intuition.

When connected to well-being and capabilities, distribution, recognition, and procedure all take on richer meanings. Mal-recognition, non-recognition and the concepts of stigma and hardships that accompany these can be viewed as not only impacting the distribution of adequate energy access but also as phenomena which directly degrade a person's well-being – they become intrinsically important. whilst stigma and non-recognition curtail the ability of a person to participate in society, they can also directly curtail a person's self-respect. In turn, this might impede their self-worth and engagement in political procedures or even their engagements with others in social situations – impacting the capabilities of affiliation and control over one's environment.

Procedural justice and participation, through a capabilities lens, also become intrinsic components of a person's own well-being and simultaneously provides an account of the instrumental functionings a person needs in order to participate in a range of forums. Both Sen's and Nussbaum's account of capabilities places a heavy focus on participation and deliberation (Nussbaum, 2011). In more applied arenas, the concept of capability has underpinned and structured a range of participatory processes to enable communities, groups and people to articulate and map their values and interests in relation to certain systems and structures (Biggeri et al., 2006, Greco et al., 2015, Walker, 2018, Velasco Herrejon and Bauwens, 2020). Where contemporary modes of participation are based on antiquated conceptions of people as rational and informed consumers (see Chilvers and Pallett (2018)) capabilities offers a more plausible starting point in which personal and community capabilities can be self-defined and can create a more accurate representation of a person's or community's values. Participatory procedures can then be centred around these conceptions so that both procedures and outcomes are sensitive to the varying level of resources and information that people may require to achieve the same outcomes and understandings. Brand-Correa and Steinberger (2017) illustrate such possibilities using a well-being centric framework as the foundation of a deliberative approach to explore the relationship and potential decoupling of energy use and human needs.

Distribution becomes a far richer concept. The maldistributions of energy systems are no longer viewed as the physical location of energy systems and accompanying problems or the distribution of issues associated with inadequate energy access i.e. fuel and energy poverty. Instead, these maldistributions become tied to webs of interdependent capabilities, providing a framework to understand the impacts energy systems have on people's lives and offering the explanatory power the TCEJ currently lacks. We might expect to see tensions between certain goods-based distributive theories, such as those in Rawls (1971) (and other distributive theories) and the capabilities approach. We therefore might also expect such tensions to arise when integrating the capabilities approach into a trivalent conception of

energy justice, given the TCEJs focus on the distribution of the benefits and burdens of energy systems. However, it would be useful to see the capabilities approach as helping to further understanding the impacts of these distributions as opposed to challenging or trying to displace the distributive dimension of justice. This is an area in which the TCEJ would benefit from further clarification, it is not entirely clear whether does the distributive dimension of the TCEJ speak to broader ideas of distributive justice or primarily the geographic spread of energy dilemmas. Interestingly Jenkins et al. (2020b) also notes this issue but does not seek to clarify either way.

In sum a capability integrated trivalent space can act a viable starting point from which to develop a deeper understanding of the intersection between energy dilemmas and the things we value.

#### 4.7 Conclusions:

The TCEJ has illustrated its use as a structure through which to organise the findings of case studies and the findings of existing academic outputs. To some extent, the TCEJ has shown an ability to prompt researchers on areas and values which are currently lacking or under-represented in broader energy discourses. However, many of the conclusions that can be drawn from the applications of TCEJ explored here are drawn from a synthesis of empirical evidence as opposed to the application of justice theory and framings.

The TCEJ's current level of engagement with justice theory appears to act more as a motivation to investigate certain pre-defined normative issues as opposed to a means of producing normative guidance and change. In this respect the TCEJ's power as an analytical tool and its ability to "lead us to better decision-making in future energy investments"; "achieve a just and equitable balance between the three dimensions of the energy trilemma [policy, economics and environment]"; "be used as a means to guide ethically sound decision making"; to find accord over what is "just, equitable and right" in transition literature; and "conceptualize a world where all individuals, across all areas, have safe, affordable and sustainable energy that is, essentially, socially just" has been shown to be limited by its own interpretation of the trivalent account of justice and lack of concepts through which to understand and articulate the impacts of energy dilemmas.

The TCEJ's interpretation of the trivalent space, combined with limited appeal or exploration of other justice theory limits the approach's ability to capture and inform on the complex dynamics which arise in the intersection between energy dilemmas and people's live.

As an extension of environmental justice theory, a trivalent conception of justice can serve as a useful starting point to describe the demands being made by those who are enduring certain energy dilemmas. In other words, a trivalent space can serve as a useful starting point to develop an account of energy justice – a way of describing the dynamics and themes which arise when certain groups or movements articulate their experiences of energy dilemmas. However, for the TCEJ to derive normative or practical

guidance from ideas of justice requires more substantial engagement with theory. Research on public participation and democratic procedures surrounding energy systems presents plausible avenues to operationalise and apply certain normative approaches in the procedural realm (Pallett et al., 2019, Pallett, 2018, Pallett, 2019, Chilvers et al., 2018, Chilvers and Pallett, 2018). Such research agendas illuminate the problematic aspects of real-life procedures that contribute to their inefficacy. They can point to means of ameliorating these issues through reimaging and then reshaping these processes, as opposed to making broad calls for "more equitable" procedures and "greater engagement".

I have suggested a set changes of approaches and changes that can develop a more effective space in which to understand and explore energy dilemmas: a more detailed interconnected trivalent account of justice articulated using a capabilities based approach to understanding energy dilemmas. In concluding it is important to note how these additions to the justice scholarship arose. The theory Schlosberg (2009 p.45) draws on to outline his account of environmental justice was informed and shaped by reflections on a range of social movements "civil rights, women's, multicultural, gay and lesbian, sustainable development, anti-neoliberal and many more". Listening to and understanding these movements has impacted our current understanding of the term "justice" and has explicate many previously concealed dynamics which perpetuate injustice (Schlosberg, 2009). Observing interactions between energy systems, communities and people's values may also eventually change how we theorise justice as the need for new concepts arises to capture previously obscured dynamics. In other words, there might not yet be an adequate set of conceptual tools that can fully capture the intersection between energy and our values.

#### 4.8 References

- Anderson, E. S. 1999. What Is the Point of Equality? *Ethics*, 109, 287-337.
- Axelsen, D. V. & Nielsen, L. J. J. O. P. P. 2015. Sufficiency as freedom from duress. 23, 406-426.
- Beyazit, E. 2011. Evaluating Social Justice in Transport: Lessons to be Learned from the Capability Approach AU Beyazit. *Transport Reviews*, 31, 117-134.
- Bickerstaff, K., Walker, G. & Bulkeley, H. 2013. *Energy justice in a changing climate: social equity and low-carbon energy*, Zed Books Ltd.
- Biggeri, M., Libanora, R., Mariani, S. & Menchini, L. 2006. Children Conceptualizing their Capabilities: Results of a Survey Conducted during the First Children's World Congress on Child Labour. *Journal of Human Development*, 7, 59-83.
- Bouzarovski, S. & Simcock, N. 2017. Spatializing energy justice. Energy Policy, 107, 640-648.
- Brand-Correa, L. I. & Steinberger, J. K. 2017. A Framework for Decoupling Human Need Satisfaction From Energy Use. *Ecological Economics*, 141, 43-52.
- Bulkeley, H., Edwards, G. a. S. & Fuller, S. 2014. Contesting climate justice in the city: Examining politics and practice in urban climate change experiments. *Global Environmental Change*, 25, 31-40.
- Chilvers, J. & Pallett, H. 2018. Energy democracies and publics in the making: A relational agenda for research and practice. *Frontiers in Communication*, 3, 14.
- Chilvers, J., Pallett, H. & Hargreaves, T. 2018. Ecologies of participation in socio-technical change: The case of energy system transitions. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 42, 199-210.

- Damgaard, C., Mccauley, D. & Long, J. 2017. Assessing the energy justice implications of bioenergy development in Nepal. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, 7, 8.
- Day, R. & Hitchings, R. 2011. 'Only old ladies would do that': age stigma and older people's strategies for dealing with winter cold. *Health & place*, 17, 885-894.
- Day, R., Walker, G. & Simcock, N. 2016. Conceptualising energy use and energy poverty using a capabilities framework. *Energy Policy*, 93, 255-264.
- Demski, C., Thomas, G., Becker, S., Evensen, D. & Pidgeon, N. 2019. Acceptance of energy transitions and policies: Public conceptualisations of energy as a need and basic right in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 33-45.
- Fraser, N. 1995. From redistribution to recognition? Dilemmas of justice in a'post-socialist'age. *New left review*, 68-68.
- Fraser, N. Social justice in the age of identity politics: Redistribution, recognition, and participation. The Tanner Lectures on Human Values. Conferencia dictada en Stanford University, April, 1996.
- Fraser, N. 1997. Justice interruptus: Critical reflections on the" postsocialist" condition, Routledge.
- Fraser, N. 2000. Rethinking recognition. New left review, 3, 107.
- Fraser, N. 2009. Social justice in the age of identity politics. *Geographic thought: A praxis perspective*, 72-91.
- Fuller, S. & Bulkeley, H. 2013. Energy justice and the low-carbon transition: assessing low-carbon community programmes in the UK.
- Fuller, S. & Mccauley, D. 2016. Framing energy justice: perspectives from activism and advocacy. Energy Research & Social Science, 11, 1-8.
- Geels, F. W. 2010. Ontologies, socio-technical transitions (to sustainability), and the multi-level perspective. *Research Policy*, 39, 495-510.
- Gillard, R., Snell, C. & Bevan, M. 2017. Advancing an energy justice perspective of fuel poverty: Household vulnerability and domestic retrofit policy in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 29, 53-61.
- Greco, G., Skordis-Worrall, J., Mkandawire, B. & Mills, A. 2015. What is a good life? Selecting capabilities to assess women's quality of life in rural Malawi. *Social Science & Medicine*, 130, 69-78.
- Healy, N., Stephens, J. C. & Malin, S. A. 2019. Embodied energy injustices: Unveiling and politicizing the transboundary harms of fossil fuel extractivism and fossil fuel supply chains. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 219-234.
- Heffron, R., Mccauley, D. & Sovacool, B. 2015. Resolving society's energy trilemma through the Energy Justice Metric. *Energy Policy*, 87, 168-176.
- Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2014. Achieving sustainable supply chains through energy justice. *Applied Energy*, 123, 435-437.
- Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2017. The concept of energy justice across the disciplines. *Energy Policy*, 105, 658-667.
- Hillerbrand, R. 2018. Why Affordable Clean Energy Is Not Enough. A Capability Perspective on the Sustainable Development Goals. *Sustainability*, 10, 2485.
- Holifield, R., Porter, M. & Walker, G. 2009. Spaces of environmental justice: Frameworks for critical engagement. *Antipode*, 41, 591-612.
- Holland, B. 2008. Justice and the Environment in Nussbaum's "Capabilities Approach" Why Sustainable Ecological Capacity Is a Meta-Capability. *Political research quarterly*, 61, 319-332.
- Holland, B. 2014. *Allocating the earth: A distributional framework for protecting capabilities in environmental law and policy*, OUP Oxford.
- Honneth, A. 1996. The struggle for recognition: The moral grammar of social conflicts, Mit Press.
- Jenkins, K. 2018. Setting energy justice apart from the crowd: lessons from environmental and climate justice. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 39, 117-121.
- Jenkins, K., Heffron, R. J. & Mccauley, D. 2016a. The political economy of energy justice: A nuclear energy perspective. *The Palgrave Handbook of the International Political Economy of Energy*. Springer.

- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D. & Forman, A. 2017a. Energy justice: a policy approach. *Energy Policy*, 105, 631-634.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D., Heffron, R. & Stephan, H. 2014. Energy justice, a whole systems approach. *Queen's Political Review*, 2, 74-87.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D., Heffron, R., Stephan, H. & Rehner, R. 2016b. Energy justice: a conceptual review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 11, 174-182.
- Jenkins, K., Mccauley, D. & Warren, C. R. 2017b. Attributing responsibility for energy justice: A case study of the Hinkley Point Nuclear Complex. *Energy Policy*, 108, 836-843.
- Jenkins, K., Sovacool, B. K. & Mccauley, D. 2018. Humanizing sociotechnical transitions through energy justice: An ethical framework for global transformative change. *Energy Policy*, 117, 66-74.
- Jenkins, K. E. & Martiskainen, M. 2018. A normative approach to transitions in energy demand: an energy justice and fuel poverty case study.
- Jenkins, K. E., Spruit, S., Milchram, C., Höffken, J. & Taebi, B. 2020a. Synthesizing value sensitive design, responsible research and innovation, and energy justice: A conceptual review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 69, 101727.
- Jenkins, K. E., Stephens, J. C., Reames, T. G. & Hernández, D. 2020b. Towards impactful energy justice research: Transforming the power of academic engagement. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 67, 101510.
- Mccauley, D. 2017. Energy justice: Re-balancing the trilemma of security, poverty and climate change, Springer.
- Mccauley, D., Heffron, R., Pavlenko, M., Rehner, R. & Holmes, R. 2016. Energy justice in the Arctic: Implications for energy infrastructural development in the Arctic. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 16, 141-146.
- Mccauley, D. A., Heffron, R. J., Stephan, H. & Jenkins, K. 2013. Advancing energy justice: the triumvirate of tenets. *International Energy Law Review*, 32, 107-110.
- Middlemiss, L., Ambrosio-Albalá, P., Emmel, N., Gillard, R., Gilbertson, J., Hargreaves, T., Mullen, C., Ryan, T., Snell, C. & Tod, A. 2019. Energy poverty and social relations: A capabilities approach. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 55, 227-235.
- Nielsen, L., Axelsen, D. V. J. J. O. H. D. & Capabilities 2017. Capabilitarian sufficiency: Capabilities and social justice. 18, 46-59.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2001. *Women and human development: The capabilities approach*, Cambridge University Press.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2011. Creating capabilities, Harvard University Press.
- Pallett, H. 2018. Understanding Public Dialogue as an Embedded Democratic Innovation in UK Climate Governance.
- Pallett, H. 2019. The new evidence-based policy: public participation between 'hard evidence' and democracy in practice. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice.*
- Pallett, H., Chilvers, J. & Hargreaves, T. 2019. Mapping participation: A systematic analysis of diverse public participation in the UK energy system. *Environment and Planning E: Nature* and Space, 2, 590-616.
- Rawls, J. 1971. A theory of justice, Harvard university press.
- Reed, M. G. & George, C. 2011. Where in the world is environmental justice? *Progress in Human Geography*, 35, 835-842.
- Robeyns, I. 2016a. Capabilitarianism. Journal of Human Development and Capabilities, 17, 397-414.
- Robeyns, I. 2016b. Having too much. NOMOS LVI: Wealth. Yearbook of the American Society for Political and Legal Philosophy, New York University Press, Forthcoming.
- Sareen, S. & Haarstad, H. 2018. Bridging socio-technical and justice aspects of sustainable energy transitions. *Applied Energy*, 228, 624-632.
- Schlosberg, D. 2003. The justice of environmental justice: reconciling equity, recognition, and participation in a political movement. *Moral and political reasoning in environmental practice*, 77, 106.
- Schlosberg, D. 2004. Reconceiving Environmental Justice: Global Movements And Political Theories. *Environmental Politics*, 13, 517-540.

- Schlosberg, D. 2009. *Defining environmental justice: theories, movements, and nature*, Oxford University Press.
- Schlosberg, D. 2012. Climate justice and capabilities: a framework for adaptation policy. *Ethics & International Affairs*, 26, 445-461.
- Schlosberg, D. 2013. Theorising environmental justice: the expanding sphere of a discourse. *Environmental Politics*, 22, 37-55.
- Sen, A. 1979. Equality of what? tanner lecture on human values. tanner lectures. Stanford university.
- Sen, A. 1992. Inequality reexamined, Clarendon Press.
- Sen, A. 2001. Development as freedom, Oxford Paperbacks.
- Simcock, N. & Mullen, C. 2016. Energy demand for everyday mobility and domestic life: Exploring the justice implications. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 18, 1-6.
- Smith, K. R. 2006. Health impacts of household fuelwood use in developing countries. UNASYLVA-FAO-, 57, 41.
- Snell, C., Bevan, M. & Thomson, H. 2015. Justice, fuel poverty and disabled people in England. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 10, 123-132.
- Sovacool, B., Sidortsov, R. & Jones, B. 2014. Deciphering energy justice and injustice. *Energy* Security, Equality and Justice. Routledge, Abingdon and New York.
- Sovacool, B. K. 2015. Fuel poverty, affordability, and energy justice in England: Policy insights from the Warm Front Program. *Energy*, 93, 361-371.
- Sovacool, B. K., Burke, M., Baker, L., Kotikalapudi, C. K. & Wlokas, H. 2017. New frontiers and conceptual frameworks for energy justice. *Energy Policy*, 105, 677-691.
- Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2014. Global energy justice, Cambridge University Press.
- Sovacool, B. K. & Dworkin, M. H. 2015. Energy justice: Conceptual insights and practical applications. *Applied Energy*, 142, 435-444.
- Sovacool, B. K., Heffron, R. J., Mccauley, D. & Goldthau, A. 2016. Energy decisions reframed as justice and ethical concerns. *Nature Energy*, 1, 16024.
- Sovacool, B. K., Ryan, S. E., Stern, P. C., Janda, K., Rochlin, G., Spreng, D., Pasqualetti, M. J., Wilhite, H. & Lutzenhiser, L. 2015. Integrating social science in energy research. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 6, 95-99.
- Sze, J. & London, J. K. 2008. Environmental justice at the crossroads. Sociology Compass, 2, 1331-1354.
- Velasco Herrejon, P. & Bauwens, T. 2020. Energy Justice from the Bottom Up: A Capability Approach to Community Acceptance of Wind Energy in Mexico.
- Walker, G. 2009. Beyond distribution and proximity: exploring the multiple spatialities of environmental justice. *Antipode*, 41, 614-636.
- Walker, G. 2012. Environmental justice: concepts, evidence and politics, Routledge.
- Walker, G. & Day, R. 2012. Fuel poverty as injustice: Integrating distribution, recognition and procedure in the struggle for affordable warmth. *Energy Policy*, 49, 69-75.
- Walker, M. 2018. Political Agency and Capabilities Formation Through Participatory Action Research. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 19, 53-69.

Winskel, M. 2018. The pursuit of interdisciplinary whole systems energy research: Insights from the UK Energy Research Centre. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 37, 74-84.

- Wood, N. & Roelich, K. 2019. Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil fuels. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 52, 114-122.
- Wood, N. & Roelich, K. 2020. Substantiating Energy Justice: Creating a Space to Understand Energy Dilemmas. *Sustainability*, 12, 1917.

Young, I. M. 1990. Justice and the Politics of Difference.

## Chapter 5 Conclusion and discussion:

The overarching aim of this thesis was to assess and then develop the extent to which moral theory informs our understanding of the relationships between energy and the things we value. Two lines of enquiry stemmed from this over-arching aim. One focused on existing approaches to energy justice asking two questions:

- 1. What purpose moral theory is serving within existing approaches to energy justice?
- 2. Are approaches to energy justice able to derive genuinely novel guidance from the moral theory they cite?

The other focused on relating energy dilemmas to a range of moral theory and concepts. This line of enquiry also centred on two questions:

- 3. How can moral theory be drawn on to describe and explore energy dilemmas?
- 4. How can moral theory be drawn on to effectively develop ideas of energy justice?

These lines of enquiry were closely linked with the latter building the former. A crucial component was to assess the extent to which current accounts of energy justice have been successful in integrating moral theory. By this I mean, the extent to which the integration of moral theory has shaped findings, outputs, and ideas of "energy justice" in energy justice scholarship. If this has been too limited, as has been argued in this thesis, the question arises as to what the integration and appeal to moral theory has been used for or achieved. Answering this question helped set the framing for the second line of enquiry.

This chapter begins by drawing out the core themes, findings, and contributions of chapters two, three, and four. The proceeding sections summarise and discuss key issues regarding current approaches to energy justice which arose within those chapters. These are followed by a discussion of the limitations of this thesis and these limitations are drawn on to motivate the final sections which focus on two developments pertinent to the future impact of energy justice discourse: conceptual and procedural.

These conceptual and procedural developments are closely intertwined and are discussed in tandem. These sections explore and discuss the potential avenues for the further development of energy justice and present avenues for developing the foundational account of energy justice set out in this thesis. These sections point towards where moral theory might be applied effectively in the future, with a shift of focus to the procedural realm. This section's discussion is partly motivated by two contributions to energy justice scholarship I have been unable to discuss thus far, Galvin (2019) and Pellegrini et al, (2020). The final section offers conclusions and highlights the importance of justifying and substantiating the goals and methods of energy justice discourse.

#### 5.1 Summary:

This thesis revolved around three core outputs:

# 5.1.1 Chapter 2 Tensions, capabilities, and justice in climate change mitigation of fossil fuels

Chapter two illustrated that the impacts of environmental change and access to energy systems could be framed and articulated using the concept of capability. This chapter corresponded most closely to the second set of research questions in that it explored the potential of certain moral and political concepts in framing and explicating energy dilemmas. Using the example of fossil fuel dependence, climate change, and climate change mitigation, this chapter conceptualised how tension and trade-offs can come to exist between energy (and environmental) dilemmas and measures proposed to ameliorate these.

Incorporating aspects of energy systems traditionally viewed as either production or consumption with the same metric can also be viewed as responding to calls in energy justice discourse to move beyond what Bouzarovski and Simcock (2017) refer to as the "production and consumption binary". Using the same well-being framing to articulate why these issues are of normative import also resonates with a recurring theme throughout this thesis - that many, if not all our actions in energy research have a normative end, and that once we explore what these ends are we may often find they are the same. This logic therefore sets the foundation for another component of this thesis: that a viable and effective way to articulate these ends is through the language of capability and well-being.

The purpose of a capabilities conception of well-being is two-fold. First, and as illustrated in this chapter, the capability approach provides a set of concepts which can be readily expanded to incorporate and articulate the impacts of complex systems and change on the things people and communities hold valuable i.e. it provides a language through which to connect abstract sets of values to "concrete" structures. Second, and closely intertwined with the first, accounts of capabilities set out a normative logic as to why capability should be morally important and by some accounts can act as a metric of justice. This is achieved through drawing on the threshold-based partial theory of justice set out in Nussbaum (2001). This latter point forms an important first step in developing more viable accounts of energy justice – a key aim of this thesis - in that this brings the production-consumption binary into the domain of a partial theory of justice. This chapter illustrates that energy production, the accompanying environmental change, and energy system transformations can all deprive people of threshold levels of key capabilities and why such circumstances can be viewed as unjust.

This chapter served as a partial foundation for both proceeding chapters. With respect to the third chapter, this chapter serves as an example of using moral theory to frame and analyse an energy dilemma with the ends of producing a richer understanding of the dilemmas and relevant normative

guidance. In respect to chapter four, this chapter motivates the integration of capabilities into an account of energy justice.

## 5.1.2 Chapter 3: Substantiating Energy Justice: creating a space to understand energy dilemmas

This chapter initially responded to the first set of research questions by critically reviewing current approaches to energy justice, "the triumvirate approach" and the "principled approach" based on their overarching goals, strategies for achieving these goals, and their philosophical foundations. A key point of comparison between these components was the use of moral philosophy and the normative assumptions embedded in the respective approaches goals and strategies (the next chapter showed that the former was particularly underdeveloped for the TCEJ). In other words this chapter asked *where does the use of moral theory start and end in these approaches*?

Asking this question was not only key to illustrating and critiquing these approaches' use of moral theory but also in highlighting the extent to which their proponents incorporate values prescribed by moral theory into their broader agendas. For both major approaches reviewed, the TCEJ and the principled approach, cut-offs, and issues with the application of justice were found (these are discussed in more detail in the key findings). A key issue facing the TCEJ was the inherent tensions between its own moral grounding, its critique of preceding environmental justice discourse, and the subsequent advocation for top-down approaches to resolving energy dilemmas. A key issue regarding the principled approach was the absence of clear reasoning as to why we should use one set of moral ideas to frame energy dilemmas over another. In the absence of this reasoning the selection of moral theory risks being perceived as selected based on the authors own normative intuitions. However, it was more difficult to be critical of the principled approach given it aims to and successfully produces a discrete output i.e. the normative checklist and in general makes more refined claims than its TCEJ counterpart.

Following this review the chapter turned to the second line of enquiry on the role of moral theory in exploring energy dilemmas and developing ideas of energy justice. The remainder of this chapter set out a framework outlined a pluralistic approach to framing and analysing energy dilemmas in reference to broader sets of social and political concepts which moral theories describe. This framework illustrated the that different moral theories will paint substantially different pictures of the same dilemmas and therefore offer different guidance. The framework also outlined a suitable and viable means of using theory as an analytical tool, and in some cases as part of a space in which to better understand those who endure energy dilemmas, without necessarily specifying a set of moral prescriptions. Importantly this space envisioned the use of certain moral concepts to help those who endure energy dilemmas articulate their own experiences. The application of the framework to the case study of the Hirakud Dam also illustrated that certain moral and political theories may offer more relevant concepts to articulate and relate the valuable aspects of people's and communities' lives to

energy systems. A key motivation behind this chapter, was to illustrate the potential use of moral theory in assessing and responding to energy dilemmas, an implicit point throughout however is that moral theory will not definitively tell us what the "right thing to do" is. This relates to an important but understated aspect of this chapter; that by outlining the potential application of moral theory to energy dilemmas, we are also highlighting the limitations of moral theory; that it can help us understand energy dilemmas but can also ignore or mischaracterise situations, and that it can help inform decision-makers and power-holders with different perspectives but may not necessarily influence them.

# 5.1.3 Chapter 4: Redefining energy justice: integrating capabilities and trivalent justice

This chapter revisits and partially redefines how a trivalent conception of justice, integrated with a capabilities-based approach, can act as a foundation for a viable account of the of energy justice. Based on a critical review of current accounts and two applications of the TCEJ, I emphasise that a redefined trivalent space can be used to broadly reflect the demands being made by those who endure energy dilemmas. However, I argue that on its own, the trivalent space lacks the exploratory and explanatory power to frame and analyse how energy dilemmas interact with the goods people and communities hold to be valuable. This is compounded by the underdeveloped account of the interactions between distributional, recognition-based, and procedural justice at the centre of the TCEJ. In this respect, this chapter responded to both sets of research questions, it critiqued a current approach to energy justice's use of moral and political theory and illustrated how we might use certain moral and political concepts to better develop ideas of energy justice.

This critical review of applications of the TCEJ also highlighted the flawed method of applying such a framework to case studies. Unlike trivalent accounts of environmental justice, which used theory to articulate recurring claims of disparate environmental movements, the TCEJ does not draw on case studies or the demands of certain movements to inform its own structure but rather imposes its structure on these studies. This is not to say the recognition-based, distributional, and procedural issues are not afoot in these case studies, but that by shoe horning aspects of case studies into one of three categories of injustice without further theoretical engagement, risks missing particular and understudied aspects of these issues. On this basis, I argue for the integration of additional concepts to the trivalent account of energy justice, which can help better capture and articulate the unique relationships between energy systems and ideas of justice and therefore better justify the need for energy justice approaches.

Drawing on chapters two and three, I show how the capabilities conception of human well-being is a sensitive metric of justice that can contribute to our understanding of energy dilemmas. Importantly, capability can aid in articulating how matters of procedure, mis, and mal-recognition and maldistributions interact to impact people's lives. I then argue that the integration of the capabilities approach into energy justice thinking offers a means of displacing the antiquated conceptions of people

as "individuals" that underpin many mainstream participatory procedures, through offering a space in which people and communities can articulate their own values and interests in reference to energy systems.

It is important to note that this paper shifted focus from the principled approach entirely. As mentioned in chapter one, the TCEJ draws more focus in this thesis because of it is broader claims of producing normative guidance and improving on existing grounded theories such as environmental and climate justice.

## 5.2 Key findings: shortcomings in energy justice

As has become evident much of the novel content within this thesis was motivated by limitations within current approaches to energy justice. These issues are summarised below:

### 1. The compartmentalisation and use of moral theory

The idea of using moral theory to frame energy dilemmas and guide energy decision making is prevalent in energy justice discourse. However, the application of these theories is often confined to analytical aspects of energy justice scholarship and values from these theories are rarely used reflexively to assess and inform on other theoretical and strategic aspects of these approaches. A common issue in both approaches was that although they draw on moral theory and make moral claims, they are not often presented as arguments, but instead tend to consist of statements without clearly underlined premises to support them. This relates back to the method of scrutinising the soundness of arguments based on the premises which underpin them in chapter one.

#### The TCEJ

The most apparent example of this was the TCEJ's goal of "providing all people in all areas with safe, sustainable and affordable energy", which seems intuitive and hard to dispute but the TCEJ never turns its trivalent frame to focus on justifying this goal.

A key finding from chapter three was that the TCEJ's use of moral theory was seemingly limited to its analytical framing, the TCEJ's "top-down" approach, inclusion of recognition justice and critiques of activist led, bottom-up, environmental movements appeared to sit in tension to one another. Highlighting this tension, illustrates that the use of moral theory within the TCEJ does not expand to its overarching strategies and goals. To frame energy dilemmas as resulting in or from issues of recognition and then to advocate for remedies through structures which may exclude and misrecognise the groups who initially aired the grievance, clearly illustrates where the use of moral theory begins and ends within the TCEJ.

## The Principled Approach

The principled approach is successful in using a range of moral theories to frame different energy dilemmas, but less so in justifying why one theory should be used to frame a certain energy dilemma over another. When considering the question of the termination of moral theory, it becomes apparent that the use of moral theory ends where the proponents of this approach begin selecting different moral framings. In other words, the normative assumptions as to which issues counts as morally problematic and then which moral frame to apply to this issue illustrate the cut-off for the use of moral theory. This is because each moral frame will yield, often drastically, different normative insights and guidance. Without a justification as to why each frame is suitable for analysing a particular dilemma we are left to assume that these framings and their subsequent outcomes aligned with the authors own existing normative assumptions – as opposed to helping inform or change these assumptions. This is admittedly a more ambiguous, less clear cut-off point than the TCEJs, but raises some interesting questions regarding the limitations of drawing on moral theory and the reasons we might give to do so.

#### 2. Scarce opportunity to develop energy justice

The method of application of energy justice frameworks has left little space for reflexivity. This is partly because of the rigid applications of energy justice frameworks, as illustrated by chapter 4, where different cases are categorised as opposed to analysed, this particularly applies to the TCEJ. Jenkins et al. (2020) have recently highlighted the tendency of energy justice scholarship of restating an overarching definition of energy justice without detailing it further. This rigidity has impeded the exploration of what aspects of energy dilemmas make them unique enough normative phenomena to justify the creation of energy justice frameworks. The principled approach, by outlining a refined and more specific output – the "normative check-list", is less susceptible to this limitation.

## **3.** The ability of moral theory to frame and connect issues which transcend the productionconsumption binary

Consistent calls to view energy dilemmas within a whole systems framing have not been met with any clear framework as to how we might understand these issues within the same moral frame, for example, how might we compare and connect the moral weight of issues traditionally framed as either consumption or production. Energy justice approaches are able to conceptualise and embed these issues within the same systems, but they are less able to draw out the ethical connections and tensions between such issues.

#### 4. Overstatement of the abilities of moral theory to create change

Core approaches to energy justice consistently produce claims and suggest that the use of energy justice frameworks, derived from different moral concepts, can create more "equitable", "fair" and "just" energy systems. There is often an implicit assumption that the creation of energy systems that embody these values is a matter of envisioning the right moral or justice framework and making this accessible

to decision-makers. In other words, the assumption that characterising justice and injustice in the "right way" will result in power shifts and actual change. The absence of any substantial discussion on issues surrounding relativity and differences between moral theories compounds these issues and has gone largely underexplored in current energy justice scholarship, as have the spaces in which we might be better understand competing claims to justice.

### 5.3 Key contributions of this thesis

These contributions are framed in reference to the findings above. Each numbered contribution corresponds to the numbered limitation raised above. In this sense, this section connects the first set of research questions, regarding the current state of approaches to energy justice, to the second set regarding the use of moral theory in understanding energy dilemmas and developing ideas of energy justice.

#### 1. Expanding the use of moral theory

Chapter three developed a methodology for the use of moral theory in framing energy dilemmas and showed how different moral concepts can produce novel insights and normative guidance when applied to an energy dilemma. Chapter three set out a broad, pluralistic approach which tests the ability of different moral concepts to capture and explain the problematic aspects of energy dilemmas. The pluralism in this approach stemmed from the idea that consulting multiple theories, each with different conceptions of "the good", can be useful in exploring energy dilemmas, so long as this is done pensively and with an awareness of potential flaws of using moral theory in this way. Firstly, that the selection of a moral frame, is itself a normative choice, and one which requires justification - as illustrated in chapter three of this thesis, different moral theories applied to the same case study will yield substantially different normative framings and guidance. Second, and closely related to the first point, is that a sole moral theory will not always have the language or concepts necessary to articulate and reflect certain types of oppression or grievances.

This pluralistic approach helps to uncover the tendencies of certain theories to conceal or reveal dynamics underpinning or perpetuating an energy dilemma. Further, by incorporating and testing more theories the range of concepts available to explore and better understand energy dilemmas grows. This pluralistic approach was positioned as a means of extending the role of moral theory in existing energy justice approaches to scrutinise or substantiate their broader strategic goals and visions.

#### 2. Developing energy justice

The pluralistic approach discussed above provided one means of developing and refining existing work on energy justice. However, the development of energy justice need not be confined to refining existing energy justice approaches. A key critique of the TCEJ in chapter four was that its rigid application to existing energy dilemmas provided little insight or detail on the dynamics underpinning energy dilemmas. Furthermore, it was argued that the approach did not provide the concepts necessary to better develop the spaces in which we come to understand the impacts of energy dilemmas. Chapter four illustrates how the integration of capabilities with a trivalent account of justice can form the foundations of a viable account of justice. The presence of the capabilities approach does not only serve a descriptive purpose but also a set of concepts which can operationalise core procedural and recognition-based values at the centre of this account.

A key aspect of this account is that its application does not have to pertain directly to the descriptive account. Rather, the account can describe values which require additional concepts and tools to operationalise. A central feature of this, revolves around the procedural realm and developing the participatory spaces in which grievances about energy dilemmas are heard and understood. The capabilities approach was suggested as providing a way to outline the things a person or community need requires to meaningfully engage within a participatory space.

## 3. The ability of moral theory to frame and connect issues which transcend the productionconsumption binary

Chapter two presented a theoretical synthesis of different capability-based concepts which were used to create a space in which to embed issues commonly associated with energy production or consumption within the same conceptual space. This was achieved using the example of the impacts of climate change, well-being dependence on fossil fuel derived energy, and proposals aimed at reducing the use of fossil fuels. The synthesis of ecological meta-capabilities, capability conflicts, and the framework set out in Day et al. (2016) illustrated that the same moral concept could be used to frame and articulate the ethical aspects of substantially different issues associated with energy systems. This framing created a means to illustrate the complexity and tensions between different energy dilemmas within the same system. This enables energy justice scholarship to move beyond characterising these impacts as connected technically through the same system, and instead to view them as morally intertangled in the pursuit or deprivation of the same values.

Chapter three's pluralistic approach provided a means of testing moral theories' abilities to explain and connect these issues. This approach illustrated how certain theories can capture the trade-offs involved in energy developments. In the case study on the Hirakud Dam, the moral framings were applied to both the impacts of the dams construction and the benefits of the electricity it supplied, illustrating that the same theory can be applied to and connect issues of production and consumption.

#### 4. The abilities of moral theory to contribute to change

Chapter four focused exclusively on the TCEJ. This was in part because chapter three found the principled approach more reserved in its claims and goals, producing a discrete output i.e. the normative checklist. Whereas the TCEJ literature was shown to make consistent claims regarding the ability of the approach to produce viable normative guidance and change. Chapter four thus explored whether the moral theory employed in the TCEJ was useful in understanding energy dilemmas. Concluding that the TCEJ's moral underpinnings lacked explanatory power and the findings often did not appear to be derived from the application of moral concepts, chapter four moved to propose a foundation for a redefined and capability-integrated, trivalent account of energy justice.

Chapter four illustrated there are more steps involved in the use and application of moral concepts in creating change. This initial foundation was positioned as primarily descriptive, in that it was intended to describe and capture the frequent dynamics underpinning energy dilemmas, as opposed to be directly applied to energy dilemmas to produce guidance. Instead, the avenues for change stemming from such an account arise through its ability to inform on necessary and sufficient conditions for meaningful engagement in procedural spaces. This is based on the ideas presented by Schlosberg (2009) that distributive and recognition-based issues play out in the procedural realm.

A final contribution in the remainder of this thesis, is *how then can this foundational account and the procedural spaces that stem from it be developed*? In this sense, it responds more broadly to questions regarding the ability of moral theory to inform on and contribute to change.

#### 5.4 Limitations

This section outlines the limitations of the work contained in this thesis so far. Following sections seek to address these limitations by outlining possible avenues for future research.

#### Realistically assessing the role of moral theory in changing energy systems

Much of the work contained in this thesis focuses on improving the use of moral theory but not necessarily on pointing to means of improving how we respond to energy dilemmas. This thesis has repeatedly argued that current approaches to energy justice do not draw on moral theory in a substantive enough manner to generate original or novel ideas for change. The goal and expectation of change could have been stated and decoupled more clearly, especially in chapter two. In other words, the role of moral theory in energy justice jumps to creating "fairer" or more "just" energy systems. The role of moral theory in this thesis is to better characterise and articulate the impacts of energy dilemmas. Of course, in some ways the use of moral theory is to envision something "better" or "fairer", and therefore motivate change, but the scope for change resulting from the use of moral theory is more muted than proponents of current energy justice approaches have argued. It is preferable to have a more reflexive detailed account of the intersection between energy systems and justice than not to have one, so that if the space for change does arise we can better reflect the views and experiences of those who the change

is intended to benefit. But understanding why something might be understood as unjust, even in a highly detailed way, does not on its own yield change.

#### Recognising normativity in broader energy justice and my own research

Throughout this thesis appeals to "justice" in energy justice scholarship have been shown to make substantial claims regarding the ability of justice-centric energy framings to produce more "just" or "fair" energy systems. Chapter one made the distinction between discrete contributions to wider energy justice discourse. However, chapters three and four focused almost exclusively on discrete approaches to energy justice. I want to stress that normative theory can impact our research in how we undertake, share, and present it. Moral theories can help in making the case for certain structural changes to our energy systems, but it will not on its own, no matter how sound and coherent, result in "better" energy research and energy systems. As has been highlighted by Galvin (2020), it takes more than reason to shift and change power structures which underpin and shape our energy systems. This thesis focused primarily on the use of moral theory in what I referred to as "approaches" to energy related situations are most pressing and which of these are most deserving of attention. These assumptions will also impact the ways in which these issues are researched and even the findings of such research. Looking forward I would advocate for extending the normative scrutiny applied in this thesis to broader energy justice discourse.

#### This thesis has only set out proposed foundations for an account of energy justice

This thesis has pointed in a broad direction in which to develop energy justice but has not contributed significantly to issues regarding the differentiation of energy and environmental justice. The need to separate energy justice from environmental justice remains ambiguous, especially given that many, if not all the dilemmas featured in energy justice scholarship feature prominently in environmental justice. The key differences between environmental and energy justice which revolved earlier in this thesis which revolved around the addition of particularised and detailed socio-technical and spatial descriptions of energy systems seems to remain the key differentiator between energy justice and environmental justice scholarship. This thesis sets a broad foundation from which to develop an account but by doing so attempts to shift energy justice to resemble existing trivalent accounts of environmental justice more closely. This might initially be viewed as regressive, however I hope earlier arguments in this thesis have illustrated the relative theoretical strengths of the trivalent space as articulated within environmental justice scholarship.

#### Moral relativity

In chapter two a pluralistic conception of the good is used to help construct a space in which to articulate and connect a range of values to energy dilemmas. However, I have not discussed the constraints of such a space. Many views and conceptions of the good will and do conflict but I do not intend to succumb to moral relativism within this thesis (the idea that morality is relative and depends on subjective standpoints). The use of the capabilities approach helps to lessen this issue through suggesting all people have rights to threshold levels of various capabilities and helps point towards a space in which these conflicts might be better understood. However, there are some conceptions of the "good" or what is "right" which I would not seek to accommodate within this space. I do not detail these here, but we do not have to look far for conceptions of the "good" which conflict with other's abilities to participate in society fairly or seek to disadvantage certain groups.

#### Distributional or distributive justice

This thesis did not address the distributional/distributive confusion apparent in the TCEJ literature and assumed the spatiality of justice formed a single component of contemporary distributive justice. In some energy justice literature distributive or distributional justice seems to refer to broad, contemporary distributions of certain goods in society, in other works it can be taken to describe purely the spatial issues surrounding energy dilemmas, as described by Bouzarovski and Simcock (2017). The TCEJ has never sought to clarify this, and the definition changes frequently (interestingly (Jenkins et al., 2020) recently notes this). This thesis therefore assumed the TCEJ was primarily referring to distributive justice in a contemporary sense.

#### Use of language

The use and description of moral theory in chapter two largely aligned with discussions on the characteristic of distributive theories of justice. The language of constitution in chapter two reads as overly prescriptive and in retrospect I would have framed this more tentatively as a way of producing understanding as opposed to constituting injustices. Although I remain sympathetic to Nussbaum's arguments for this. Chapter two was also developed before I engaged with more specific energy justice literature, and so is not framed as responding to the limitations of any particular energy justice approach.

#### **Connecting cross-limitations**

Many of the limitations above are related and can be responded to by further developing the ideas set out within this thesis. The role of moral theory in informing change and the development of this foundational understanding of energy justice into a more comprehensive account are addressed in the proceeding sections.

The connection and response to these limitations is based on the understanding that to produce outputs which can help respond to energy dilemmas requires an initial account of the dynamics which underpin and perpetuate energy dilemmas. Therefore, these limitations are responded to in the following order. Firstly, a potential route to developing a viable account of energy justice is set out. Following this, the role of an account in understanding and informing the procedural spaces in which we come to better understand and respond to energy dilemmas is discussed.

## 5.5 Energy justice: developing the conceptual and procedural research agendas

This section sets out set out a future research agenda on developing our understanding of the ethical impacts of energy dilemmas. I present additional concepts which complement those already presented in preceding chapters of this thesis, which can help develop a viable account of energy justice. These sections can be read as building on the second set of research questions, on developing the use of moral theory in understanding energy dilemmas and more viable ideas of energy justice.

An important distinction here is between an account and what I have so far referred to as "approaches" to energy justice. By account I mean a descriptive work on the general dynamics which underpin energy dilemmas. When I have used approach, I refer to works which have been designed to be directly applied to an energy dilemma i.e. the TCEJ and the principled approach. Importantly the foundation for an account of energy justice I outline below is not intended to be directly applied to energy dilemmas but rather to detail the underpinning dynamics of energy dilemmas (perhaps more importantly, I should emphasise this is *just* the foundation of an account, not a fully-fledged work).

Unlike approaches to energy justice, this account is not primed for rapid application to energy dilemmas. Instead this account is intended to create a reflexive space in which to understand energy dilemmas. The most useful form this might take is a description of the things people and communities need to do and be to engage meaningfully in procedural spaces and how energy dilemmas interact with these. Through doing so this account can contribute to the formation of effective spaces in which we can better learn about the impacts of energy dilemmas on the things we value.

## 5.5.1 Towards a viable account of energy justice

This section outlines how sufficientarian ideals can contribute to a foundational account of energy justice, through helping to articulate and understand the impacts of excessive and insufficient levels of capabilities in relation to energy systems. A central narrative in chapter four is that the prevailing approach to energy justice, the TCEJ, has not followed the same logic as its comparable predecessor, Schlosberg's trivalent account of environmental justice (Schlosberg, 2009). Instead of creating an account to characterise a set of movements, demands, and dynamics the TCEJ has mischaracterised this trivalent space manifesting instead a set of tenets which are to be applied to energy systems. In a sense the TCEJ has omitted this step of creating an initial account of energy justice. This section outlines potential uses and components of such an account.

As explorations and documentation of energy dilemmas increases so does the scope and potential for the creation of a viable account of energy justice. By "viable" I mean an account of energy justice which serves to effectively reflect under-theorised dynamics which underpin energy related injustice. As outlined in chapter four, a trivalent conception of justice would likely form a functional foundation for this account. This is because there is ample evidence from intersecting environmental justice issues that these themes and dynamics arise in the claims of those who are impacted by energy dilemmas (Walker, 2012, Schlosberg, 2009). Chapter four briefly touches on capability based sufficientarian accounts of justice (Nielsen et al., 2017, Axelsen and Nielsen, 2015). I see these accounts in the future being a key mediator in growing discussions of sufficiency regarding access to energy, especially as these discussions are yet to draw on ideas of sufficiency drawing from moral perspectives (See O'Neill et al., 2018, Darby and Fawcett, 2018, Monyei et al., 2018).

One attempt to develop the viability of existing approaches to energy justice can be found in Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020), who connect the TCEJ and the principled approach by explicating their shared egalitarian roots. Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020) argue that both approaches share grounding in formal and substantive equality – ideas of equal political and material and opportune standing. Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020 p.6) suggest understanding energy justice in this way is beneficial for several reasons:

"...it appears likely that EJ, if it were evident that it is rooted in equality, would be more easily understood, translated into policy, and possibly advocated for, by a considerable number of policymakers, thereby implying that it would be easier to evaluate EJ policies in terms of their outcomes. Further, their acceptance by the public might increase if they were perceived to reflect egalitarian principles."

Key to Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020) argument is the work of Kymlicka (2002) who argues that any theory of justice attempts to define the conditions of a society in which all people are treated as equals.

"On Dworkin's view, every plausible political theory has the same ultimate value, which is equality. They are all 'egalitarian' theories (Dworkin: 1977 179-83; 1983: 24; 1986: 296-301; 1987: 7-8; cf. Nagel 1979: m). That suggestion is clearly false if by 'egalitarian theory' we mean a theory which supports an equal distribution of income. But there is another, more abstract and more fundamental, idea of equality in political theory-namely, the idea of treating people 'as equals'." (Kymlicka, 2002 pp.4-5)

I agree with Pellegrini-Masini et al. (2020) and Kymlicka (2002) and in this sense this argument also applies to the content of this thesis. There is an underlying assumption within this thesis that all people are of equal standing. However, if we are to consider the matter of difference that capabilities seek to address – that different people will require more or less resources to achieve the same outcomes – then this abstract notion of equality is less useful in understanding variances in peoples vulnerability to energy dilemmas. We desire some abstract type of capability but may not desire an equal distribution of resources – or even capability. This is where ideas of thresholds and sufficiency become useful in developing an account of energy justice.

Capability based sufficientarian accounts provide principles to guide the distributions and limits on key capabilities after their threshold levels have been achieved (Axelsen and Nielsen, 2015). These principles differ for abstract and material goods. For example, once the threshold level of political participation has been met, it is desirable from a democratic point of view for that level to be equal to every other persons – this may indicate the need for specific measures to ensure no one person's political capabilities exceed another's. However, it may make less sense to equalise other capabilities - the capability of bodily health for example – there is no reason society should seek to equalise our bodily health to that of Serena Williams as long as we all have the capability to achieve an adequate, threshold level of health to engage meaningfully in society. Axelsen and Nielsen (2015) describes this logic:

"Making people free from duress, then, entails making them free from great obstacles to pursue a successful life. With respect to some capabilities, this will mean giving people a relatively equal level— either because their relative position directly determines their absolute capabilities for success or because they influence these indirectly." pp.425-426

To be clear this is not an argument against the idea that all humans are equal, but rather that abstract notions of formal or substantive equality to do not scale down when discussing the less abstract things we value. Equalising access is not necessarily useful when energy access is the focus of attention. Interestingly, members of public have voiced ideas which parallel ideas of sufficient levels of energy access to support a range of activities and practices to be able to engage meaningfully in society (Demski et al., 2019).

I would also be wary of a focus on equality resulting in a shift of focus to the distributive realm, paying attention to an equal distribution of energy access as opposed to the capabilities energy access enables. I would stress that although equality should be a central value at the core of any account of energy justice, it does not necessarily serve to inform the ways in which we should respond to or understand energy dilemmas.

Axelsen and Nielsen (2015) capture the difficulty in separating egalitarian and sufficientarian ideas in their *sufficiency as freedom from duress*:

"It may seem, then, that freedom from duress is merely an egalitarian wolf in sufficientarian sheep's clothing. This, however, is due to the unjust distribution that defines the world we currently live in, which constitutes the grim frame of reference within which we compare different distributive ideals. Under such circumstances, distributive improvements that conform to egalitarian, prioritarian, and sufficientarian ideals can be difficult to distinguish because of broad agreement (among political philosophers!) about giving priority to relieving the suffering of the severely poor." pp.425-426

Chapter two of this thesis focused on capability-conflicts which can occur when people excessively exercise certain capabilities. Moving forward ideas of sufficiency provide means of legitimising

measures to limit the excess capabilities of some for the sake of others and can contribute to our understanding the need to prioritise access to certain levels of energy services. To move towards a viable account of energy justice, we require concepts which can inform on the things people and communities require to achieve a range of outcomes. To achieve a sufficient set of capabilities that constitute a good life requires a sufficient level of access to energy, and to participate meaningfully in society and procedural spaces requires sufficient levels of certain capabilities. In developing this account of energy justice ideas of sufficiency can help to grasp these circular relationships.

The purpose of developing such an account of energy justice is to produce an over-arching understanding of the dynamics that underpin and perpetuate energy dilemmas. It is important to stress that this account is not intended to be applied to energy dilemmas but instead to learn from and adjust its scope to reflect the ethical issues which arise in relation to them.

Key to developing this account of energy justice is the idea that to contribute to change we must first have a deeper understanding of the unique dynamics which underpin energy dilemmas. It is therefore important to recognise the benefits which can flow a viable account of energy justice. Such an account can inform on the areas which can be practically developed, such as the spaces in which we explore and come to better understand the impacts of energy dilemmas, namely, the procedural realm. The following sections therefore outlines several procedural considerations which could stem from developing this account of energy justice. The motivations for these considerations are framed well by summarising and responding to Galvin (2019).

#### 5.5.2 Developing the procedural realm

Galvin (2019 p.178) critiques existing energy justice approaches' loose use of the term justice, noting that existing approaches to energy justice are yet to explore what it means to make a moral claim and aptly stating "we are left to assume or imagine what is in the authors' minds when they do this". Galvin argues that asking leaders and decision makers to make decisions based on a particular theoretical understanding of justice is unlikely to win their backing.

Galvin makes a distinction between what he terms a *rational meta-physical view* and a *pragmatist view*.<sup>43</sup> Galvin (2019 p.178) describes the rational meta-physical view as treating moral claims as if they were statements of right and wrong which exist "in some reified metaphysical realm" and which "can be discovered and explored by rational thinking", and describes the pragmatist view as treating moral claims as "really nothing more than statements about human affect (feelings, wants, preferences)". He goes on to argue that energy justice requires something in between these two views.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> This initially seems like Sen's ideas of realised-focused comparison and transcendentalism outlined at the beginning of this thesis. On reflection I do not think Galvin's distinction captures the same dynamics of imaging a completely just world verses comparing possible worlds that Sen's does. This is not necessarily a criticism of Galvin's distinction – his distinction aims towards a different end – but it is worth noting to avoid confusion.

Galvin proposes a Wittgensteinian approach to moral claims can serve as this in between. In this Wittgensteinian approach moral beliefs are seen as "formed in communities through people's practices and discourse; individuals develop moral impulses, commitments, beliefs and behaviour as part of growing up, learning how to live in relation to others, and becoming functional human beings whose lives have meaning" p.182.

Galvin argues that although our moral beliefs are initially "thick" and develop based on local experience we can extend our beliefs in a "thin" manner to widespread and global issues as we develop morally. Finally, Galvin argues that we must appeal to decision-makers already developed moral characters to have issues and findings of energy justice discourse taken seriously and acted on.

I broadly agree with Galvin's critique of existing energy justice work but to a lesser extent, his sentiments regarding the use of moral concepts in informing ideas of justice. I do not believe that understanding moral claims in this way, at least on its own, helps us to better understand, convey and respond to energy dilemmas. In responding to Galvin's arguments below, I also point to a number of areas which are useful in outlining required developments in energy justice thinking more broadly.

First, the idea that appealing to leader's "already developed moral character" will result in change. The past decade of austerity, growing poverty – in many forms, and the work to distract from or deny this by recent leaders of the UK, suggests at the very least that leaders of the UK have a substantially different "moral character" to those of us who see these issues as morally wrong or are not "morally developed" at all. Watch any number of prime minister's questions, where a series of the UK's leaders have had testimonies of those living in hunger and fuel poverty read to them and you will see a denial or dismissal of these claims.<sup>44</sup> Appealing to our leaders' moral character does not always seem like a steadfast way to create change.<sup>45</sup>

The second aspect of Galvin's proposal I find problematic is the absence of moral theory in contributing to our understanding and articulation of justice. We cannot prove or disprove the extent to which ideas of freedom, inalienable rights, honour, harmony, or ideas of equality, which permeate different societies around the world, originate from lived experience or from theorising. It seems instead that there is a broad synergy between the two. It is difficult to dispute that axial thinkers such as Plato, Aristotle, Confucius, and Buddha have not in some way shaped modern conceptions of what is good or right, just as it would be difficult to dispute that their own views were informed by their experiences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> For examples see: <u>https://www.parliament.uk/business/news/2019/may/prime-ministers-questions-15-may-2019/</u> and <u>https://www.parliament.uk/business/news/2020/june/prime-ministers-questions-17-june-2020/</u>,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> It is interesting that Galvin suggests this as a means of developing energy justice. Elsewhere Galvin's (2020) work on connecting energy justice to the civil rights movements, suggests the contrary, arguing powerful interests do not give up their privileges through polite conversation and non-disruptive practices.

Of course, it is also difficult to dispute the sentiments that using Rawls' (1971) *A theory of justice* to explain why fuel poverty is morally problematic to the House of Commons would not be particularly appealing or compelling. But the use of moral theory to make such cases is more complex than this. As illustrated in chapter three of this thesis, there is a place for the pensive use of such theories in shaping how we might explore, understand, and then articulate certain moral claims. This is pertinent when these claims relate to complex issues which people and communities might initially have difficulty decoupling or articulating – this is especially the case when attempting to decouple our values from particular types of technology (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017).

The omission of relativity, adaptive preferences, and hermeneutical injustice also pose problems for Galvin's proposition. The argument that moral character is developed through people's practices and discourses does not offer a means to distinguish or critique the relativity of conflicting moral beliefs, nor does it offer a way to help people or groups identify and articulate hardships or forms of oppression in their lives. For example, how are we to argue that a person "who doesn't believe in taking handouts" and believes "people should work for what they get" is not morally developed. This person evidently holds a moral code, developed from experience and this code may well appeal to leaders who are similarly "morally developed", even if this moral character does not lend itself to understanding and responding to certain types of hardship and oppression which underpin or result from energy dilemmas. I am not disputing Galvin's argument but rather the idea that "developed moral character" can be relied on to produce and receive moral testimonies that contribute to redressing issues at the centre of energy justice discourse. In a sense Galvin is in danger of proposing that to be morally mature is to agree with his own moral beliefs.

The idea of adaptive preferences outlined by Sen (2001) is an important consideration when discussing the formation of moral character. Adaptive preferences refer to situations whereby a person comes to prefer certain circumstances which might limit their ability to flourish. We can imagine a situation in which a young woman has internalised the belief that it is right she undertakes domestic work and does not seek education (Nussbaum, 2001)<sup>46</sup>. It is difficult to say she is not morally developed - even with compelling reasons to dispute her own beliefs, doing so can challenge her autonomy and boarder on paternalism (See Khader, 2012)<sup>47</sup>.

Miranda Fricker's work on hermeneutical injustice outlines how certain groups may not have the concepts necessary to effectively articulate certain forms of hardship or oppression they are experiencing (Fricker, 2007, Also see Goetze, 2018). The use of additional moral concepts can help in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> We do not have to imagine this, there are many accounts, see Nussbaum, (2001) and Khader, (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> This issue is more complex than I have space to explore here and admittedly I remain ignorant to many of these complexities.

articulating such grievances and dynamics. This also poses an issue for Galvin's proposal as certain groups may require additional theorising or concepts to meaningfully articulate their experiences.

In sum, I agree that moral beliefs are heavily influenced by and derived from experience, but I am concerned that the development, articulation, and communication of moral beliefs are more complex than Galvin's description makes room for. Even if our moral beliefs develop from experience, they require more than a morally developed character to be meaningfully articulated, heard, and understood - especially in reference to complex systems or previously under theorised experiences.

Responding to Galvin (2019) points to a necessary feature of a viable approach energy justice: people may sometimes need additional concepts or capabilities to articulate and connect their values to an energy dilemma. The following subsections point towards plausible means of outlining and creating spaces which help provide these concepts and capabilities.

#### 5.5.3 Energy justice and procedural spaces

The discussion of Galvin (2019) above regarding the barriers which might prevent a person from articulating their grievances point towards the need for certain types of spaces to facilitate the articulation and connection of people's values to energy dilemmas. Despite a significant focus on procedural aspects of justice, little energy justice scholarship has sought to develop or critique the processes and spaces through which people and communities participate. Instead, as illustrated in chapter four, discussions on procedural justice within energy justice approaches do not generally extend beyond broad and ambiguous calls for "equitable procedures" and "representation". However, in other disciplines critiques and attempts to reimagine contemporary and traditional modes of participation are growing in number (Pallett et al., 2019, Chilvers et al., 2018, Chilvers and Pallett, 2018, Pallett, 2019). These critiques focus on *residual realist* aspects of contemporary modes of participation, such as conceptions of participants as rational and autonomous individuals, participation occurring as discrete "one-off" instances and as underpinned the pre-defined norms and models (Chilvers and Kearnes, 2015). In place of these contemporary aspects these approaches seek to reimagine participation as a relational series of entangled and interrelated involvement in different participatory spaces, which are continuous reflexive and co-productionist (Chilvers and Kearnes, 2015).

The theme throughout this thesis of assessing and identifying where normative assumptions are going un-checked can be aptly extended to the procedural realm. As opposed to talking about specific pieces of technology we value, we instead talk about specific values certain technology might support or disrupt (Demski et al., 2019, Demski et al., 2015). Capability provides ample language and concepts through which to separate our values from technology to enable these relationships to be articulated. This relates back to the exercise outlined in chapter one on Aristotle's ultimate end, whereby we continually inquire about the end to which an activity aims to find the ultimate outcome which renders something useful in our lives. The important aspect of this was to separate the capability from the object

which delivers or impedes it to ensure that the means we rely on do not come to dictate what we ultimately value (Also see Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017 who does this using a similar but distinct theory of human needs). Where such spaces are applicable the appeal of a capability centred participation is three-fold.<sup>48</sup>

First, capability can inform on both the abstract and material goods a person may require to meaningfully engage in a procedural space. As discussed, in chapters two and four a capability conception of well-being can be used to outline and highlight various components of well-being that must be attained for a person to engage meaningfully in political and procedural spaces. For example, capabilities relating to health and education are essential in enabling meaningful participation in society. In this way the integration of the capability into an account of energy justice lends itself to disputing the conceptions of people at the centre of many modes of participation, creating a space in which a more complex and nuanced understanding of a person can emerge. Work on relational aspects of the capability approach also contribute to understanding the necessary requirements to engage meaningfully in procedural spaces and align well with the emerging relational understandings of participation (See Smith and Seward, 2009). Connections between relational capabilities and access to energy services have already illustrated the approaches' capacity to capture such dynamics (See Middlemiss et al., 2019) and can be drawn on to point towards a more nuanced understanding of the relationships between well-being, energy access, and participation, where each is seen as integral to the other.

Second, the concept of capability can be used to help structure and articulate a person or group's valued capability set, as to enable them to articulate their core values, decoupled from the structures or topic on which a participatory space focuses. At certain times, a pre-defined list of capabilities can serve as useful starting point through which to structure discussions, however that does not imply that this list cannot be sensitive to or shaped by the people and communities drawing on it (Nussbaum, 2001, also see Sen, 2005). Work using similar (although distinct) eudaimonic conceptions of well-being have been used to develop such spaces (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017, Brand-Correa et al., 2018).

Third, the idea of capability can create accessible means of understanding how these spaces contribute to a person's own well-being or capability set – in other words the concept can be used to articulate the benefits and impacts participation can have on the things a person values doing or being. These benefits might be instrumental in that the act of participation results in positive changes to the topic of the procedure, or they may be intrinsic in that they contribute to a person's own well-being directly. For example, the very act of meaningfully participating in a procedure be the exercise of a key social or participatory capability which forms an intrinsic part of a person's own well-being. Although a key

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> I use the term spaces of participation, to escape using terminology that suggests that participation is confined to separate instances. Instead spaces can expand in size and temporality.

critique of contemporary forms of participation is the assumption of publics formed of autonomous individuals (Chilvers and Kearnes, 2015), this does not have mean autonomy itself is not valuable. It is still necessary to recognise and respect the autonomy of people who engage in procedural spaces regardless of disputes of its extent. Explicitness regarding the normativity embedded in procedural spaces can enhance a person's autonomy by avoiding structures which may dictate the values and structures used to articulate a person's views. By acknowledging these normative assumptions and allowing people to challenge or interrogate them, procedural spaces can produce more meaningful understandings of the things a person values before then enabling them to apply these values to the subject or issue on which the procedure is centred. Autonomy in this sense may be less problematic if it us understood as a person wielding "sovereignty" over certain spaces, in understanding that procedural spaces may affect how they express and connect their values to different issues<sup>49</sup>.

This latter point speaks directly to the recurring theme within this thesis of identifying and scrutinising unchecked normativity. A broader application of moral theory and concepts to existing modes of participation can help examine where normative assumptions are embedded in existing procedural spaces and how these assumptions might be justified or rejected. A key question moving forward will be whether proposals to displace existing conceptions of participation are normatively explicit about the assumptions embedded within them. Future intersections between broader energy justice discourse and recent reimagining's of participation presents fertile opportunities to explore what "procedural justice" might mean with regards to energy dilemmas.

## 5.6 Concluding thoughts: the future of energy justice discourse

This thesis has found significant scope to develop ideas of energy justice. Existing approaches of energy justice were shown to fall short in several ways. One major shortcoming was an inability to connect energy systems to things we value as to explicate the relevance of energy dilemmas in our lives. This thesis explored the viable uses of moral and political philosophy to help understand and make these connections. In turn this helped to illustrate how energy justice approaches often deviated from these uses of moral and political philosophy when attempting to understand energy dilemmas in a normative way.

The use of moral and political theory, primarily the capabilities space, has been drawn on to illustrate how we can connect and articulate the impacts of substantially different energy dilemmas within the same moral framings. I presented a framework through which to explore the abilities of different moral and political concepts to capture and reveal the dynamics underpinning energy dilemmas. Further, I have proposed that trivalent conceptions of justice, which pre-date energy justice, can be used as a foundation for a descriptive account of energy justice, so long as the interdependencies between their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Thanks to Michael Cannon for fruitful discussions on this topic.

constituent components (distribution, recognition, procedure) are articulated in a meaningful way. I have argued that a capabilities centric approach can help explicate these connections and will play a key role in differentiating energy justice from other grounded theories, through a specific focus on energy access.

In concluding I have pointed to means of developing and understanding of the intersection of energy dilemmas and the things we value through shifting focus to ideas of sufficiency. I have suggested that the impact of such account is to be found in the procedural realm in helping people and groups achieve the capabilities required to articulate and connect the things they value to energy dilemmas in a meaningful way. The future agenda I have proposed does not necessarily lead to a framework which can be rapidly applied to produce abundant academic outputs but rather proposes a slower and lower impact avenue through which to more meaningfully understand the connections between energy systems and the things we value.

#### 5.7 References

Axelsen, D. V. & Nielsen, L. J. J. O. P. P. 2015. Sufficiency as freedom from duress. 23, 406-426. Bouzarovski, S. & Simcock, N. 2017. Spatializing energy justice. *Energy Policy*, 107, 640-648. Brand-Correa, L. I., Martin-Ortega, J. & Steinberger, J. K. 2018. Human scale energy services:

- Untangling a 'golden thread'. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 38, 178-187.
- Brand-Correa, L. I. & Steinberger, J. K. 2017. A Framework for Decoupling Human Need Satisfaction From Energy Use. *Ecological Economics*, 141, 43-52.
- Chilvers, J. & Kearnes, M. 2015. *Remaking participation: Science, environment and emergent publics*, Routledge.
- Chilvers, J. & Pallett, H. 2018. Energy democracies and publics in the making: A relational agenda for research and practice. *Frontiers in Communication*, 3, 14.
- Chilvers, J., Pallett, H. & Hargreaves, T. 2018. Ecologies of participation in socio-technical change: The case of energy system transitions. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 42, 199-210.
- Darby, S. & Fawcett, T. 2018. Energy sufficiency: an introduction. *Energy Sufficiency: Concept Paper*. <u>https://www</u>. energysufficiency. org/libraryresources/library/items/energy-sufficiency-an-introduction.
- Day, R., Walker, G. & Simcock, N. 2016. Conceptualising energy use and energy poverty using a capabilities framework. *Energy Policy*, 93, 255-264.
- Demski, C., Butler, C., Parkhill, K. A., Spence, A. & Pidgeon, N. F. 2015. Public values for energy system change. *Global Environmental Change*, 34, 59-69.
- Demski, C., Thomas, G., Becker, S., Evensen, D. & Pidgeon, N. 2019. Acceptance of energy transitions and policies: Public conceptualisations of energy as a need and basic right in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 48, 33-45.
- Fricker, M. 2007. Epistemic injustice: Power and the ethics of knowing, Oxford University Press.
- Galvin, R. 2019. What does it mean to make a moral claim? A Wittgensteinian approach to energy justice. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 54, 176-184.
- Galvin, R. 2020. "Let justice roll down like waters": Reconnecting energy justice to its roots in the civil rights movement. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 62, 101385.
- Goetze, T. S. 2018. Hermeneutical dissent and the species of hermeneutical injustice. *Hypatia*, 33, 73-90.
- Jenkins, K. E., Stephens, J. C., Reames, T. G. & Hernández, D. 2020. Towards impactful energy justice research: Transforming the power of academic engagement. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 67, 101510.
- Khader, S. J. 2012. Must Theorising about Adaptive Preferences Deny Women's Agency? *Journal of Applied Philosophy*, 29, 302-317.

- Kymlicka, W. 2002. *Contemporary political philosophy : an introduction,* Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Middlemiss, L., Ambrosio-Albalá, P., Emmel, N., Gillard, R., Gilbertson, J., Hargreaves, T., Mullen, C., Ryan, T., Snell, C. & Tod, A. 2019. Energy poverty and social relations: A capabilities approach. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 55, 227-235.
- Monyei, C. G., Jenkins, K., Serestina, V. & Adewumi, A. O. 2018. Examining energy sufficiency and energy mobility in the global south through the energy justice framework. *Energy Policy*, 119, 68-76.
- Nielsen, L., Axelsen, D. V. J. J. O. H. D. & Capabilities 2017. Capabilitarian sufficiency: Capabilities and social justice. 18, 46-59.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2001. *Women and human development: The capabilities approach*, Cambridge University Press.
- O'neill, D. W., Fanning, A. L., Lamb, W. F. & Steinberger, J. K. 2018. A good life for all within planetary boundaries. *Nature Sustainability*, 1, 88-95.
- Pallett, H. 2019. The new evidence-based policy: public participation between 'hard evidence'and democracy in practice. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice.*
- Pallett, H., Chilvers, J. & Hargreaves, T. 2019. Mapping participation: A systematic analysis of diverse public participation in the UK energy system. *Environment and Planning E: Nature* and Space, 2, 590-616.
- Pellegrini-Masini, G., Pirni, A. & Maran, S. 2020. Energy justice revisited: A critical review on the philosophical and political origins of equality. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 59, 101310.
- Rawls, J. 1971. A theory of justice, Harvard university press.
- Schlosberg, D. 2009. *Defining environmental justice: theories, movements, and nature*, Oxford University Press.
- Sen, A. 2001. Development as freedom, Oxford Paperbacks.
- Sen, A. 2005. Human rights and capabilities. Journal of human development, 6, 151-166.
- Smith, M. L. & Seward, C. 2009. The relational ontology of Amartya Sen's capability approach: incorporating social and individual causes. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities*, 10, 213-235.
- Walker, G. 2012. Environmental justice: concepts, evidence and politics, Routledge.

## Appendix

Below are short summaries of McCauley et al. (2016) and Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018), I recommend visiting the papers in full however.

Table 6-1	Summary	of McCauley	et al. (2016)
-----------	---------	-------------	---------------

Summary of McCauley et al. (2016)		
Justice	Categorised issues	
dimension		
Distributional	This section begins with a brief description of the spatiality of energy justice and suggests that	
pp.143-144	work on maldistributions is framed based on proximity to energy infrastructure. This is	
	followed by a summary of on-shore wind developments impact on indigenous Sami people's	
	and local reindeer populations, the growing risks associated with the expansion of oil and gas	
	extraction and subsequent risk of oil spills associated with increased shipping routes through	
	the Arctic impacting local livelihoods which depend on fishing and reindeer husbandry.	
Recognition	Sami people's livelihoods depend on fishing and reindeer herding. A point about the "under-	
pp.144	recognised importance of non-indigenous people" p.144 is raised by an interviewee and that	
	both these communities are dependent on local ecosystems and therefore vulnerable to energy	
	developments. The disparity between the energy rich area and energy provision for inhabitants	
	and resulting health and living standards are noted. It is suggested that these disparities result	
	from insufficient participation in wealth generating activities. The impacts of tourism on local	
	populations and the need for their involvement to direct tourist flows. This is suggested to	
	produce income by offering "authentic" experiences, whilst preserving local ecosystem. A	
	discussion follows regarding the roll of extractive industries delivering "freedom from want"	
	and a point that regional differences across Arctic communities should be respected and taken	
	consideration in decision and making. This section concludes stating "beyond indigenous	
	peoples, academic scholars are equally identified as under- or mis-recognised. A call for	
	recognition is also clear for greater engagement of northern scholars in the identification of	
	research priorities in Arctic areas." This followed by a call to present research in accessible	
	ways and focus on the co-production and co-communication of research between researchers	
	and stakeholders.	
Procedure	Section begins describing procedural justice as a "call for equitable procedures that engage all	
pp.144-145	stakeholders in a non-discriminatory way" p.144. Then Argues more attention should be paid	
	to knowledge creation in "procedural based decisions" in part because "Indigenous and non-	
	indigenous peoples are central, for example, to monitoring the increase in tourism in the high	
	north, but equally the intentions of business to develop there. Cultural pluralism is a place for	
	creative industry" p.144. A need for earlier engagement in the sitting of infrastructure projects	
	and some more positive examples of this are summarised. It is suggested that "procedural	
	justice is therefore more than simply inclusion. It involves also the mobilization of local	
	knowledge" p.145.	

Discussion and Conclusions pp.145-146

- Justice on a procedural level "must be an imperative to not just respect, or include but rather *mobilize* local communities within the decision making for governmental and business processes" p.145
- "... the influence of local communities on corporations and lower level institutions within the exploitation processes of oil and gas, transport and processing are questionable. This self-reflection and acceptance to adapt must be reciprocated by energy companies, which would allow for economic growth in the region while minimizing the risk of local habitat and ecosystem disruption." p.145
- Argument that it is important to hold energy companies to account. p.145
- Must ensure all stakeholders are involved in future decision making. "Indeed, stakeholder engagement is primarily designed to ensure the inclusiveness of the decision-making process by empowering all the stakeholders to participate in it and have their claims taken into account" p.145
- "However, stakeholder engagement and social accounting currently fail to achieve the goals they were established for. Hence a new approach to ensuring sustainability of Arctic resource extraction is needed."
- "We propose a justice-rather than simply a stakeholder centred perspective" p.145
- "energy justice scholars must continue to make the case for a fair re-distribution of burdens and benefits, and not just make the case for due process in decision-making. The Finnmark controversy in the first results section underlines the extent to which indigenous peoples are subject to distributional injustices—from a due process perspective of course, but also a proximity one as an energy infrastructure that benefits all, and burdens only some." p.145

Summary of Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018)		
Justice	Categorised issues	
dimension		
Distributional	Section begins arguing that current and historic definitions do not capture the complexities of	
pp.38-40	fuel poverty and cites Bouzarovski and Petrova (2015) definition of "attain[ing] a socially and	
	materially necessitated level of domestic energy services" p.38. Subsequently argues that what	
	is being discussed is "what energy resources we do or do not have access to" that	
	"distributional justice can reveal and help us understand" this. Claims distributional justice is	
	concerned with the distribution of goods and services across society. Suggests that fuel poverty	
	is a clear example of maldistribution. Notes that experience of fuel poverty differ by	
	household/people/communities. Offers an early sub-conclusion we should therefore	
	"anticipate and mitigate the potential impacts of our choices with a view to reducing unequal	
	burdens across a wide range of contexts, including attention to the potential externalisation of	
	UK energy policy 'ills" (Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018) p.39. Concludes access cannot	
	always be evenly distributed.	
Recognition	States "Justice as recognition is taken to be a means of engaging with the questions of 'who'	
pp.40-42	is energy justice for, and, importantly, who is responsible for its provision" p.40 (Jenkins and	

#### Table 6-2 Summary of Jenkins and Martiskainen (2018)

	Martiskainen, 2018). Initially discusses living in cold homes, only being able to heat certain				
	rooms, which limits use of home. Being able to cool a home will also be a concern; For those				
	living in fuel poverty their home can become a place of discomfort, ill health, mortalities				
	associated with cold homes. Notes NHS spending of £1.36 billion/year and mental health				
	issues, respiratory problems, circulatory illnesses such as heart disease associated with fuel				
	poverty. Notes the impact on children's education, making homework hard to complete. Cites				
	Sovacool (2015) on fuel poverty and how people become visible by experiencing the impacts				
	of fuel poverty above. Quotes Walker and Day (2012) regarding fuel poverty being seen as a				
	lack of recognition of the needs of certain groups - "a lack of equal respect accorded to their				
	well-being". Notes that fuel poverty is both visible and invisible and one of the largest				
	challenges is establishing who is being affected. Sub-concludes "identifying those who face				
	fuel poverty is key towards recognising the problem and addressing it, it is not always easy to				
	identify those who are suffering" (Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018) p.41. Stigma attached to				
	being fuel-poor, "households avoid seeking help for fear of being seen not being able to cope				
	with certain aspects of life" (Jenkins and Martiskainen, 2018). Suggests people may not realise				
	they are living in fuel poverty and cites several national energy agencies which identify fuel				
	poverty can become an issue for any group. Notes that children and the elderly and people				
	with disabilities or long-term health conditions can be particularly vulnerable. Cites Sovacool				
	(2015), households have neither the time nor the means to participate in energy decision-				
	making that might ameliorate issues. Suggests need to recognise links between policy for				
	reducing fuel poverty and reducing energy demand and to develop more nuanced recognition				
	of energy needs linked to vulnerability of particular groups (Gillard et al., 2017). Makes point				
	about need for reflexivity regarding who is being impacted by policy and who is responsible				
	for these outcomes.				
Procedure	Describes procedural as a call for "equitable procedures that engage all stakeholders in a non-				
pp.42-43	discriminatory way" p.42. Outlines requirements of just procedures based on Walker and Day				
	(2012); Access to information, what type and who it is provided by; Access to and meaningful				
	participation in decision making; Minimal bias from decision makers; Access to legal				
	processes to achieve redress. How and who community renewable projects are developed for				
	"Fuel poverty is not an easy problem to solve. As fuel poverty has causes and implications that				
	go beyond energy, addressing it will also require considering issues beyond energy policy				
	*e.g. housing, social and health policy). Notes households and fuel poverty are still invisible				
	in the realm of decision making. Restates point that households in fuel poverty are likely				
	unable to engage in processes which might redress their situation. Discusses charitable				
	organisations which provide local advice, often "stop-start" and limited in scope and funding.				
	Lack of government effort to resolve these issues indicate people living in fuel poverty are still				
	relatively invisible "yet accepted, losers in the UK's energy system". P.43				
Findings and C	Findings and Conclusions pp.43-55				

- Argues that "it is within the overarching process of sociotechnical change that issues of energy justice emerge, where inattention to social justice issues can cause injustice, or via their inclusion can provide means to solve them" p.43
- Argues for "greater engagement with the energy justice approach in both academia and in practice, where it can be used as a means to guide ethically sound decision making.
- Government and business must identify vulnerable and then "ascertain and make provision for vulnerable customers through targeted subsidies, exemptions and efficiency measures". p.44
- "justice principles can provide guidelines for policy interventions by ensuring that energy efficiency schemes reach households in a way that meets their specific needs (Gillard et al., 2017)" p.44
- Need policies to upgrade existing social housing stock combined with "consumer engagement programmes to enable participatory justice throughout this process." p.44
- Notes that "in terms of achieving procedural justice, funded energy cafes can act as a triage services, bringing together local authorities, health workers, community organisations and individuals in trusted settings." And that "similar ventures require grant funding in order to provide a continued services, train fuel poverty advisors and transfer learning to others." p.44
- Argues there is a need to be aware of the impact of energy pricing and subsidies on low income, vulnerable consumers.
- Final remark that "through these measures and others in the domain of energy demand, we have the potential to both acknowledge and embed normativity in energy demand reduction effort". P.45
- Bouzarovski, S. & Petrova, S. 2015. A global perspective on domestic energy deprivation: Overcoming the energy poverty–fuel poverty binary. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 10, 31-40.
- Gillard, R., Snell, C. & Bevan, M. 2017. Advancing an energy justice perspective of fuel poverty: Household vulnerability and domestic retrofit policy in the United Kingdom. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 29, 53-61.
- Jenkins, K. E. & Martiskainen, M. 2018. A normative approach to transitions in energy demand: an energy justice and fuel poverty case study.
- Mccauley, D., Heffron, R., Pavlenko, M., Rehner, R. & Holmes, R. 2016. Energy justice in the Arctic: Implications for energy infrastructural development in the Arctic. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 16, 141-146.
- Sovacool, B. K. 2015. Fuel poverty, affordability, and energy justice in England: Policy insights from the Warm Front Program. *Energy*, 93, 361-371.
- Walker, G. & Day, R. 2012. Fuel poverty as injustice: Integrating distribution, recognition and procedure in the struggle for affordable warmth. *Energy Policy*, 49, 69-75.